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DIRECTOR’S COMMENTS

In accordance with Financial Regulation 14.9 of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), | have the honor to present the
Financial Report of the Pan American Health Organization for the financial reporting period 1 January 2020 through 31 Decem-
ber 2020.

The Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with International Public
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and PAHQO’s Financial Regulations and Financial Rules.

Although PAHO has adopted an annual financial reporting period as stipulated in Financial Regulation 2.2, the budgetary period
remains a biennium (Financial Regulation 2.1). Therefore, for the purposes of actual vs. budget comparisons in the Director’s
Comments, the annual budget figures represent one half of the 2020-2021 Biennial Program Budget as an approximation of
annual budgetary figures.

1. Main technical achievements from 2020

During 2020, PAHO remained an authoritative voice for health in the Region, providing political, strategic, and technical guid-
ance on responding to the COVID-19 pandemic at the highest levels of government, non-state actors, and the UN and Inter-
American Systems. In line with its principles of solidarity and equity, PAHO called for unity in addressing the impact of the
pandemic and providing equitable access to COVID-19 response tools, while simultaneously advocating for continuity of essential
health services to save lives and mitigate the devastating effects of the pandemic on hard-earned regional public health gains.
The pandemic has called attention to the need for accelerated , quality data-driven efforts to reorganize and expand health
service delivery to respond to the needs of COVID-19 cases, including critical care, while maintaining essential health services
such the diagnosis and treatment of cancer, mental health, and other noncommunicable diseases, and immunizations. Through
its technical cooperation, PAHO continues to be a catalyst to improve the health and well-being of the peoples of the Americas,
in collaboration with Member States and partners.

Important progress was made during 2020 toward the targets set in the PAHO Strategic Plan 2020-25 and the commitments in
the Sustainable Health Agenda for the Americas 2018-2030 and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (SDGs). Some of
the highlights include:

e  With the support of PAHO, there has been a significant increase of hospital and critical care capacity during the re-
sponse to COVID-19 in most countries. A study on four countries found that there was an average of 156% increase in
intensive care unit (ICU) beds between March 2020 and January 2021. Even though many countries reached a breaking
point in hospital occupancy rate (at or beyond 80% occupancy rate threshold) due to the surge demand for COVID-19
patients, without these accelerated efforts, many more deaths would have occurred. The use of innovative approaches
such as telemedicine strengthened the first level of care, and there was improved coordination and integration of
health service delivery.
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PAHO provided support and advice to Member States in preparation for COVID-19 vaccines through the COVAX Facility
with the Gavi Alliance and UNICEF. PAHO also supported vaccine negotiations in order to maintain supply at previously
negotiated or improved prices through at least 2021 given the severe economic impact of the pandemic, including for
pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV), human papillomavirus vaccine (HPV), and rotavirus vaccine.

PAHO enabled increased access to essential health supplies for COVID-19 through advocacy, coordination, and negoti-
ation within key global mechanisms, such as the COVID-19 global supply consortium and the three ACT A pillars (vac-
cines, diagnostics, and therapeutics). PAHO maintained formal representations in the consortium and in each pillar.
Member States invested significant resources in improving access to medicines and medical devices (including diagnos-
tics) to prevent, treat, and diagnose COVID-19. PAHO provided critical guidance through the list of essential medical
devices and the list of essential medicines for critical care of COVID-19.

With technical guidance from PAHO, 23 countries increased surge capacities through the deployment of 171 national
Emergency Medical Teams (EMT) and the selection and set up of 198 alternative medical care sites (AMCS) for COVID-
19. Thirty-two countries developed COVID-19 preparedness and response plans; 35 countries and territories improved
their capacity for COVID-19 molecular diagnosis; and infection prevention and control (IPC) capacity was strengthened
in all countries, with 33 countries and territories reporting having a national IPC program and water and sanitation
(WASH) standards in health care facilities. Twenty-one countries have integrated COVID-19 into their routine severe
acute respiratory illness/influenza-like illness (SARI/ILI) surveillance systems.

Countries advanced in the implementation of the Plan of Action for Human Resources for Health (CD56/10, Rev. 1),
helping to meet the significant need for larger and more qualified health workforce and to remedy inequities in the
health workforce distribution, which were severely aggravated by the COVID-19 pandemic. During 2020, workforce
planning surge capacity tools for COVID-19 were developed. The analysis of the health workforce in the context of
COVID-19 in 12 Caribbean countries and case studies in Belize, Grenada, and Jamaica highlighted needs for the re-
sponse. The PAHO Virtual Campus for Public Health has become a vital platform for ongoing capacity building and
information-sharing for health professionals.

A renewed partnership with the UN Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) facilitated
analysis and advocacy for policies to control and mitigate the effects of the pandemic, reopening safely, and rebuilding
in a sustainable and inclusive way. A key product from this partnership was the joint report published in July 2020 by
ECLAC and PAHO which documented why the economies of the Region will only be restarted if the curve of contagion
of the COVID-19 pandemic is flattened.

In 2020, the PAHO Strategic Fund helped Member States procure $186 million in medicines, supplies, and diagnostic
tests across 23 therapeutic areas and services, supporting the treatment and diagnosis of over 18.8 million people (ap-
proximately an 83% increase over 2019). The pandemic has served as an opportunity to call attention to and improve
essential public health functions, particularly those related to preparedness and the response to emergencies and in-
vesting in resilient health systems. In light of the ethical challenges for the public health response, PAHO provided
technical cooperation for the integration of ethics in the pandemic response, including for surveillance, priority setting
for scarce resources for critical care, and the use of unproven interventions for COVID-19 outside of research.

In addition to the COVID-19 pandemic response, technical cooperation from PAHO supported 13 countries and territo-
ries in delivering life-saving operations during the course of concurrent ungraded health emergencies. All 139 events
that were reported by 49 countries and territories during 2020 had a risk assessment completed within 72 hours of
detection. The Region demonstrated substantial capacity to detect and report COVID-19 cases, with an average of 0.6
days between the time when the first COVID-19 case was detected to when it was reported to the Event Management
System (range was from 0-2 days).
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PAHO continued to support countries in the implementation of the Smart Hospitals initiative, despite the restrictions
and limitations caused by COVID-19. Twenty safer and greener healthcare facilities are now providing health care across
seven countries in the Caribbean, with the finalization of retrofitting at Portsmouth Hospital in Dominica and Richfond
Health Centre in Saint Lucia. During 2020, Saint Lucia became the first of the seven countries to completed planned
retrofitting of all 15 facilities within the project.

There was continued progress in the implementation of the Communicable Disease Elimination Initiative. PAHO con-
ducted a mission to certify the elimination of malaria in El Salvador, another milestone that is expected to have a cata-
lytic effect for progress in neighboring countries. Two years have passed without malaria transmission in Belize, placing
the country as a candidate for certification as malaria-free in 2022. All 19 malaria endemic countries continued imple-
menting actions to ensure early diagnosis and treatment of malaria cases. Advances were made in the 2020-2021 Mass
Drug Administration campaign to eliminate filariasis in Guyana. Colombia was able to advance in the control of the
Chagas vector in 23 municipalities. Despite explosive dengue epidemics in several countries, the regional case fatality
rate target of less than 0.05% was maintained.

PAHO also contributed to the maintenance of HIV prevention and control services in Haiti, where the number of PrEP
sites for HIV prevention rose from 7 to 31, and where a national HIV drug resistance surveillance system with the sup-
port of the WHO Collaborating Center of Martinique was launched. Dominica is soon expected to be validated as having
eliminated maternal and child transmission (MTCT) of HIV and congenital syphilis.

The number of reported confirmed measles cases in the Region fell, from 21,674 cases in 14 countries in 2019 to 8,720
cases in 9 countries in 2020. This was achieved by working with national authorities providing technical cooperation to
increase immunization in these countries.

In line with the PAHO Plan of Action on Antimicrobial Resistance (CD54/12, Rev. 1), four countries finalized implemen-
tation of their first 5-year National Action Plans for antimicrobial resistance and are moving forward with support from
PAHO to implement a second 5-year plan, including a more comprehensive One Health approach that incorporates the
environment, in addition to agriculture and animal health.

PAHO generated new data, knowledge, and guidance on NCDs and mental health and COVID-19, including the model-
ing of the proportion of people with underlying conditions at risk of COVID-19 and guidance for the public and providers
on reducing COVID-19 risk in people living with an NCD. As part of the HEARTS in the Americas initiative, twelve coun-
tries continue to implement the technical package and are demonstrating that hypertension control can be improved.
In Trinidad and Tobago, the initiative expanded from 5 to 35 implementing sites and increased population coverage
from 150,000 to over 500,000 people. For childhood cancer, Peru passed a law to guarantee access to free diagnosis
and treatment services. PAHO also promoted policy dialogue across sectors on innovative solutions to address vio-
lence in the context of COVID-19, informed by new technical guidance.

Thirty-one countries have now integrated mental health into primary health care, in line with the PAHO Plan of Action
on Mental Health (CD53/8, Rev. 1). This represents a 34% increase since 2017 and a 100% increase since 2014. A
Subregional strategy in Central America was approved by COMISCA with PAHO’s technical cooperation, also in line with
the Plan of Action. Capacity building was provided on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support (MHPSS), and MHPSS
coordination mechanisms were established in countries as part of the emergency response.

Several Member States developed stronger regulations on tobacco control. With new regulations issued in Paraguay
in December 2020, public spaces in all South American countries are now smoke free in compliance with the WHO
Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) Article 8. Bolivia passed a new comprehensive tobacco control law
in February 2020. There was also progress on discouraging the consumption of processed or ultra-processed products
that are high in sugar, fat, and salt. Mexico joined Chile, Ecuador, and Peru in implementing Front of Package Labeling
(FoPL). In January 2020, Peru established annual automatic indexation of taxes on cigarettes and alcoholic beverages,
and in October Trinidad and Tobago increased tax on cigarettes, smoking tobacco, and water pipe tobacco.
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e  Through the Revolving Fund, PANAFTOSA supported the provision of canine and human rabies immunobiologicals for
national rabies programs: 10 countries acquired more than 23,000,000 canine rabies vaccine doses for dog mass vac-
cination programs; 9 countries have acquired more than 94,000 vials of immunoglobulin for PEP; and 10 countries have
acquired more than 2,100,000 human rabies vaccine doses for PEP and PrEP.

e There was increasing high-level political commitment and consensus within Member States to adopt the Information
Systems for Health (1S4H) model, in line with the PAHO Plan of Action for Strengthening Information Systems for Health
(CD57/9, Rev. 1). This has contributed to positioning Ministries of Health at the vanguard of the digital transformation
of governments. In close coordination with PAHO, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) has formally incorpo-
rated the IS4H framework as a criteria for the allocation of loans for the health sector. It has since invested and planned
over $681 million in eleven countries to strengthen information systems and digital health. PAHO also delivered training
and expanded its collaboration networks to rapidly roll out tools and knowledge capsules to equip health authorities to
adapt and strengthen their information systems during this public health emergency.

e PAHO also developed and implemented methods for monitoring SDG3 indicators and their inequalities at the regional,
subregional, and national levels, including a dashboard and database with relevant data and the sharing of target-set-
ting and monitoring methodologies. PAHO completed the publication of the Monitoring Framework for Universal
Health, which enables the integrated analysis of policy implementation and outcome indicators for universal health.

e The knowledge, evidence-base, and capacity of national policy makers, legislators, and health authorities have also been
strengthened to integrate attention to equity, gender and ethnic equality, and human rights into public health pro-
grams, including for the COVID-19 response. Guidance documents with key considerations have been disseminated
and used as a reference point by countries, including on the integration of gender into the response and on the needs
of indigenous peoples, afro-descendants, and other ethnic groups. PAHO also provided safe spaces for young people
to express themselves and discuss their questions and concerns regarding COVID-19, through weekly COVID-19 youth
hangouts.

In support of these achievements and to advance on its priorities, PAHO strengthened and expanded strategic alliances and
partnerships, including: a) the aforementioned initiative with ECLAC; b) engagement with the international financial institutions
to ensure the financial support for countries’ COVID-19 vaccines purchases and other critical public health supplies to combat
the pandemic; c) dialogue with the Region’s integration mechanisms (such as CELAC, CARICOM, and PROSUR) for an aligned
response to COVID-19; and d) a Memorandum of Understanding with the International Organization for Migration (IOM) on key
health risks affecting migrant populations, which have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. PAHO signed agreements
over this period with 29 new financial partners, representing a diverse group of foundations, public charities, academia, and
development agencies.

During 2020, PAHO also began a process to reorient technical cooperation to Member States to ensure an agile response at the
regional, subregional, and country levels in the context of an evolving environment with changes accelerated by the COVID-19
pandemic. Experiences and lessons learned regarding the reorganization of health services, inter-programmatic collaboration,
and innovations in service delivery modalities have contributed to contain to some extent the impact of the pandemic in some
countries. These valuable lessons will serve to guide interventions in 2021 and beyond to build resilience in health services, while
continuing to work shoulder-to-shoulder with Member States and partners to protect, recuperate and accelerate public health
achievements.

A more detailed review of PAHO’s achievements can be found in the Annual Report of the Director.
https://www.paho.org/en/documents/cd583-annual-report-director-pan-american-sanitary-bureau-saving-lives-and-improv-

ing
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2. Total Revenue

Main components of PAHO Revenue : (Smillion)

2020 2019
Program Budget 338.7 284.8
Procurement Funds ° 936.2 833.7
National Voluntary Contributions 57.2 57.8
Other Special Funds * 8.0 17.8
TOTAL 1,340.1 1,194.1

1 There are presentational differences for revenue as compared to Note 15 of the financial statements.

2 Includes allowance for doubtful accounts of $6.8 million in 2020 and $6.3 million in 2019.

3 In 2020: Other Special Funds include the Tax Equalization Fund ($8.1 million), PALTEX (-$0.2 million) and Provision for Termination and Re-
patriation Entitlements Fund ($0.1 million). In 2019: Tax Equalization Fund ($14.9 million) and PALTEX ($2.3 million) and Provision for Termi-
nation and Repatriation Entitlements Fund ($0.6 million).

Detail: Program and Budget Revenue (Smillion)

2020 2019
Assessed Contributions” 97.2 97.1
PAHO Voluntary Contributions 73.9 56.7
WHO Voluntary Contributions 104.0 39.0
Other WHO Funds’ 50.2 454
Program Support Cost 16.8 18.8
Miscellaneous Revenue 15.7 240
Other* (19.1) 3.8
TOTAL REVENUE 338.7 284.8

! Net of Tax Equalization.

2 |n 2020: Other WHO Funds include WHO Assessed Contributions ($46.6 million) and WHO Special Account for Servicing Costs ($3.6 million).
In 2019: $37.9 million and $7.5 million, respectively.

3 In 2020: Interest earned ($11.2 million), valuation gains ($4.9 million), other revenue (-$0.4 million) In 2019: interest earned ($21.1 million),
valuation gains ($3.2 million), other revenue (-$0.3 million).

4 Includes allowance for doubtful accounts totaling $23.4 million as per Financial Regulation 13.6 which permits the Director to establish a
reserve for doubtful accounts when such accounts are not expected to be settled within 12 months of the date of the annual financial report,
and no payment plan has been established for such accounts.

3. PAHO Assessed Contributions and Budgeted Miscellaneous Revenue

Revenue of $97.2 million from PAHO Assessed Contributions was recorded in full on 1 January 2020, the date it became due and
payable. The cash receipts of current and prior years’ Assessed Contributions in 2020 including Tax Equalization Fund assess-
ments totaled $41.9 million and $67.7 million, respectively. In 2020, the rate of collection of current year Assessed Contributions
including Tax Equalization Fund assessments was 40%, compared with 27% for 2019. During 2020, PAHO received payments
towards current and prior years’ Assessed Contributions from thirty-six Member States. Twenty-seven Member States paid their
2020 assessments in full, four Member States made partial payments toward their 2020 assessments, and eleven Member States
made no payment toward their 2020 assessments.

Total Assessed Contributions payments outstanding, including amounts due for previous financial periods, decreased from $88.9
million on 31 December 2019 to $84.6 million on 31 December 2020. As a result of the delay in the receipt of Member States'
Assessed Contributions, the Organization fully utilized the balance of cash in the Working Capital Fund, as well as an additional
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$17.0 million in funds from other unrestricted internal sources. Therefore, the Organization began 2021 with a seriously reduced
balance of resources to implement the 2020 - 2021 Program and Budget until such time as Member States meet their financial
commitments to the Organization. PAHO has formally requested all Member States to pay their current assessment and out-
standing assessments as early as possible in 2021 in order to alleviate this situation and ensure continuity of the organization's
core activities.

Each year the Delegates to the Directing Council or the Pan American Sanitary Conference review at length the financial circum-
stances of those Member States who are in arrears in their Assessed Contributions and subject to Article 6.B of the PAHO Con-
stitution. As of 31 December 2020, there was one Member State and one Associate Member subject to Article 6.B.

Miscellaneous Revenue includes investment revenue earned on the funds administered by the Organization, investment fees
associated with the portfolios, net currency exchange gains and losses, and other miscellaneous revenue. Total Miscellaneous
Revenue available for the Assessed Contribution budget for 2020 was $11.0 million and is comprised of $11.2 million in invest-
ment revenue, investment management fees of $0.5 million, and $0.2 million of currency exchange gain, and $0.1 million in
other revenue.

4. Working Capital Fund and Internal Borrowing

As of 31 December 2020, the balance of the Organization’s Working Capital Fund was $28.7 million. The maximum authorized
level of the Fund was increased from $25.0 million to $50.0 million by the Directing Council in Resolution CD58.R1. The Working
Capital Fund received $2.5 million from the Budgetary Surplus Fund as approved in Resolution CD58.R2 and $1.3 million from
the Revenue Surplus Fund.

Due to the delay in the receipt of Member States' Assessed Contributions, the Organization fully utilized the $28.7 million balance
of the Working Capital Fund, as well as an additional $17 million in funds from other unrestricted internal sources. Therefore,
the Organization began 2021 with a seriously reduced balance of resources to implement the 2020 - 2021 Program and Budget
until such time as Member States meet their financial commitments to the Organization.

5. WHO Assessed Contributions and Other WHO Funds

In 2020, the Organization received nearly double the 2019 level of funding from WHO, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
As of 31 December 2020, total implementation of WHO funds during 2020 reached $154.2 million as compared to $84.4 million
during 2019 composed of:

a) $150.6 million from the WHO Funding Allocation in support of the international health programs established by the
World Health Assembly for the Region of the Americas. Of the $150.6 million, the WHO Emergency Fund, which is
included in the WHO Funding Allocation, implemented $92.3 million during 2020, compared to $7.5 million in 2019.

b) $3.6. million in program support costs from WHO as compared to $7.5 million in 2019.

6. PAHO Voluntary Contributions

PAHO Voluntary Contributions are managed through (1) the Voluntary Contributions (VC) Fund and (2) the Voluntary Contribu-
tions-Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Fund.

During 2020, PAHO’s total (implemented) revenue from Voluntary Contributions reached $73.9 million as compared to
$56.7 million in 2019, an increase of $17.2 million. Deferred (not implemented) revenue totaled $176.5 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2020 as compared to $139.6 million as at 31 December 2019, an increase of $36.9 million. Deferred revenue increased in
the Voluntary Contributions-Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Fund, from $8.2 million in 2019 to $33.4 million in
2020. However, deferred revenue in the (non-emergency) Voluntary Contributions Fund decreased slightly from $50.2 million
in 2019 to $49.8 million in 2020.
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In 2020, the largest donors of implemented Voluntary Contributions were: The United States of America ($26.7 million), the
European Commission ($15.8 million), Panama ($3.0 million), Spain ($2.4 million), and GAVI ($2.3 million). The largest donors for
Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief were: The United States of America ($12.0 million), the European Commission
($9.5 million), Canada ($7.8 million), UNDP ($4.0 million), and the United Kingdom ($3.7 million).

7. National Voluntary Contributions

National Voluntary Contributions (NVC) are financial resources provided by governments exclusively for projects benefiting their
countries. During 2020, PAHO implemented $57.2 million (2019: $57.8 million) in NVC, and the Deferred Revenue amounted to
$243.9 million (2019: $210.9 million).

Revenue: National Voluntary Contributions (Smillion)
2020 2019
Mais Medicos Program ! (0.3) 2.5
Other Brazil Programs 33.7 43.3
Other NVC 23.8 12.0
TOTAL NVC 57.2 57.8

11n 2020: The net result of the revaluation of outstanding liabilities.

8. Procurement on Behalf of Member States

Through extensive international bidding, PAHO is able to purchase vaccines, public health supplies and equipment on behalf of
Member States and international institutions at affordable prices. During 2020, the total value of procurement on behalf of Mem-
ber States increased to $936.2 million from $833.7 million in 2019.

Revenue: Procurement Activities On Behalf of Member States (Smillion)
2020 2019
Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines 748.6 761.2
Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies 186.0 70.5
Reimbursable Procurement 1.6 2.0
TOTAL 936.2 833.7

The Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines previously known as Revolving Fund for Vaccine Procurement was established in 1977
to facilitate timely access to quality vaccines at the lowest possible prices for national immunization programs in Member States.
The revenue increased from $761.2 million in 2019 to $748.6 million in 2020, or 1.7%.

In 2020, 41 countries and territories participated in the Fund. The 10 Member States with the largest demand were Argentina,
Brazil, Peru, Colombia, Guatemala, Panama, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Honduras, and Ecuador, totaling 89 % of the total procure-
ment of 2020. Despite the challenges faced in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic that impacted not only the vaccination
activities at country level but also international logistics, the Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines worked diligently to secure
the timely delivery of the vaccines required for the immunization programs of the region. Extra efforts were made through PAHO’s
collective response to support country preparedness for the anticipated introduction of the new COVID-19 vaccine during the
first semester of 2021, without overlooking the vaccines required to mitigate the risks of potential outbreaks of measles and
yellow fever and strategic vaccines such as influenza. Special attention was paid also to Haiti and Venezuela, in support of the
immunization needs of their national programs.
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The Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies was created in 1999 to facilitate procurement of essential
medicines and health supplies to improve affordability and access to quality health care and strengthen the sustainability of
health systems. As of December 2020, 34 countries across Latin America and the Caribbean have signed participating agreements
with the Strategic Fund.

During 2020, the Strategic Fund facilitated important improvements in access to essential therapeutics, including for competi-
tive, affordable prices under long-term agreements for high-cost treatments for breast cancer and hypertension. Additionally,
in 2020, the program’s strategic initiatives, such as inclusion of biosimilars and generics, strengthened its impact across the
region. Meanwhile, as part of the COVID-19 response, the Strategic Fund helped to mitigate critical disruptions to healthcare
supply chains, successfully procuring over $110 million worth of COVID-19 diagnostic tests, personal protective equipment, and
ICU-critical medicines to 15 countries in the region. Importantly, the Strategic Fund has kept up with heightened demand, with
the value of products invoiced increasing from $70.5 million in 2019 to $186 million in 2020 across 25 countries in the Region of
the Americas. By partnering with Member States as a critical technical cooperation mechanism to guarantee the continuous and
efficient supply of affordable, quality-assured health products across communicable and non-communicable diseases, the Stra-
tegic Fund aims to continue delivering on PAHO’s commitment to the Sustainable Development Goals and the pursuit of health
for all.

The overall monthly average use by Members States of the Revolving Funds’ Lines of Credit increased by $28.5 million, in 2020
as compared to 2019, increasing from $104.8 million to $132.2 million for the Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines, and in-
creasing from $14.7 million to $15.7 million for the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies.

Funding for the purchase of medical supplies, medical equipment, and literature processed through the Reimbursable Procure-

ment on Behalf of Member States Fund was $1.6 million. In 2020, 5 Member States used this Fund.

9. Expenses by Category

PAHO’s total expenses, reflecting disbursements and accrued liabilities, increased to $1,336.2 million in 2020 from $1,189.3 mil-
lion in 2019.

The primary PAHO expense categories are shown below in millions of United States dollars:

PAHO Expense Categories Smillion

2020 2019
Staff and Other Personnel Costs * 181.5 143.5
Supplies, Commodities, Materials 2 967.5 851.8
Depreciation, Amortization, and Revaluation 3 13.3 2.0
Contractual Services 85.4 99.5
Travel * 9.8 34.8
Transfers and Grants to Counterparts > 60.9 20.1
General Operating Cost 6 17.8 37.6
Total PAHO Expenses 1,336.2 1,189.3

LIncludes: salary costs ($3.3 million decrease vs. 2019), ASHI actuarial impact ($42.2 million increase vs. 2019), other staff costs not payroll
related i.e. statutory and terminal entitlements ($0.8 million decrease vs. 2019).

2 Increase due to the medical supplies and materials purchased through the Strategic Fund in response to the COVID-19 emergency.

3The Impact of building revaluation in 2020: $11.2 million.

4Decreased by 71.8%, from $34.8 million in 2019 to $9.8 million in 2020 primarily as a result of travel bans and restrictions, the cancellation or
postponement of duty travel due to COVID-19.

5$56.0 million of medical supplies and materials donated to Member Governments.

6 Reflects staff teleworking during the COVID-19 pandemic along with the elimination of office space leases due to the 2019 purchase of the
VA Avenue building.
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10. Liquidity and Investments

The PAHO Investment Committee establishes and implements appropriate investment policies, reflecting best practices and
prudent financial management. The Investment Committee regularly reviews the investment portfolio’s performance, keeping
in mind the primary objective of preserving the capital value of resources and maintaining adequate liquidity, while maximizing
the yield on the portfolio.

Investment Revenue totaled $11.2 million in 2020, as compared to $21.1 million in 2019, as a result of the economic impact of
the pandemic. US short term interest rates are at or near 0%, reducing the options for investing excess liquidity.

11. Accounting Policies and Basis of Preparation

The Financial Statements of the Pan American Health Organization (the Organization) have been prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), using the fair value valuation con-
vention. Where an IPSAS does not address a particular issue, the appropriate International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS)
has been applied.

These Financial Statements were prepared under the assumption that the Organization is a going concern and will continue in
operation and will meet its mandate for the foreseeable future. The Governing Bodies of the Organization have not communi-
cated through any means that there is an intention to terminate the Organization or to cease its operations. Furthermore, at
the time of the preparation of these Financial Statements, the Executive Management of the Organization was not aware of any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Organization to
continue as a going concern.

The Organization has been able to work efficiently and effectively despite restrictions imposed by the pandemic. The financial
impact of COVID-19 on performance has been disclosed within the relevant financial statement notes affected. The effect of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the financial performance of PAHO in the coming years will depend on developments which cannot be
reliably predicted.

The Financial Statements of the Organization were authorized for issue by the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau
(PASB) under the authority vested in her by the Pan American Sanitary Conference as stated in the Resolution CSP29.R10 in
September 2017. The issuance approval is the date of the External Auditor’s Report. No other authority has the power to amend
the Financial Statements after issuance.

Carissa F. Etienne

Director

Pan American Health Organization
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Certification of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

In accordance with the provisions of Regulation Xlll of the Financial Regulations, attached
are the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. The financial statements,
accounting policies and notes to the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The Financial Statements and notes

have been audited by the Organization’s External Auditor, the National Audit Office whose opin-
ion is included in this report.

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, together with the sup-
porting notes to the statements have been reviewed and approved.

ey
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P A T
Xavier Puente Chaudé Carissa F. Etienne
Director Director
Financial Resources Management Pan American Health Organization

25 May 2021
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PAHO’s 2020 Statement on Internal Control

Scope of responsibility

As the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (PASB), | am responsible for providing Member States with reasonable
assurance that the PASB is maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the fulfillment of PAHO’s mandate and
objectives, while safeguarding the funds and assets administered by the PASB. This is in keeping with the responsibilities en-
trusted to me by the PAHO Constitution, the Governing Bodies, and the Financial Regulations of the Organization.

In the framework of Financial Regulation 12.1, which outlines the scope of my responsibilities?, | provide information on the
status of the PASB internal control environment in fulfilment of the purpose of this report. In this context, it is important to
mention that last year was the first year of the PAHO Strategic Plan 202020252, which clearly states that accountability is a
critical component of any well-functioning organization that implements a results-based management (RBM) approach.
Strengthening the mechanisms and elements of institutional responsibility related to transparency and governance through pol-
icy development, risk management, strategic and operational planning, budget management, performance, monitoring, assess-
ment, and reporting at all levels of the Organization—country, subregional, and regional—ensures effective, equitable, and effi-
cient financing and management of resources to respond to the priorities defined by PAHO’s Member States.

Taking into account PAHO’s constitutional mandate, the internal control system is informed by the Three Lines of Defense Model®
and is linked at programmatic and transactional levels to the PASB Management Information System (PMIS). These linkages
increase transparency and efficiency in the use of resources, focusing on strengthening corporate normative and compliance
functions and increasing efficiencies.

The importance of transparent and efficient internal control mechanisms in the Organization became even more significant
during 2020, taking into consideration the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic* and the critical financial situation of the Bureau®.

PAHO’s operating environment

The Organization operates through its Washington, D.C. headquarters, 27 country offices, and three specialized centers in the
region.

The year 2020 will be remembered as the year that the COVID-19 pandemic began. The pandemic and its effects were particularly
challenging for PAHO, testing core functions of the Organization on different fronts, including business continuity management,
funding sustainability, and, equally as important, PAHO’s capacity to technically support the emergency response and undertake
relevant technical cooperation with Member States. It is important to highlight that the implementation of PASB activities has
maintained the highest levels of accountability in an environment of increasing risk levels due to the unstable social, political,
and economic situation in PAHO’s constituency.

1 The Regulation states that “the Director shall establish and maintain an effective internal control structure with operating policies and pro-
cedures based on best industry practice, in order to: a) ensure efficient and effective financial administration, b) safeguard assets, c) accom-
plish the strategic objectives and goals in line with the mission of the Organization, and d) maintain an internal oversight function reporting
to the Director.”

2 Strategic Plan of the Pan American Health Organization 2020-2025: Equity at the Heart of Health. Document OD359, Annex E, Accountability
Mechanism. October 2019: Washington, D.C.; PAHO.

3 The Three Lines of Defense Model gained prominence a decade ago as the preferred model for managing operational risk. The first line of
defense is provided by the front-line staff and operational management. The second line of defense is provided by the risk management and
compliance functions. The third line of defense is provided by the oversight functions of the auditors. More details at http://www.incon-
sult.com.au/understanding-the-three-lines-of-defence/.

4 See document CE166/5: COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Region of the Americas. 166th Session of the Executive Committee. Virtual
Session, 22-23 June 2020.

5See document CESS1/2: Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the Pan-American Health Organization Strategic Priorities. Special
Session of the Executive Committee, Virtual Session, 29 May 2020.
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The following milestones highlight aspects of the operating environment:

e 11 and 12 January 2020, the WHO received detailed information from the National Health Commission of China about
the outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 virus, the novel coronavirus that causes COVID-19.

e 17 January 2020, the PASB activated an Organization-wide Incident Management Structure (IMS).

e 24 January 2020, the PAHO Director sent a letter to ministers of health and other senior officials in the Region of the
Americas on the emergence of SARS-CoV-2, including technical considerations and advice.

e 11 March 2020, the WHO Director General declared the outbreak a "pandemic".

e 12 March 2020, the PAHO Director informed PAHO’s personnel about the outbreak and gave instructions to activate
business continuity plans in all duty stations.

e By 15 July 2020, the Region of the Americas had become the epicenter of the COVID-19 pandemic®.

e In December 2020, a decision was made to extend all the measures related to COVID-19 emergency until 31 December
2021.

Although not yet fully quantifiable, the negative social and economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the short-, medium-,
and long-term, at local, national, and global levels, is believed to be unprecedented. The situation was discussed during the
Special Session of the Directing Council (CDSS1/2) to update the Member States on the COVID-19 pandemic in the Region of the
Americas, COVAX preparedness, and equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines’.

While the pandemic was unfolding, the PASB was facing an unprecedented threat to Pan American solidarity and to its very
existence. Due to non-payment of several Member States’ assessed contributions and certain voluntary contributions, the Or-
ganization was on the brink of insolvency. For that reason, the PAHO Director convened a Special Session of the Executive Com-
mittee on 29 May 2020, pursuant to Article 17.A of the PAHO Constitution, in order to bring this serious situation to the attention
of Member States on an emergency basis. The Special Session was held virtually?, with an active agenda for Member States to
monitor and provide guidance on issues related to the internal financial situation and the response to the emergency. Several
actions were required to maintain the Organization’s functioning at the usual level of excellence and engagement, while contin-
uing to improve managerial and administrative systems for greater transparency, efficiency, and effectiveness in the crisis.

Notwithstanding, the critical situation provided a stimulus for change management. Once the business continuity plans for every
duty station were activated, administrative guidance was provided and regularly monitored including the determination of crit-
ical personnel. A new standard operating procedure (SOP) activated generalized emergency telework to support business conti-
nuity and all personnel were provided with the necessary equipment and training to telework and operate outside of PAHO's
premises. At the same time, the duty of care initiative was launched to provide guidance for the health and wellbeing of person-
nel in the framework of business continuity management. Initiatives included the COVID-19 check-in survey, medevac, family
wellness and resilience in the time of COVID-19, and guidelines on safeguarding the health of PAHO personnel during COVID-19.
As the phases of the pandemic evolved, clear guidance and a process was established for all duty stations on standards for return
to premises, with the engagement of, and input from, managers and other personnel.

Several tools were made available to facilitate virtual working and technical cooperation with Member States, including plat-
forms and formats for meetings, decision making, and reports. New PMIS reports and dashboards were developed and delivered
to support decision making, and it should be noted that the PMIS continues to provide opportunities to streamline operations
and improve efficiency to better support technical cooperation, as was reported to the PAHO Executive Committee in September
2020°. In particular, PASB implemented innovations in its procurement operations'® to help Member States access health sup-
plies in the face of severe disruptions in global supply chains as a result of the pandemic. The Bureau engaged in almost constant
negotiations with suppliers to find alternative routes to deliver essential products and reduce shipping costs. PASB also joined

6 CD58/6. COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas. Virtual Session, 28-29 September 2020.

7 CDSS1/2*. Updated on the Covid-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas, COVAX Preparedness, and equitable access to COVID-19 Vac-
cines. Virtual Session, 10 December 2020.

8 See document CESS1/2 21 Current Financial Situation and Adjustments to the Pan American Health Organization Strategic Priorities and
CE166/16 15 May 2020 Financial report of the Director and the External Auditor for 2019.

9 CE167/INF/1. PASB Management Information System (PMIS): Lessons learned. Virtual Session, 30 September 2020

10 ¢D58/3. Annual Report of the Director Saving Lives and Improving Health and Well-Being. Virtual Session, 28-29 September 2020
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forces with WHO, UNICEF, and other partners through the UN COVID-19 Supply Chain System and the Access to COVID-19 Tools
(ACT) Accelerator, collaborations that helped to ensure cost-effective procurement and fair allocation of scarce supplies for
PAHO Member States.

At programmatic level, with the establishment of the Organization-wide Incident Management System (IMS), the PASB enabled
the release of financial resources from the PAHO Epidemic Emergency Fund and triggered a series of mechanisms to allow rein-
forcement of the PASB response to COVID-19. Guidance was provided for the programming, management, monitoring, and re-
porting of PAHO’s resources. The Departments of Financial Resources Management (FRM), Planning and Budget (PBU), and Ex-
ternal Relations, Partnerships, and Resource Mobilization (ERP) continue to monitor the financial situation and submit monthly
reports to Executive Management on the Organization’s current financial position, the status of implementation, and the asso-
ciated risks, ensuring incorporation of audit recommendations. Executive Management meets monthly to review these reports
and take appropriate decisions to mitigate identified risks.

The corporate Performance Monitoring and Assessment (PMA) process to close the previous PAHO Strategic Plan! and the first
semester assessment of the PAHO Program and Budget 2020-2021 was conducted, involving Executive Management, entity
managers, and technical staff, to assess progress in the implementation of the approved biennial work plans. Concurrently,
PAHO’s resource mobilization strategy was launched. In this context, an Internal Steering Committee (ISC) was established in
June 2020 by mandate of the Director. The ISC’s strategic objective was to develop a series of recommendations to prepare the
Organization to enter the 2022-2023 biennium in the post-COVID-19 environment on solid footing, enabling agile responses to
the evolving programmatic, structural, and operational needs of Member States, within available resources.

In the areas of risk management, compliance, and ethics, several actions were taken to improve governance and maintain oper-
ations free of potential fraud or conflict of interest. The PAHO Executive Committee, during the virtual session of 22-23 June
2020, discussed the importance of further strengthening the management of technical cooperation projects funded by voluntary
contributions in order to increase oversight and accountability to Member States, and to protect the Organization from institu-
tional risks, including financial, legal, operational, technical, and reputational risks, among others'?. The PASB Risk Management
and Compliance Standing Committee met several times during 2020 to monitor and discuss the risk situation, and make recom-
mendations for improvement, including measures and criteria to enhance the corporate risk register and make mandatory the
inclusion of project risks that have been reviewed and approved by Executive Management.

In relation to compliance, improvements in the PMIS were made to enhance accountability, including delegation of authority, to
ensure the appropriate segregation of duties and guidelines for stock and inventory management, incorporating the mandatory
registration in PMIS of all new Intangible Assets (lAs) externally purchased or internally developed. A significant aspect of the
new virtual work environment was the provision of reminders and guidance to all personnel on the importance of ethical behav-
ior in various situations, including political activities and participation in protests, and the expected conduct of PAHO personnel
and their dependents regarding vaccination for COVID 19. The latter guidance stressed the importance of the mission of PAHO
and noted that PAHO personnel should lead by example, making no attempts to receive or request special treatment. The guid-
ance also highlighted the proper channels to report misconduct.

In summary, 2020 was a year of risk management, business continuity, and innovation, in order to respond to the critical de-
mands of the evolving COVID-19 emergency, with strengthened internal control to closely monitor the Organization’s operations
from different angles—programmatic, financial, and managerial.

Significant risks during 2020

During 2020, several risks in the corporate risk register increased the risk level and were discussed with the Standing Committee
on Risk and Compliance and the Executive Management Team. As was mentioned before, the information from the corporate
risk register is monitored on a regular basis. However, due to the particular conditions of 2020 the Executive Management dis-
cussed and reviewed several areas of risks including the level of tolerance. The table below consolidates risk areas and scope,
and mitigation actions.

11 cD58/53. Report of the End-of Biennium Assessment of the PAHO Program and Budget 2018-2019 and Final report on the implementation
of the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019. Virtual Session, 28-29 September 2020
12 CE166/6. PAHO Governance Reform and Resolution CE166.R9. Virtual Session, 22-23 June 2020
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Risk Area

Risk Scope

Main mitigation actions

Delay in response to Public
Health Emergencies

The scope of this risk area relates specifi-
cally to COVID-19 pandemic in the Region
of the Americas and on the response of
the Pan American Sanitary Bureau
(PASB). The response includes actions re-
lated to strengthen and support respon-
sive and adaptive health systems in the
face of risks from this pandemic so that
the health and well-being of societies, as
well as social and economic development
in the Region, can be sustained. It is ex-
pected that the Region will experience re-
curring epidemic waves and outbreaks in-
terspersed with periods of low-level
transmission over the next 24 months,
pending development of a safe, effica-
cious, and equitably accessible COVID-19
vaccine and achievement of appropriate
population coverage.[ll

Provide technical cooperation to strengthen: a)
leadership, stewardship, and governance; b) ep-
idemic intelligence; c) health systems and ser-
vice delivery networks; d) emergency opera-
tions response and supply chain;

Maintain and continue to strengthen the capac-
ity of the Bureau at all organizational levels to
respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and other
emergencies and disasters.

Support member states in procuring COVID-19
vaccines and public health supplies through the
Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines (Revolv-
ing Fund), and the Regional Revolving Fund for
Strategic Public Health Supplies (Strategic Fund)
Monitor the implementation at national level of
the International Health Regulations (IHR) and
Member States acceleration of actions to
strengthen information systems for health and
to adopt digital solutions for access to timely
(close to real-time) and disaggregated data to
support decision -making for responding to the
COVID-19 pandemic. &

Limited availability and
flexibility of financial re-
sources to fund the Pro-
gram and Budget 2020-
2021

This area covers risks that may affect the
funding of the Program and Budget 2020-
2021 such as: Delay or failure to comply
with Article 4.4 of the PAHO Financial
Regulationst! related to the payment of
assessed contributions; decline and un-
certainty in investment in global health
initiatives, and lack of diversification of
partners and donors.

Focus on encouraging member state funding of
their financial commitments. Provide technical
cooperation to member states to develop coor-
dinated initiatives to mobilize complementary
national and international resources, including
with the private sector and other sectors. Estab-
lish solidarity - based pooling arrangements for
efficient and equitable use of diverse sources of
public financing.

Failure to provide Business
Continuity and Duty of
care for PASB personnel
during pandemic

Risk that some decentralized entities
may lack adequate business continuity
plans or procedures to meeting a con-
sistent standard for duty of care.

A new standard operating procedure estab-
lished corporate —wide emergency telework to
support business continuity and all personnel
were provided with the necessary office equip-
ment to operate outside of PAHO’s premises. At
the same time the duty of care initiative was
launched to provide guidance for the health and
wellbeing of the personnel in the framework of
business continuity management which in-
cluded the Covid-19 check-in survey, guidelines
in how to safeguard the health of PAHO person-
nel during Covid-19 emergency, and guidelines
for returning to premises, among others.
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Information Technology | The quality of PASB’s information tech-| All PASB managers reviewed their IT readiness
infrastructure readiness | nology infrastructure may be inconsistent| to support mass telework during the pandemic
to support digital trans- [ across duty stations and headquarters| and took measures to upgrade as needed to
formation of technical co- | entities, and the readiness of member| support operations. PASB, in consultations with
operation states to select and implement interoper-| member states, developed agreed principles for
able information systems for health may| building information systems for health. The
be uneven or inadequate to leverage| Special Session of the Directing Council in De-
modern technology to address gaps and| cember 2020 urged all member states to in-
inequities in health systems. crease investment in this area.

[11 cp58/6. COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas. Virtual Session., 28-29 September 2020.
[21 cp58/6. COVID-19 Pandemic in the Region of the Americas. Virtual Session., 28-29 September 2020.

Bl Article 4 refers to the legal obligation of Member States to make available the assess contributions for implementation on the first day of

the budgetary period to which they relate.

The Internal Control Framework and Risk Management
PAHO’s internal control framework is based in the Three Lines of Defense Model*3, which is summarized as follows:

e The first line of defense is provided by the front-line staff and operational management.
e The second line of defense is provided by the risk management and compliance roles.
e The third line of defense is provided by the oversight functions of the auditors.

The evolution of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) program in the PASB has demonstrated its usefulness!* and enabled a
more systematic approach in the identification, assessment, and mitigation of emerging risks. The corporate risk register is de-
signed to capture risks identified at cost center level. As part of the risk management governance, the risk register information
is subject to regular review by the Regional Advisor on Risk Management, the PASB Risk Management and Compliance Standing
Committee and Executive Management Team. The risk management process at cost center level is supported by an internal
network of risk focal points that have access to training material and advice to build in-house capacity. Managers have a crucial
role to play in ensuring that risk analysis is integrated into the managerial decision-making process.

However, 2020 tested PASB’s capacity to respond to several identified risks presented in the 2019 financial report such as: a)
Delay in response to public health emergencies, b) Limited availability and flexibility of financial resources, c) Limited ability to
react to and plan for shifts in health priorities, d) Cyber security risk, and e) Potential for fraud and conflict of interest. The
evidence demonstrated that the PASB risk management framework was able to foresee and enable action in those identified
risk areas, as well as for business continuity management and duty of care. All PAHO country offices were ready, given the
implementation during the previous years of a new methodology to build an adaptive business continuity plan that includes
teleworking measures, technological support and digitalization, and digital learning platforms.

The first corporate assurance map, with inclusion of several risk operational areas and information on the role of each line of
defense was also developed. This map will allow the Director of Administration to monitor areas that require adjustment in
policies, procedures, or internal capacity, and relevant processes will be institutionalized during 2021.

13 The Three Lines of Defense Model gained prominence a decade ago as the preferred model for managing operational risk. More details at
http://www.inconsult.com.au/understanding-the-three-lines-of-defence/.
14 Annual Report of the Director, 2019.
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As part of the governance initiative for projects funded by voluntary contributions mandated by the PAHO Executive Committee,
an analysis of the risk management framework was performed?!®, and the need for effective risk management and internal
governance was identified. Based on the maturity of the risk management program, changes were made to integrate risk
management as part of the PAHO project management policy and adjust the corporate risk register for projects. It is expected
that during 2021 there will be full compliance with the policies and procedures to improve risk management for projects. For
instance, some of the key performance indicators will be related to the number of projects reviewed at corporate level with the
risk register completed; number of projects under implementation with risks included in the corporate risk register and with risk
mitigation actions identified.

The PASB will continue improvements in the PMIS to support the first line of accountability—represented by managers and other
personnel—and proactively enhance the second line of accountability, represented by the compliance, ethics, information
security, legal, and risk management functions. These are complemented by PASB’s oversight functions, evaluation, investigation
and independent reviews.

The Office of Internal Audit (OIA) observed continuing improvements in the internal control environment of PASB in 2020, which
were reflected in the absence of “unsatisfactory” ratings for any of the internal audit assignments in 2020, the third consecutive
year with no “unsatisfactory” ratings overall, and the fourth year with no “unsatisfactory” ratings for country offices. The
Organization responded rapidly and with agility to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, embracing new information technology tools
to ensure the continuity of administrative and operational activities. Based on the internal audit activity undertaken in 2020, OIA
did not identify any significant weaknesses in internal controls that would seriously compromise the achievement of PAHO's
strategic and operational objectives. The overall opinion of OIA with respect to the PASB internal control environment in 2020
is that it continued to provide reasonable assurance of the accuracy and timely recording of transactions, assets, and liabilities,
and of the safeguarding of assets.

Review of Effectiveness

As Director of the PASB, | am responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review is informed
by the work of the Office of Internal Audit (OlA); senior managers in the Organization with responsibility for developing and
maintaining the Internal Control Framework; the Ethics Office, which leads the Internal Conflict Management System; and the
comments of the External Auditors in their management letters and audit reports.

Throughout the fiscal period, cost center managers are required to periodically provide assurances regarding their compliance
with policies and procedures. The cost center managers are required to complete a Monthly Compliance Certification and the
guarterly Cost Center Manager Compliance Certifications. Through these certifications they provide assurance that they are not
aware of any significant reasons (i.e., any material misstatement of the financial expenses under their responsibility as cost
center manager) that would prevent the Director from signing with confidence the annual letter of certification. Issues identified
in any of these reports are brought to the attention of senior management, where remedial actions at varying levels are
prescribed and implemented.

The PAHO Audit Committee, established pursuant to Resolution CD49.R2, meets twice a year and serves in an independent
expert advisory capacity. The Audit Committee assists me and the PAHO Member States through the provision of independent
assessment and advice on the operation of the Organization’s financial control and reporting structures, risk management
processes, compliance, and the adequacy of the Organization’s systems of internal and external controls. In 2020, as a result of
the pandemic the Audit Committee only met once in December and covered a very comprehensive agenda with the topics
mentioned above.

15CD58/7, Add. Analysis of the risk management framework for voluntary contributions-funded project at the Panamerican Health
Organization. Virtual Session, 28-29 September 2020
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Statement

The Executive Management Team and | have performed systematic follow-up on all internal and external audit

recommendations, including those of the Audit Committee, reported ethical issues, and identified corporate risks through the
risk management process.

I am confident that the Organization’s system of internal control was effective throughout the financial reporting period
1 January 2020 through 31 December 2020 and remains so on the date | sign this statement.

< /4‘ {A o
P (l_'/ | \_,,,,‘\”a\\‘\
g arissa F. Etienne

Director

Pan American Health Organization
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE PAN AMERICAN SANITARY CONFERENCE

Opinion on financial statements

| have audited the financial statements of the Pan American Health Organization for the year ended 31 December 2020, which
comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in Net Assets, Cash
Flow Statement, Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts for the year ended, and the related notes including
the significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of the Pan
American Health Organization as at 31 December 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects, the revenue and expenses have been applied to the purposes intended by the Pan Amer-
ican Sanitary Conference and the financial transactions conform to the Organization’s Financial Regulations.

Basis for opinions

| conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and the Organization’s Financial Regulations.
My responsibilities under these are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of my report.

Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2016. | am
independent of the Pan American Health Organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom. My staff and | have fulfilled out other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Director’'s Comments and the State-
ment on Internal Control. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information Is materially inconsistent with the financial state-
ments or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based on the work | have
performed, | conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, | am required to report that fact. | have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements

The Director is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Organization’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless man-

agement either intends to liquidate the Organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Organization’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether die to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs; | exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. | also:

e identify the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e obtain and understanding of internal control relevant to the audit to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal
control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am required
to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organization to cease to continue as a going
concern.

In addition, | am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the revenue and expenses reported in
the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by the Pan American Sanitary Conference and the financial
transactions conform to the Financial Regulations which govern them.

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that | identify during my audit.

Report

| have also issued a long-form audit report on the results of my audit.

C";H/bé AN:(&’

Gareth Davis31 May 2021
Comptroller and Auditor General
National Audit Office

157-197 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria

London. SW1W 9SP

United Kingdom
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Financial Statements

Pan American Health Organization
Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2020
(In thousands of US dollars)

Description Reference 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

TOTAL NET ASSETS / EQUITY 273 709 240 848
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Pan American Health Organization
Statement of Financial Performance

As at 31 December 2020
(In thousands of US dollars)

Description Reference 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)* 4799

1 Main components in 2020: SHI Actuarial Liability (-548.3 million), TAREP Actuarial Liability (-$2.5 million), Impairments (-$30.1 million),
Revaluations of Buildings (-$11.1 million), Exchange Gain/Loss ($5.0 million). In 2019: SHI Actuarial Liability (-$6.4 million), TAREP
Actuarial Liability (-$2.6 million), Impairments (-$6.3 million), Provisions (-$14.4 million), Exchange Gain/Loss ($5.0 million).
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Pan American Health Organization
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

As at 31 December 2020
(In thousands of US dollars)

Description LEEE 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Net assets at the end of the year Note 14 273 709 240 848
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Pan American Health Organization
Cash Flow Statement

As at 31 December 2020
(In thousands of US dollars)

Description Reference 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the Year 357 346 188 926
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Pan American Health Organization
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

As at 31 December 2020
(In thousands of US dollars)

FY2021 Total 20-21
Approved Total 2020 Total 2021 Expenditures as % of
Program Budget  Apportioned Expendituresas% of  Apportioned Expenditures as % of Total 20-21 Approved Program
Outcome No Outcome short title 2020-2021 Budget Expenditures Apportioned Budget Budget Expenditures Apportioned Budget  Expenditures Budget
Base Programs [a] [b] [c] [d] = [c] / [b] [e] [f] [l = [f]/ [e] [h]=[c]+[f] [i1=1[h]/[a]
OUTCOME 1  Access to comprehensive and quality health services 25 500 12 750 5896 46% 12 750 0 0% 5896 23%
OUTCOME 2  Health throughout the life course 42 000 21 000 6 663 32% 21 000 0 0% 6 663 16%
OUTCOME 3 Quality care forolder people 4000 2 000 734 37% 2 000 0 0% 734 18%
OUTCOME 4 Response capacity for communicable diseases 68 000 34 000 22 447 66% 34 000 0 0% 22 447 33%
Access to services for NCDs and mental health
OUTCOME 5 conditions 19 500 9 750 6 004 62% 9 750 0 0% 6 004 31%
OUTCOME 6 Response capacity for violence and injuries 3000 1500 622 41% 1500 0 0% 622 21%
OUTCOME 7  Health workforce 14 000 7 000 3752 54% 7 000 0 0% 3752 27%
OUTCOME 8  Access to health technologies 35400 17 700 9 858 56% 17 700 0 0% 9 858 28%
OUTCOME 9 Strengthened stewardship and governance 10 000 5 000 1982 40% 5 000 0 0% 1982 20%
OUTCOME 10 Increased publicfinancing for health 4 000 2 000 895 45% 2 000 0 0% 895 22%
OUTCOME 11 Strengthened financial protection 4100 2 050 628 31% 2050 0 0% 628 15%
OUTCOME 12 Risk factors for communicable diseases 26 000 13 000 5716 44% 13 000 0 0% 5716 22%
OUTCOME 13 Risk factors for NCDs 27 000 13 500 3588 27% 13 500 0 0% 3588 13%
OUTCOME 14 Malnutrition 6 000 3 000 1378 46% 3000 0 0% 1378 23%
OUTCOME 15 Intersectoral response to violence and injuries 3 000 1500 711 47% 1500 0 0% 711 24%
OUTCOME 16 Intersectoral action on mental health 4500 2 250 1175 52% 2250 0 0% 1175 26%
OUTCOME 17 Elimination of communicable diseases 21 000 10 500 7 080 67% 10 500 0 0% 7 080 34%
OUTCOME 18 Social and environmental determinants 13 000 6 500 5163 79% 6 500 0 0% 5163 40%
OUTCOME 19 Health promotion and intersectoral action 7 000 3 500 968 28% 3500 0 0% 968 14%
OUTCOME 20 Integrated information systems for health 16 000 8000 3 609 45% 8 000 0 0% 3609 23%
OUTCOME 21 Data, information, knowledge, and evidence 19 000 9 500 5808 61% 9 500 0 0% 5808 31%
OUTCOME 22 Research, ethics, and innovation for health 3000 1500 1128 75% 1500 0 0% 1128 38%
OUTCOME 23 Health emergencies preparedness and risk reduction 21500 10 750 5215 49% 10 750 0 0% 5215 24%
OUTCOME 24 Epidemic and pandemic prevention and control 16 500 8 250 5349 65% 8250 0 0% 5349 32%
OUTCOME 25 Health Emergencies Detection and Response 25 000 12 500 9284 74% 12 500 0 0% 9284 37%
Cross-Cutting Themes: Equity, Ethnicity, Gender, and
OUTCOME 26 Human Rights 7 000 3 500 2 160 62% 3500 0 0% 2 160 31%
OUTCOME 27 Leadership and governance 78 500 39 250 32578 83% 39 250 0 0% 32578 42%
OUTCOME 28 Managementand administration 96 500 48 250 33963 70% 48 250 0 0% 33963 35%
Subtotal - Base Programs 620 000 310 000 184 355 59% 310 000 184 355 30%
Foot and mouth disease elimination program 9 000 4 500 3348 74% 4 500 0 0% 3348 37%
. Smart hospitals 8 000 4 000 9316 233% 4 000 0 0% 9316 116%
Special Programs —
Outbreak and crisis response 13 000 6 500 109 374 1683% 6 500 0 0% 109 374 841%
Polio eradication maintenance 33 N/A 0 0% 33 N/A
k | - Special prog 30 000 15 000 122 071 814% 15 000 122 071 407%

TOTAL - Program Budget 650 000 325 000 306 427 94% 325 000 306 427 47%
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The PAHO Program Budget 2020-2021 (PB20-21) was approved by the Directing Council in 2019 (Document OD358) as an integrated budget, independent of the sources of
financing. It is the first Program Budget under the PAHO Strategic Plan 2020-2025 (SP20-25) and sets out the corporate results and targets for the Organization agreed
upon by Members States. In terms of its programmatic structure, it is significantly different from that of the Strategic Plan 2014-2019 and the Program Budget 2018-2019.

The figures in the column "Approved Program Budget 2020-2021" indicate total resource requirements (often called "budget ceiling" or "envelopes") not funding. Although
the PAHO budget is approved by its Governing Bodies on a biennial basis, the budget has been apportioned at 50% for each fiscal year (2020 and 2021).

There were no budget transfers among outcomes during the fiscal year 2020; the resulting budget is therefore the same as the original budget. The 2020 expenses represent
actual and accrued expenditures from all funding sources: assessed contributions and miscellaneous revenue, PAHO voluntary contributions, as well as special funds that
finance the Program Budget.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Mission of the Pan American Health Organization

The mission of the Organization is “To lead strategic collaborative efforts among Member States and other partners to promote
equity in health, to combat disease, and to improve the quality of, and lengthen, the lives of the peoples of the Americas.”

The Pan American Health Organization (the Organization) is an international public health agency with more than 100 years of
experience in working to improve health and living standards in the countries of the Americas. It serves as the specialized or-
ganization for health of the Inter-American System. It also serves as the Regional Office for the Americas of the World Health
Organization and enjoys international recognition as part of the United Nations system.

The Pan American Sanitary Bureau (PASB) is the Secretariat of the Organization. The Bureau is committed to providing technical
support and leadership to the Organization's Member States as they pursue their goal of Health for All and the values therein.

The headquarters of the Organization is located in Washington, D.C. In addition, the Organization has Representative Offices
throughout the Americas, which are in charge of implementing its values, mission, and vision.

2. Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Pan American Health Organization have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS),* using the historical cost convention except for
land and buildings which are shown at fair value. Where an IPSAS does not address a particular issue, the appropriate Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) has been applied.

The Financial Statements of the Organization were certified and approved for issue by the Director of the Organization under
the authority vested in her by the Pan American Sanitary Conference, as stated in Resolution CSP29.R10 in September 2017.
The issuance approval is the date of the External Auditor’s Report. No other authority has the power to amend the Financial
Statements after issuance.

The functional and reporting currency of the Organization is the United States Dollar (USS). Disclosed amounts in the Financial
Statements and charts for the Explanatory Notes are rounded in order to be expressed in thousands. The rounding practices
may result in tables that may not sum precisely to the rounded totals or the supporting notes.

These financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Organization is a going concern and will continue in
operation and fulfill its mandate for the foreseeable future. The Governing Bodies of the Organization or Member States indi-
vidually have not communicated any intention to terminate the Organization or cease its operations, or decrease the funding
allocated to its activities.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the financial performance of PAHO will depend on future developments, including (i)
the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the
effects on the global economy, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be reliably predicted. Where evident PAHO's finan-
cial performance for the 2020 financial year, the financial impact has been disclosed within the relevant financial statement
notes affected.

1 https://www.ipsasb.org/publications/2019-handbook-international-public-sector-accounting-pronouncements
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In accordance with IPSAS 1, a complete set of financial statements has been prepared as follows:

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Financial Performance

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Cash Flow Statement

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other relevant information.

hO o0 T W

2.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, which are financial assets, comprise cash on hand, cash at banks, money markets and short-term
deposits with original maturities of 90 days or less. For an investment to qualify as a cash equivalent, it must be convertible to
a known amount of cash and be subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Short-term deposits are stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest income recognized on an
effective yield basis.

Cash and Cash Equivalents are held for purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes.
23 Investments

Investments are financial assets and are recognized when the Organization becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
investment. Investments are classified as either available for sale or held to maturity. Available-for-sale investments are ac-
counted for on a purchase date basis. Held to maturity investments are recognized on settlement date.

Investments are classified as being available for sale where the Organization has not committed to hold such items to maturity.
Available-for-sale items are stated at fair value (including transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset) with value changes recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets. Available-for-sale assets are actively
traded on the market, and the valuation of these assets is determined by price quotes on the open market for identical financial
instruments. Impairment losses are recognized when the book value of an asset exceeds the fair market value on other than a
temporary basis. PAHO monitors the fair market value of its investments periodically and investigates the underlying cause of a
decline in value. The investment policy specifies credit rating limitations. If the impairment is the result of a credit downgrade
below investment policy guidelines, the Investment Committee will take action.

Impairment charges and interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in the surplus or deficit. When an
available-for-sale asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets
is included in the surplus or deficit for the period.

Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Organization
has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are comprised of U.S. agency paper such as that
of the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac).

Held-to-maturity investments are stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest income recognized
on an effective yield basis in the Statement of Financial Performance.

2.4 Loans and Receivables

Loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market are classified as
loans and receivables. Loans and other receivables are stated at amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method,
less any impairment.
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Interest income is recognized on the effective interest basis, other than for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

25 Risk Management Policies

The Organization holds funds not required for immediate operating needs as investments in order to earn revenue on surplus
liquidity which, in accordance with Financial Regulations X and Xl and Financial Rules X and XI of the Pan American Health Organ-
ization, funds a portion of the Program and Budget. Investments are made subject to the Organization’s Investment Policy, which
prescribes guidelines intended to protect invested principal, maintain adequate liquidity, and realize a return commensurate
with investment risk constraints. Policy guidelines define duration, diversity and credit quality, which are consistent with limiting
credit, market, and interest rate risk exposures. The Organization’s credit risk is mitigated by Investment Policies that impose
limits on the amount of credit exposure to any-one-counterparty, limiting investments in a single non-government issuer to no
more than 25%.

In accordance with the Investment Policy requirements, internally managed investments are restricted to A1/P1 and AAA/Aaa
rated financial instruments. Fixed Income Notes consist primarily of U.S. Agency Paper which carries the implicit guarantee of
the U.S. Government.

Funds placed with external investment managers are restricted to instruments rated A1/P1 or BBB- credit quality or higher in
accordance with their mandates. Mechanisms are in place to divest the portfolio of an investment that falls below the minimum
requirements. In the event a security’s rating falls below the minimum requirements for credit quality, the external manager
immediately notifies PAHO.

Maximum maturity for the short-term investment of operating cash is not to exceed one year. Long-term investment of strategic
funds is limited to an effective maturity of no more than five years. Long-term investments for Termination and Repatriation
Entitlements (TAREP) trust are limited to an effective maturity of no more than 15 years.

Depository accounts are held at financial institutions with investment grade ratings by primary rating agencies, where such rat-
ings exist. In instances in which no rating is available, the overall financial strength of the institution is evaluated prior to depos-
iting funds in the institution. Non-U.S. dollar accounts are monitored daily to ensure that balances are kept at minimum operating
requirements levels.

The PAHO Investment Committee approves financial instruments, as well as partner financial institutions, in accordance with the
Investment Policy guidelines noted above in order to mitigate credit risk.

2.6 Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not traded in an active
market. Current receivables are for amounts due within 12 months of the reporting date, while non-current receivables are those
that are due more than 12 months from the reporting date of the financial statements. Receivables are stated at amortized cost
calculated using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses (which are recognized in the Statement of Financial
Performance). However, for current receivables there is no material difference between the amortized costs; thus, these receiv-
ables have been recognized at cost less any impairment losses. The decision to impair a receivable is based upon an analysis of
the age of the receivable and the circumstances surrounding the third-party relationship. The calculation of the impairment will
be based on a percentage of the total receivable at risk.

The Directing Council resolution CD58.R7 approved in September 2020 allows the Director to establish a reserve for doubtful
accounts for Assessed Contributions considered to be at risk. The Financial Regulations and Rules do not include Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts within Miscellaneous Revenue for PAHO Assessed Contributions and Miscellaneous Revenue. Therefore, the
Decrease/(Increase) in Allowance for Doubtful Accounts has been moved from Miscellaneous Revenue to Other Revenue. This
change will allow consistency along all funds.
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Receivables from exchange transactions are recognized when the Organization is owed assets or services (usually in the form of
cash) arising from a transaction that directly gives approximately equal value to another entity in exchange.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions are established when the Organization is owed assets or services (usually in the
form of cash) that arise from a transaction that does not directly give approximately equal value in exchange; or the Organization
has given value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

The main types of receivables are:

e Assessed Contributions (non-exchange transactions): These are formal commitments from Member and Participat-
ing States and Associate Members for the biennial budget period. Assessed contributions are recognized as receiva-
bles when they fall due and payable on 1 January of each year, to be paid in annual installments. There is no provision
in the Financial Regulations to write off an assessed contribution. Financial Regulation 13.6 permits the Director to
establish a reserve for doubtful accounts when such accounts are not expected to be settled within 12 months of the
date of the annual financial report, and no payment plan has been established for such accounts.

e Tax Equalization Fund (non-exchange transactions) Receivables under the Tax Equalization Fund: These are due
from Member States that levy income tax on emoluments received from the Organization by their nationals or others
liable to such taxes and are included in the Assessed Contributions of the Member State. The estimated amount to
be levied by those Member States are used by the Organization to reimburse income tax paid by the staff concerned.

e Voluntary Contributions (non-exchange transactions): The Organization enters into Voluntary Contribution agree-
ments which are comprised of (1) the Voluntary Contributions, which includes financial resources from governments,
and private and public sector organizations governments (PAHO-Member States and Non-PAHO Member States);
international organizations (United Nations and non-United Nations); for profit organizations; non-government or-
ganizations; foundations, and other Voluntary Contributions; (2) the National Voluntary Contributions, which in-
cludes financial resources from governments exclusively for internal projects; and (3) the Voluntary Contributions-
Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Fund, which includes financial resources from governments, and private
and public sector organizations (PAHO-Member States and Non-PAHO Member States); international organizations
(United Nations and non-United Nations); for profit organizations; non-government organizations; foundations, and
other Voluntary Contributions. Upon signature by both parties and approval by the Organization’s Office of Legal
Counsel, the full value of the agreement is recognized as a receivable and as deferred revenue (Note 2.13).

To determine the current portion of accounts receivable from Voluntary Contributions as of 31 December 2020, the
Organization classified all the accounts receivable balances of Voluntary Contributions expiring prior to 31 December
2021, as well as those Voluntary Contributions with an indefinite status, as current accounts receivable. In addition,
accounts receivable balances of Voluntary Contributions agreements extending beyond 2021 were allocated be-
tween current and non-current accounts receivable using a straight-line calculation based on the number of years
remaining. The non-current portion of accounts receivable will reflect the balance of the total accounts receivable
amount for Voluntary Contributions, less the calculation of the current accounts receivable.

e  Procurement of Public Health Supplies (exchange transactions): The Procurement of Public Health Supplies is critical
to the Organization to achieve its mission of supporting Member States through technical cooperation for public
health programs, including the procurement of vaccines and syringes, medical supplies, diagnostic kits, medications,
and equipment.

The accounts receivable from the Member States in the Procurement of Public Health Supplies is comprised of two
funds: The Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines and the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Sup-
plies. Receivables are established for each participating Member State upon notification that goods were delivered
by the supplier and payment to the supplier has been approved. This triggers the issuance of an invoice addressed
to the relevant Member State.
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e Inter-organization Funding Activities: The Inter-organization accounts receivable represents the amount due
to/from the World Health Organization as the net result of inter-agency transactions.

e Advances to Staff: Advances are made to individuals in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the
Organization for entitlements (i.e., education grants, travel, income tax settlements, insurance claims, etc.) and are
recognized as receivables, until they are charged to expense upon receipt of the required claim or supporting docu-
mentation.

The Organization processes uncollectable receivables based on the delegation of authority regarding the amounts to be written
off.

2.7 Inventories

Medications and medical supplies owned and controlled by the Organization are recorded as inventories with the intention that
they be held for distribution in the ordinary course of operations. They are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value at
the end of the financial period. The Organization-owned medications and medical supplies, derived from the Organization’s
tracking systems, are validated by physical stock counts. These medications and medical supplies are expensed when distributed
directly by the Organization or handed over to government or non-government institutions. Inventories held for distribution
without charge are valued at the lower of cost or replacement cost. PAHO established an inventory of COVID-19 related medical
supplies recorded under the PAHO Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Fund during 2020 to assist in the pandemic relief
effort.

2.8 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment assets with a value greater than the $20 000 threshold are recognized as non-current assets in
the Statement of Financial Position. They are initially recognized at cost, unless acquired through a non-exchange transaction, in
which case they are recognized at fair value as of the date of acquisition. The Organization applies the cost model to its plant
and equipment—i.e. the items are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The
Organization applies the revaluation model to land and buildings only.

The Organization considers all its Property, Plant and Equipment to be non-cash generating assets.
Depreciation is charged on property, plant, and equipment (except for land) to write down the cost/fair value of the asset to its

residual value over the estimated useful life, using the straight-line method with a half year’s depreciation charged in the year
of acquisition. The estimated useful lives for fixed asset classes are as follows:

Assets Class and Description Estimated Useful Life

Buildings 40 years
Mobile Buildings 5 years
Computer Equipment 3 years
Office Equipment 3 years
Motor Vehicle 5years
Audio Visual Equipment 3years
Lease-hold Improvements 3years
Office Fixtures and Fitting 3years

Property, plant, or equipment procured with Voluntary Contributions on behalf of a project are not the Organization’s assets
and are meant solely for the use of the project beneficiary. The Organization is the implementing agent and is responsible simply
for the disposition of the items within the terms of the agreement. The Organization does not retain ownership of these items;
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therefore, these items are expensed at the time of purchase. If the items are not consumed within the project period, the final
disposition will be determined by the donor.

The Organization will periodically revalue its land and buildings, including leased property. External experts will be utilized to de-
termine updated market value directly by reference to observable prices in an active market or recent market transactions on
arm’s length terms. All improvements, renovations, etc. made to the buildings since the prior appraisal will be expensed in the
year they occur and included in the future revaluation.

Leasehold improvements are recognized as assets and valued at cost and depreciated over the lesser of the remaining useful life
of the improvements or the lease term.

Donated land and buildings are valued at fair market value and recognized as non-current assets.
2.9 Leases

The Organization leases various office premises for the Representative Offices throughout the Americas. These are all cancelable
agreements. Total annual lease payments have been disclosed in Note 16 on Expenses as a footnote.

2.10 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, which are above the pre-established thresholds of $30 000 for intangible assets purchased externally and
$100 000 for intangible assets developed in-house, are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and any impair-
ment losses. Amortization is determined for intangible assets over their estimated useful life using the straight-line method.
Amortization is charged on Intangible Assets to write down the cost/fair value of the asset to its residual value over the estimated
useful life, using the straight-line method, with a full year’s amortization charged in the year of acquisition.

Amortization is charged to write down the cost/fair value of the intangible asset to its residual value over the estimated useful
life, using the straight-line method with a half year’s amortization charged in the year of acquisition. The estimated useful lives
for Intangibles classes are as follows:

Class Estimated useful life (years)

Software acquired externally 7
Internally developed software 5
Licenses and rights, copyrights and otherintangible assets 3

211 Accounts Payable

Accounts Payables are financial liabilities in respect of goods or services that have been received by the Organization and are
recognized at amortized cost, which for payables are equal to cost. Accounts payable include the following:

e Amounts due to donors, partners, and stakeholders representing the unspent Voluntary Contributions for
expired agreements.

e Theinter-organization accounts payable represent the amount due from the Organization to the World Health
Organization as the net result of inter-agency transactions.

e Invoices received and approved for payment but not yet paid.

2.12  Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities are financial liabilities in respect of goods or services that have been received or provided to the Organization
during the reporting period and that have not yet been invoiced, or invoices have been received but not approved for payment.
They are recognized at amortized cost, which for accruals are equal to cost.
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2.13 Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue derives from legally binding agreements between the Organization and partners, such as governments (PAHO-
Member States and Non-PAHO Member States); international organizations (United Nations and non-United Nations); for profit
organizations; non-government organizations; foundations, and other Voluntary Contributions, where the partners provide fund-
ing to the Organization to support technical cooperation initiatives (voluntary contributions).

Deferred revenue is recognized when (1) a contractual agreement is confirmed in writing by both parties—i.e., the Organization
and the donors, partners, or stakeholders, and (2) the funds are conditional and determined by factors like:

=  The agreement has a stated purpose.

=  The agreement has a budget.

=  The agreement has an effective date and an end date.

=  The agreement requires technical and financial reporting.

=  Funds provided under the agreement must be used for activities as required/described in the agreement or
be returned to the donor.

= Upon completion, any unused funds will be returned to the donor, partner, or stakeholder.

Revenue is recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance based on the level of funds implemented during the financial
period.

Funds received from governments and institutions participating in the Procurement of Public Health Supplies, in advance of the
procurement of the goods, are treated as deferred revenue. Once confirmation is received that goods were delivered by the
supplier and payment to the supplier has been approved, the revenue is recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance.

To determine the current portion of deferred revenue from Voluntary Contributions as of 31 December 2020, the Organization
classified all the deferred revenue balances of Voluntary Contributions expiring prior to 31 December 2021, as well as those
grants with an indefinite status, as current deferred revenue. In addition, deferred revenue balances of Voluntary Contributions
agreements extending beyond 2021 were allocated between current and non- current deferred revenue using a straight-line
calculation based on the number of years remaining. The non-current portion of deferred revenue will reflect the balance of the
total deferred revenue amount for Voluntary Contributions, less the calculation of the current deferred revenue.

2.14 Employee Benefits

The Organization recognizes expenses and liabilities in respect of the following employee benefits:

1) Employee benefits earned in the current financial period are current liabilities recognized at an undiscounted cost.
2) Post-employment benefits— e.g., ASHI-are recognized at present value of the liability.
3) Other separation-related employee benefits are recognized at present value of the liability.

The Organization contracts the actuarial services of external experts to determine the appropriate level of liability for financial
reporting purposes (i.e. the present value of the defined benefit obligations) as well as the service cost and interest cost for the
current fiscal period. This information is also used to calculate different contribution percentages to be applied for staff costs.

In addition, the Organization uses this information for investment purposes to ensure that the TAREP Plan’s investments meet
the liquidity requirements of the respective liabilities. The PAHO Investment Committee reviews information from the Human
Resource plans in order to determine the appropriate level of investments and liquidity for the Trust.

2.15 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are made for future liabilities and expenses where the Organization has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events, and it is probable that the Organization will be required to settle the obligation, and the value can be
reliably measured.
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Other commitments that do not meet the recognition criteria for liabilities are disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements
as contingent liabilities when their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events that are not wholly within the control of the Organization or the value cannot be reliably estimated.

2.16 Revenue

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by the Organization during
the year that represent an increase in net assets. The Organization recognizes revenue following the criteria established by
IPSAS 9, “Revenue from Exchange Transactions,” and IPSAS 23, “Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions.”

Exchange transactions are transactions in which the Organization receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and
directly gives approximately equal value primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets to another entity in
exchange.

In a non-exchange transaction, the Organization either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately
equal value in exchange or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

The main sources of revenue for the Organization include but are not limited to: Assessed Contributions, Voluntary Contributions,
Procurement of Public Health Supplies, Other Revenue, and Miscellaneous Revenue.

* Revenue from Assessed Contributions (non-exchange transactions). Revenue from assessed contributions is recognized
as of 1 January of each year when the Member States’ assessed contribution commitment to the Organization becomes
due and payable.

* Revenue from Voluntary Contributions (non-exchange transactions). Voluntary Contributions, confirmed in writing by
both parties, are recognized as receivables and deferred revenue (liabilities) because these funding agreements are
conditional. As the Voluntary Contribution projects are implemented, the deferred revenue is then recognized as revenue.
Voluntary Contributions categories are explained in Note 2.6.

* Revenue from the Procurement of Public Health Supplies (exchange transactions). Revenue is recognized in respect of
the procurement of public health supplies, because the Organization bears the risks and rewards of the purchased goods.
Revenue on these transactions is recognized upon notification that goods were delivered by the supplier and payment to
the supplier has been approved. The Procurement of Public Health Supplies is comprised of three funds: the Revolving
Fund for Access to Vaccines; Reimbursable Procurement on Behalf of Member States; and the Regional Revolving Fund
for Strategic Public Health Supplies. (See Note 2.6 Accounts Receivables, in respect of the Revolving Funds, and Note 2.13
Deferred Revenue, in respect of Reimbursable Procurement).

* WHO Allocations (non-exchange transactions). As the Regional Office of the Americas (AMRO) of the World Health
Organization, the Organization receives funding allocations from WHO for the implementation of technical cooperation
activities.

Funds received by the Organization from WHO include the following allocations:

= Allocation of WHO Assessed Contributions budget
= Allocations of WHO voluntary contributions
= Allocations of other WHO internal funds

* Other Revenue (exchange transactions). The Organization, under its specific mandates, carries out other technical
cooperation activities for which revenue is separately disclosed. These activities include the following: sales of services
and program support costs.

* Miscellaneous Revenue (exchange transactions). Miscellaneous revenue includes foreign currency revaluations,
exchange rate gains and losses, interest earned, realized and unrealized gains and losses, and gains and losses from the
sale of property, plant, and equipment.



Page 34

* Special Activities Segment. Special Activities are activities approved by the Organization’s Governing Bodies for specific
objectives and entitlements (i.e., staff entitlements, terminal entitlements, and after-service health insurance). Therefore,
all employee benefits liabilities have been included in this segment.

2.17 Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

The functional and reporting currency of the Organization is the United States dollar (USS). Transactions in currencies other than
USS are converted to USS at the prevailing market rate at the time of the transaction. The Organization has determined that the
United Nations Operational Rates of Exchange (UNORE) are aligned closely with the prevailing market rates due to frequent
analysis and adjustments and thus function as an approximation of the market rate at the time of the transaction. At the end of
each reporting period, the Organization analyzes the performance of the UNORE in comparison with the prevailing market rate
in order to determine the alignment and make any required adjustments. Assets and liabilities in currencies other than USS are
converted to USS at the prevailing market rate at the end of the reporting period. Resulting gains or losses are accounted for in
the Statement of Financial Performance within Miscellaneous Revenue.

2.18 Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which financial information is reported separately in order to
evaluate an entity’s past performance in achieving its objectives and to make decisions about the future allocation of resources.

The following segments were identified to provide a better understanding of the different activities of the Organization:

Core Activities Segment—Activities critical to the Organization’s Strategic Plan that are mandated and appropriated by the
Organization’s Governing Bodies (i.e., activities funded with assessed contributions and other revenue for Program and Budget
activities).

Partnership Activities Segment—Activities aligned with the Organization’s Strategic Plan and supported by partners, donors,
and stakeholders (i.e., activities developed in partnership with external donors who provide the voluntary contributions and to
whom the technical and financial reports are provided).

Enterprise Activities Segment—Activities performed by the Organization to strengthen technical cooperation with the minis-
tries of health and facilitate their access to essential public health supplies (i.e., procurement activities funded by the Member
States for the access to essential public health supplies).

Special Activities Segment—Activities approved by the Organization’s Governing Bodies for specific objectives and entitle-
ments. (i.e., staff entitlements, terminal entitlements, health insurance).

Intra-Party Segment- In every financial period, the Organization processes internal transactions not involving the use of cash
(transfers) within any given segment and between different segments (i.e., Program Support Cost, Provision for Termination and
Repatriation Entitlements, After-Service Health Insurance Fund, Master Capital Investment Fund, etc.). The effect of these trans-
fers is an over-statement (duplication) of both revenue and expense by the same amount, which are valued at the cost incurred
at the time of the original transaction. The Inter-Party Transactions column in the Statement of Financial Performance allows for
the elimination of such duplication.

2.19 Budget comparison

The Organization’s Governing Bodies approve the Biennial Program and Budget Plan, which includes assessed contributions,
projected voluntary funds, and estimated miscellaneous revenue. The Biennial Program and Budget Plan may subsequently be
amended by the Governing Bodies.
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The Organization prepares the budget on the accrual basis excluding depreciation and amortization.

Although PAHO's budget is approved by its Governing Bodies on a biennial basis, for reporting purposes the budget has been
apportioned at 50% for each fiscal year.

2.20 In-Kind Contributions

In-kind contributions of services that support approved operations and activities, including the use of premises, utilities, person-
nel, transportation services, etc., are identified by categories of services under the respective Member State providing the in-
kind contribution during the reporting accounting period. These are not recognized in the financial statements because the fair
value of the services or assets cannot be reliably measured.

Donated land and buildings are recognized on the Statement of Financial Position at fair market value.

Donated inventories are capitalized subject to the materiality and conditions of the goods. The Organization will only accept
donated goods in alignment with its core activities.

2.21 Potential Impact of IPSAS to be adopted in future periods

The Organization will recognize and disclose its financial instruments, assets and payables as mandated by IPSAS 41 — Financial
instruments. The potential impact has not been fully determined. The effective date for this standard was deferred to 1 January
2023 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Organization will review IPSAS 42 — Social Benefits to determine its applicability. This review will be done in cooperation with
the United Nations Task Force on Accounting Standards. The effective date for this standard was deferred to 1 January 2023 due

to the COVID-19 pandemic.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Cash on Hand, USS 305 964 136 479
Cash on Hand, Other Currencies 8 305 9 627
Money Market Funds 49 282 53 397
Less: Plan Assets (6 206) (10 577)

Total 357 346 188 926

As a result of low interest rates resulting from the pandemic, as well as the ongoing financial uncertainty, PAHO has maintained
a higher level of cash than previous years.

4. Investments

Despite the recent financial performance of the markets due to COVID-19, PAHO's investment policy has mitigated the associated
risk by stipulating high-quality assets aimed at preserving principal.

There has been an overall decline in investment income of $10 million. The steep decline was caused by the lower interest rates
in 2020 due, in part, to the economic situation brought about by the pandemic. There have been no impairments of investment
assets held during this period in any of the pooled cash resources invested.



Page 36

4.1 Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are those with final maturities at purchase below 365 days.

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Certificates of Deposit 188 236 247 034
Total 188 236 247 034

Accrued interest of $79 950 (2019: $680 607) is included in the balance of short-term investments in the Statement of Financial
Position and recognized as Miscellaneous Revenue on the Statement of Financial Performance.

4.2 Long-Term Investments

Long-term fixed income notes within the Organization’s general portfolio are held to maturity and stated at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Long-term fixed income notes within the Termination and Repatriation Entitlements (TAREP)
portfolio, comprising the plan assets held in an irrevocable trust, are stated at fair value with value changes recognized in the
fund balance.

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Net Increase in Long-term Investments

Increase (decrease) in Long-term Investments 64 123 42 304
Unrealized Net (Gains)/Losses (4662) (6906)
Net Increase in Long-term Investments 59 462 35 397

Cash Flows from Long-term Investments

Interest Revenue 8720 10 163
Realized Net Gains/(Losses) 1253 863
Cash Flows from Long-term Investments 9974 11 026
Valuation of Long-term Investments 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Cost Market Cost Market

Fixed Income Notes 13 030 13031 1564 1565
Managed Portfolios 477 232 485 672 417 771 421 548
Less: Plan Assets (13 030) (13 031) (1564) (1565)
Total 477 232 485 672 417 771 421 548

Long-term fixed income instruments held in the TAREP portfolio are issued by the U.S. Government. Accrued interest of $31 764
has been included in the balance of long-term investments and recognized on the Statement of Financial Performance as Mis-
cellaneous Revenue.

Managed Portfolios are classified as available for sale and stated at fair value. The market value above includes accrued interest
of $1 490 315 (2019: $1 928 177) recognized on the Statement of Financial Performance as Miscellaneous Revenue. Total gains
(losses) on managed portfolios are comprised of the cumulative gain or loss and the incremental change in value at the point of
sale or maturity. Total gains (losses) are on the Statement of Financial Performance as Miscellaneous Revenue.

Within the managed portfolios, temporary cash balances are the result of repositioning, rebalancing or natural maturities. At
31 December 2020, the cash balance was $96 342 219.
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5. Financial Instruments

5.1 Nature of Financial Instruments

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition and de-recognition, the
basis of measurement, and the basis on which gains, and losses are recognized in respect of each class of financial asset and

financial liability, are set out in Note 2.3.

2020 2020 2019 2019

Amortized Fair Market Amortized Fair Market
Cost Value Cost Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents 357 346 188 926
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Plan Assets) 6 206 10577
Short-term Investments
Certificates of Deposit (held to maturity) 188 236 247 034
Long-term Investments
Fixed Income Notes (Plan Assets) 13 031 1565
Managed Portfolios (available forsale) 485 672 421 548
Accounts Receivable 316 249 329 687
Accounts Payable 22 440 13 826
Total 890 477 498 702 790 050 423 114

5.2 Interest Rate Risk

The Organization is exposed to interest rate risk through both short-term and long-term investments. Principal amounts are
stated at amortized cost for investments held to maturity and at fair value for investments available for sale.

Effective Effective Fixed Floating Non-Interest
Maturity Interest Rate Interest Interest Bearing
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents <90 days 0.09% 228 296 49 282 85974
Short-term Investment
Certificates of Deposit 75,76 days 0.70% 188 236
Long-term Investments
Plan Assets 0,88 years 1.83% 13 031
Managed Portfolios 1,63 years 0.46% 485 672
Total 915 234 49 282 85974

The Organization holds certain fixed income notes that the issuer has a right to redeem prior to the maturity date.

Callable Instruments

Issuer Principal Rate Maturity Call Dates

Federal Home Loan Bank ' 13 001 1.83% 16-Nov-35 16-Nov-21

1This represents Principal only and does not include accrued interest of $29 731.
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Changes in market interest rate impact the fair value and future cash flows of investment instruments. This impact is irrelevant
for held-to-maturity investments but would affect the Statement of Financial Position for available-for-sale fixed rate invest-
ments and the Statement of Financial Performance for floating rate available-for-sale investments. The portion of PAHO's avail-
able-for-sale portfolio comprised of floating rate instruments is insignificant, and rate fluctuations would not have a material
effect. However, a market rate shift for fixed rate available-for-sale investments could materially impact the Statement of Fi-
nancial Position.

A fluctuation of market interest rates of 100 basis points would have the following impact on the fair market value of fixed rate
available-for-sale investments:

Fair Market Value of Increase Change in Decrease Change in

fixed rate investments of 100 Fair of 100 Fair
at 12-31-20 basis points Market Value basis points Market Value

485 790 477 896 (7894) 493 805 8016

5.3 Credit Risk

The maximum credit risk represents the carrying amount of loans and receivables. PAHO's investment guidelines stipulate limits
on the amount of credit exposure to any one counterparty. However, there may be some counterparty risk associated with the
concentration of financial instruments and cash deposits in the banking sector. These significant concentrations in the banking
sector equal 66% of the total cash, short-term and long-term investments.

While there are no significant changes to the credit allocations within the portfolios, there is a slight increase toward cash holdings
in 2020.

Credit Rating 2020 2019
Cash and Cash Equivalents 102 548 20.4% 83 202 19.3%
AAA 281 221 55.9% 194 677 45.1%
AA 50 299 10.0% 43 235 10.0%
A 55159 11.0% 94 343 21.8%
BBB 14 279 2.8% 16 347 3.8%
Other 100 0.0%
Total 503 507 100% 431 904 100%

The minimum credit quality requirements for all investments, as defined by the Investment Policy, falls within the investment
grade range. Although the credit rating of the U.S. Government was downgraded from its historical AAA rating by one credit
rating agency in 2012, there is no evidence to suggest that the borrower will default on these obligations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents includes $6 206 056 held in the TAREP Money Market.
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PAHQ’s long-term investments and managed portfolios are held as follows:

Investment Type 2020 2019
Money Market Funds 10 631 19 476
Government & U.S. Agency Issues 243 351 202 030
Mortgage-backed and Asset-backed Securities 17 474 17 163
Corporate Notes 191 747 146 815
Bank Deposits 40 304 46 420
Total Long Term Investments 503 507 431 904

The majority of accounts receivables are due from PAHO Member States for Assessed Contributions, Voluntary Contributions,
and Member States participating in the Procurement Funds. In accordance with IPSAS and PAHO's accounting policy, all receiv-
ables have been reviewed to determine any counterparty risk. Impairments totaling $30.1 million have been recognized in 2020
resulting in total impairments of $36.5 million (see Note 6).

5.4 Exchange Rate Risk

The Statement of Financial Position does not reflect significant exposure to exchange rate risk as foreign currency deposits at
any given time are either immaterial or are designated for foreign currency expenditures. During the course of the year, a small
percentage of expenditure (8%) is disbursed in currencies other than the United States dollar. These disbursements are not
hedged but are met by local currency receipts and the purchase of local currency as needed in the market at the time of dis-
bursement

Contributions may be received in foreign currency, provided the amount can be absorbed by country offices within a thirty day
window. The majority of funds held in Brazilian accounts are committed to specific programs that stipulate disbursements in
local currency within six months. An exception to the Cash Management Guidelines, which limit the balance of local currency
maintained locally, was approved by the Investment Committee for the Brazilian program to eliminate the need to enter the
market to buy or sell local currency. Due to the depreciation of the Brazilian Real and declining interest rates, the Investment
Committee determined that risk of net exchange losses had increased such that local currency exposure should be limited to
only 30 days of disbursement requirements.

Local currency deposits held in Cuba and Venezuela totaling approximately $1.5 million are subject to restrictions that make it
difficult to repatriate those funds to PAHO headquarters. These restrictions increase the exchange risk for the Organiza-
tion. PAHO has taken the necessary steps to mitigate risk and continues to look for foreign exchange alternatives. PAHO local
currency balances beyond those mentioned above are minimal.

Exchange risk associated with Accounts Receivables are mitigated through individual fund policy governing the acceptance of
local currency. Exchange differences are either absorbed by the Member State or Donor or, in the case of the Procurement
Funds, absorbed as administrative expense. Exchange Risk associated with material Accounts Payables is managed on a case by
case basis to mitigate any negative impact on the Organization.
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6. Accounts Receivable

Total Total
31 December 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 31 December 2019

Total

1See Note 6.1
2See Note 6.2
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6.1 Accounts Receivable from Assessed Contributions

Total
Arrears 2019

TOTAL * 21177 63 390 84 568 88 872

* Assessed Contributions outstanding totaled $84.6 million, a decrease of $4.3 million over 2019. As a result, the Organization used the
full balance of the Working Capital Fund, and $17.0 million in funds from other unrestricted internal sources. PAHO has formally re-
quested all Member States to pay their current assessment and arrears as early as possible in 2021 in order to ensure continuity of the
Organization’s operations.
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6.2 Movement in the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivables

Increase /
Description 31 December 2019 (Decrease) 31 December 2020
Assessed Contributions 21769 21769
Other ACP (e.g. VAT) 1248 1248
Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines 5971 5728 11 699
Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies 360 1031 1391

PROMESS

TOTAL * 6331 30138 36 469

* The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is still being evaluated and there is no evidence or reliable indicators of the need to impair assets as a
result of the pandemic.

7. Inventories
During year 2020 and due to the Covid19 pandemics, PAHO established an inventory of related medical supplies recorded under

the PAHO Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief Fund. In addition, PAHO also recorded inventories for PANAFTOSA and
CLAP which pertain to their specific activities of sales of services. PALTEX terminated operations in 2019.

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

PROMESS 1110
CLAP Sundry Sales and Services 28
PAHO Emergency Preparedness & Disaster Relief 10 192
PANAFTOSA - Pan American Foot and Mouth
Disease Center Services 355
Expanded Textbook and Instructional Materials
Program 8 652
Ending Balance of inventory 11 458 1762

1The expanded Textbook and Instructional Materials Program ended 2019 and the remaining inventory was donated and written off in 2020.
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Office

Fixture &
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Costas of 1January
Additions
Disposals
Impairments
Adjustments
Net Revaluations
Cost as of 31 December
Depreciation as of 1 January
Charged in current period
Disposals
Adjustments
Net Revaluations
Depreciation as of 31 December
Net book value as of
31 December 2020

Fittings

Fixture &

Costas of 1January
Additions
Disposals
Adjustments
Cost as of 31 December
Depreciation as of 1January
Charged in current period
Disposals
Adjustments
Depreciation as of 31 December
Net book value as of
31 December 2019

64 026

64 026

Computer Office
Buildings Equipment Equipment
64 026 49 220 611 188
61
( 559) ( 31)
43 468 (17 826)
107 494 31394 52 218
5238 611 169
1419 18
( 559) ( 31)
(6657)
52 156
107 494 31394 62
Office
Computer Office
Buildings Equipment  Equipment Fittings
44 867 635 200
5022 23
( 669) ( 24)
49 220 611 188
3940 635 157
1357 16
(159) (24)
(4)
5238 611 169
43 982 19

64 026

35
35

26

Motor
Vehicles
35 3026
322 99
(35)
357 3 090
9 1884
40 400
(51)
49 2233
308 857
Motor Audio Visual
Vehicles Equipment
2 905 317
455
( 334)
3026 317
1761 317
411
( 288)
1884 317
1142

Audio Visual Mobile
Equipment Buildings

317 27 117 450

482
(227) ( 852)
25642

90 27 142 722

317 27 8 255
1877
( 227) ( 868)
(6657)

920 27 2 607

140 115

Leasehold
Improve- Mobile
ments Buildings

266 27 113 243

5500

( 266) (1293)

27 117 450

266 24 7 100

3 1792

( 266) ( 637)

27 8 255

109 195

1/ Net revaluation on land for $43,468 gain and revaluation on liability of Brazil land for $863 loss are reflected in the Statement of changes in Net Assets for the total amount of $42,604. Net
revaluation on buildings for $ 17,826 loss and reversal of accumulated depreciation for $6,657 gain, are reflected in the Statement of Financial Performance for the total amount of $11,169

as expense.
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8.1 Transferred Assets with Conditions

In accordance with the donation document filed in Public Record, the Government of Brazil Development Company for the New
Capital of Brazil, Successors and Assigns granted PAHO ownership of the land on which the PAHO/WHO Representative Office
buildings in Brazil are located. The document further stipulates that PAHO may not transfer, rent, or lend the donated land under
penalty of revocation of the donation. In the event that the land is sold for the same purpose (i.e., establishment of a headquar-
ters facility), PAHO must obtain written consent from the Government and pay the Government the present value of the land.
This does not include the buildings and other immovable property thereon. Because of the restriction on the sale of the land and
the requirement to pay the Government of Brazil the present value of the land, the Organization recognized such property in
the Statement of Financial Position as both an asset and a liability (Note 11).

8.2 Revaluation of Land and Buildings

Following the Organization’s Accounting Policies (Note 2.8), a revaluation exercise is performed every five years. A full revalua-
tion was performed in 2020 by and independent valuer with experience in valuation, assessment, advisory, consulting services
and affiliations with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), the Appraisal Institute of Canada, and Urban Land Insti-
tute (ULI).

The appraisal amounts for each property of the Organization are as follows:

2020 Appraisal

Statement Financial
Changes Performance
Buildings Reference Fund * 1January 2020 in Net Assets Statement Total 31 December 2020

Argentina ACP 1 600 ( 840) ( 840) 760
Barbados ACP 2332 18 18 2350
Brazil ACP 4418 (1243) (1243) 3175
Jamaica ACP 1464 236 236 1700
Guatemala MCIF 1768 682 682 2450
Guyana ACP 614 ( 201) ( 201) 413
Haiti ACP 1061 ( 11) (11) 1050
Washington DC - 525 23rd St. ACP 28 110 (28 110) (28 110)
Washington DC - 2021 Virginia Ave. MCIF 5022 13478 13478 18 500
Paraguay ACP 464 221 221 685
Peru ACP 1441 (1441) (1441)
Venezuela ACP 926 ( 615) ( 615) 311
Sub-total Buildings Note 8 49 220 (17 826) (17 826) 31394

Land
Brazil ACP 7796 863 863 8659
Haiti ACP 1229 (1029) (1029) 200
Washington DC ACP 44 440 50 060 50 060 94 500
Peru ACP 8914 (5 144) (5 144) 3770
Venezuela ACP 1647 (1282) (1282) 365
Sub-total Land Note 8 ACP 64 026 43 468 43 468 107 494

Total 113 246 43 468 (17 826) 25 642 138 888
Reversed Cumulative Depreciation

on buildings Note 8 6 657

Brazil land liability revaluation Note 11 ( 863)

Total 42 604 (11 169)

*ACP: PAHO Assessed Contributions and Miscellaneous
MCIF: Master Capital Investment Fund
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Land Building
Effective date of the revaluation December 2020 December 2020
Independent valuer was involved Yes Yes

Fair value in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, Global Edition of the RICS
Valuation-Professional Standards 2017 (Red Book), and International Public Sector Accounting Standards IPSAS.

Valuation has been performed after identifying market data and trends in the regional and local economy,
neighborhood land uses, supplyand demand of competitive space, comparable rental and sale transactions, and
market capitalization rates forincome producing properties.

Methods and significant assumptions

applied in estimating the assets’ fair Washington DC HQ 23rd Street Building and Peru Buildings are valued at zero based on the market and

values neighborhood analysis, concluding that the highest and best use of the properties would be the development of
new buildings by an investor (land speculation) or a developer.

The valuation of the PAHO Headquarters building on 23rd Street NW, Washington DC included an assumption that
the building is not legally protected as a historical landmark. No such determination has been made as of the
date of approval of the financial statements, and itis therefore reasonable to value the building under its current
status.

In appraisal practice, an approach to value is included or omitted based on its applicability to the property type
being valued and the quality and quantity of information available. For some individual properties more than
one of the following three valuations approaches were applied and an average taken.

The cost approach was used for Barbados, Brazil, Jamaica, Guyana and Haiti. It is based on the proposition that
the informed purchaser would pay no more for the subject than the cost to produce a substitute property with
equivalent utility. This approach is particularly applicable when the property being appraised involves relatively
new improvements that represent the highest and best use of the land, or when it is improved with relatively
unique or specialized improvements for which there exist few sales or leases of comparable properties.

The extent to which the assets’ fairvalues

were determined directly by reference to  The sales comparison approach was used for Guatemala, Guyana, Washington DC, Paraguay, Peru, and Venezuela.

observable prices in an active marketor  This approach utilizes sales of comparable properties, adjusted for differences , to indicate a value for the

recent market transactions on arm’s subject. Valuation is typically accomplished using physical units of comparison such as price per square
length terms or were estimated using meter/foot, price per unit, price per floor, etc, or economic units of comparison such as gross rent multiplier.
other valuation techniques Adjustments are applied to the physical units of comparison derived from the comparable sale. The unit of

comparison chosen for the subject is then used to yield a total value. Economic units of comparison are not
adjusted, but rather analyzed as to relevant differences, with the final estimate derived based on the general
comparisons.

The income capitalization approach was used for Argentina, Barbados, Jamaica, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti,
Washington DC, Paraguay, and Peru. This approach reflects the subject’s income-producing capabilities. This
approach is based on the assumption that value is created by the expectation of benefits to be derived in the
future. Specifically estimated is the amountan investor would be willing to pay to receive an income stream plus
reversion value from a property over a period of time.

The sum of all revaluation surpluses for

individual items within the class:

Surplus/(Deficit) 43 468 (17 826)
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9. Intangible Assets

The Organization separately discloses Intangible Assets that are available for use and subject to amortization.

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Total Intangible Assets

10. Accrued Liabilities

Total Total
31 December 2020 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 31 December 2019
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11. Accounts Payable

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Current
Assessed Contributions Received in Advance 10428 106
Voluntary Contributions Expired Agreements 596 434
Procurement of Public Health Supplies 2143 27
Balance due to the World Health Organization
due to inter-agency transactions 9151
Miscellaneous 9273 4108
Total 22 440 13 826

Non-Current
Liability Restricted Assets-Land in Brasilia,
Brazil (Note 8.2) 8 659 7 796

Total ) 7796

12. Employee Benefits

Under the Staff Rules of the Pan American Health Organization, the Organization provides employee benefits that can be cate-
gorized as short-term liabilities and others that can be categorized as long-term liabilities. The employee benefits categorized
as short-term liabilities are the education grant, education grant travel, and the assignment grant. The employee benefits that
can be categorized as long-term liabilities include certain terminal payments, such as payment for annual leave, the repatriation
grant, repatriation travel, or other separation indemnities, as appropriate.

Annual leave balances increased due to the impact of staff not taking their planned leave entitlements in 2020 as a result of the
pandemic and travel limitations as a means to contain the pandemic. Furthermore, the normal limitation on carry-forward of
annual leave balances has been relaxed at year end. Leave accrues during service and can be carried over from one calendar
year to the next. The carryover payment is capped at 60 days of accrued leave.

In order to accrue the funds required for these short-term and long-term liabilities, the Organization has established three funds:
12.1 The Staff Entitlements Fund

Established in January 2008, funds the short-term liabilities of the education grant, education grant travel, and assignment grant.
This fund receives monthly apportionments from organizational contributions calculated from payroll.

12.2  The After-Service Health Insurance Fund (ASHI)

Established in 2010, reflects the financing and liability of the Organization for current and prior staff members’ health insurance
for future years. This fund is part of the Staff Health Insurance Fund of the World Health Organization (WHO) administered by
the Global Oversight Committee (GOC) which advises the Director General of WHO. The GOC reviews the operations and the
financial status of the SHI, including levels of benefits and contributions, reviews the financial stability and the adequacy of the
financial reserve, reviews the annual report and overall performance, organizes periodic actuarial studies, and approve the un-
derlying assumptions, reviews the actuarial reports, and recommends any required changes to the SHI, and reviews the external
and internal auditors’ reports. PAHO management has a permanent member and PAHO staff has a rotating representation.
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A Global Standing Committee is established to decide on medical claims referred to it in accordance with the SHI rules, and
recommends to the GOC any proposed amendments to the SHI rules and practices of the SHI. PAHO has a representative.

PAHO reports all activity related to this Fund (i.e. revenue collected from contributions of the Organization) to the Staff Health
Insurance (SHI) Secretariat. The SHI Secretariat annually discloses in the SHI Report the total Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) of
the Fund and discloses the portion of the DBO attributable to the active staff and retirees of each of the participating organiza-
tions. Anagreement between WHO and PAHO established in 2016 delegated authority to WHO to administer PAHO'’s plan assets
for the SHI. PAHO and WHO performed a census review and a study of criteria for allocation of the ASHI costs and liabilities in
2019 and, based on an agreement with the SHI Secretariat, reflected the results in the SHI financial reports available in
https://www.who.int/about/finances-accountability/reports/SHI Annual Report 2019.pdf

Activity related to the Defined Benefit Obligation is obtained through an annual global actuarial report prepared for the SHI
Secretariat by an independent actuary. The report discloses segregated activity for each of the participating organizations of the
SHI, including PAHO. The actuarial report for this year covers several mandatory disclosures in accordance with paragraphs 141
and 149 from IPSAS 39 as follows:

141(a) (i) The Staff Health Insurance (SHI) reimburses expenses related to health care and associated administrative costs for
eligible staff members, retirees, and their dependents/survivors. The ASHI is the portion of the SHI that covers retirees
and their dependents/survivors.

(i) The SHI is not subject to any outside regulatory framework. PAHO's overall financing is governed by input from its
Member States.
(iii) The Global Oversight Committee (GOC) governs the overall Staff Health Insurance. The GOC generally holds periodic
meetings, which include monitoring of the historical experience and analysis of potential changes to plan design and
administration.

141(b) The principal economic financial risks faced by the plan are changes to discount rates, rates of future general inflation
and medical cost increases, and asset returns.

141(c) During 2020, the SHI GOC amended the plan to absorb future increases in contribution rates. Previously the growth in
total after-service contribution percentages was expected to be shared proportionately between PAHO and partici-
pants. Now, this growth is borne entirely by PAHO with an impact of $29.5 million and it is reflected as plan amendment
impacting the 2020 expenses.

141(d) The discount rate is based on the yields on high-grade corporate bonds at the measurement date and the expected cash
flows and assumed currency exposure. The U.N. Task Force recommends yield curves for the U.N. retiree medical valu-
ations. PAHO applies these yield curves for its valuation as it reflects the market rates at the time of the valuation.

149(a) As a participating organization of the SHI, PAHO is not legally obligated to set aside funds in advance for the plan. The
GOC’s has expressed the intention to eventually accumulate funds to approximately fully fund the accounting liability.
The primary mechanism for achieving this goal is making steady increases to contributions to the overall SHI Fund,
building up assets. The GOC continues to monitor this strategy and reserves the right to make future changes to it.

12.3 The Termination and Repatriation Entitlements Fund (TAREP)

Established in April 1972, reflects the financing and liability of the Organization for terminal entitlements, including annual leave,
repatriation grant, repatriation travel, and household removal. The activity of the Defined Benefit Obligation is obtained through
an annual actuarial report prepared by an independent actuary. The actuarial report for this year contains the following manda-
tory disclosures in accordance with paragraphs 141 and 149 from IPSAS 39 as follows:

141(a) (i)The Termination and Repatriation Entitlements Plan provides certain benefits upon separation, including accrued
leave payments; repatriation, disability, and death benefits; and termination indemnities.

141(a) (ii)The TAREP is not subject to any outside regulatory framework, but PAHO's overall financing is governed by input from
its member nations.

141(a) (iii)There is no formal governance committee for the TAREP. PAHO’s management oversees the operations of the TAREP,
in accordance with the staff rules.
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141(b) The principal economic financial risks faced by the plans are changes to discount rates and asset returns.
141(d) The discount rate is developed for benefits other than accrued leave, based on the market yields on high-grade corpo-

149(a)

12.4

rate bonds at the measurement date and the plan’s expected cash flows and assumed currency exposure.

See the “Actuarial Assumptions and Methods” (Note 12.6) of this report for more details about the discount rate selec-
tion process.

PAHO is not legally obligated to set aside funds in advance for the plan. Nevertheless, the TAREP fund has a balance of
$19 236 718 in assets. In addition, the Organization has a balance of $2 462 251 in the Provision for Terminal Payments
Fund, which is available to cover current and future termination indemnities. PAHO’s current intention is to hold assets
to approximately fully fund the accounting liability over time.

Net Defined Benefit Obligation

As of 31 December, 2020, the status of the current and non-current defined benefit obligations per calculations of the actuarial
consultants are as follows:

12,5

After-Service Termination and
Health Repatriation
Insurance Entitlements
Fund Fund
Current Liability 2 386 2 386 3368
Non-current Liability 330330 2232 332 562 274 173
Total 330 330 4 618 334 948 277 541

Gain and losses (unexpected changes in surplus or deficit) are recognized immediately on the balance sheet and do not
impact past or future expense.

There is no reimbursement right.

The expected Organization’s contributions during 2021 are estimated at $10 974 000 for After-Service Health Insur-
ance Fund and $1 151 607 for Termination and Repatriation Entitlements Fund.

Actuarial Valuations of Post-Employment and Other Separation-Related Benefits

During 2020, the rates of contribution to these two long-term funds were 5% of net base pay plus post adjustment being cred-
ited to the Termination and Repatriation Fund, and 4% of the base pay credited to the After-Service Health Insurance Fund.
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12.6

Other long-term employee benefits consist of home leave travel, which is accrued on a monthly basis. Employees entitled to

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

this benefit are meant to earn it and take it every two years.

Accounting Standard
Measurement Date

Discount Rate
General Inflation

Medical Costs Increases

Future Participant Contribution
Rate Changes

Life Expectancy

Average Medical Costs

After-Service Termination and Repatriation En-
Health Insurance Fund titlements Fund

International Public Sector Accounting Standard 39
31 December 2020

29%

U.S.—4.7% in 2021, decreasing
gradually to 3.65% in 2032 and
later years.

Non-U.S. Americas—5.85% in
2021, decreasing gradually to
3.65% in 2036 and later years.

Participants are anticipated to
remain at the current percent-
ages of the final pay of pension.

1.9%

20%

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Mortality rates match the rates recommended by the U.N. Task Force via

harmonization guidance.

U.S. and non-U.S. costs projected
from recent experience, ad-
justed for market trends and for
SHI cost savings measures

Not Applicable

The following tables provide additional information and analysis on employee benefits liabilities calculated by actuaries.
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12.7  Actuarial summary for the After-Service Health Insurance Fund and the Termination and Repatriation
Entitlements Fund

After-Service Termination and
Health Repatriation

Insurance Entitlements
Fund Fund

Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation

Defined Benefit Obligation (beginning balance) 338 665 19434 358 099 278 610
Service Cost 9581 1999 11 580 7 367
Interest on Defined Benefit Obligation 11 385 517 11 902 12 193
Actual After Service Gross Benefit Payments and

Medicare Reimbursements (10579) (3034) (13 613) ( 16 030)
Actual After Service Administrative Expenses ( 826) ( 826) ( 769)
Actual Contributions by After Service Participants 2 746 2746 2 661
Plan Amendments Adopted 29 465 29 465 (8 016)
Changes in Accounting Methods 6991 6991
(Gain)/Loss on DBO due to Financial Assumption Changes 35091 190 35281 46 321
(Gain)/Loss on DBO due to Other Assumption Changes (5126) (5126)

Interests On Incurred_But-Not-Paid Reserve 299 299

(Gain)/Loss on DBO ON Incurred_But-Not-Paid Reserve (2136) (2242) (4378) 35762
Defined Benefit Obligation as of 31 December 2020 408 565 23 855 432 420 358 099
Reconciliation of Plan Assets

Market Value of Plan Assets (beginning balance) 68 417 12 142 80 559 75382
Gross Benefit Payments and Medicare Reimbursements (18 659) (3034) (21 693) (25 792)
SHI Administrative Expenses ( 1490) ( 1490) (1334)
SHI Contributions by Participants 6 692 6 692 6 966
Organization Contributions, Excluding 4% of Pay Contributions 13 417 10 034 23451 15 397
Organization Additional Contributions 2 157 2157 2225
Interest on Net Assets 2381 361 2742 3304
Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets 5321 ( 266) 5 055 4411
Plan Assets as of 31 December 2020 78 236 19 237 97 473 80 559

Reconciliation of Funded Status
Defined Benefit Obligation

Active 173 056 23 855 196 911 157 977
Incurred but not paid 228 794 228 794 8 553
Inactive 6 716 6716 191 571
Total Defined Benefit Obligation 408 566 23 855 432 421 358 101
Plan Assets

Gross Plan Assets 78 236 19 237 97 473 80 559
Total plan assets 78 236 19 237 97 473 80 559
Net Liability (Asset) Recognized in Statement of Financial Position

Current 2 386 2386 3368
Non-current 330 330 2232 332 562 274 173
Total Net Liability (Asset) Recognized in Statement of Financial Position 330330 4618 334 948 277 541
Expenses for 2020

Service Cost 9 581 1999 11 580 7 367
Interest Cost 9303 156 9 459 8 889
Plan Amendments Adopted 29 465 29 465 (8016)
Total Expense Recognized in Statement of Financial Performance 48 349 2155 50 504 8 240

Expected Contributions during 2021

Contributions by / for Active Staff, Net of Claims / Admin Costs 4 809 4 809 3256
Contributios by WHO for Inactives 6 165 1152 7 317 9 106
Net Transfer by WHO to Cover PAHO Deficit
Total expected contributions for 2021 10 974 1152 12 126 12 362

Note: From the total annual actuarial activity totaling $64 502 011 (2019: $74 391 215), $13 636 186 (2019: $66 152 117) is disclosed in the
Statement of Changes in Net Assets, and $50 865 825 (2019: $8 239 098) is disclosed the Statement of Financial Performance.

In addition to the Plan Assets held in the TAREP trust, the Organization has a balance of $2.5 million in the Provision for Terminal Payments
Fund, to cover current and future termination indemnities.
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The ASHI DBO changed from $338.7 million in 2019 to $408.6 million in 2020 due to an increase of $35.1 million attributable to
the change in the discount rate from 3.5% to 2.9% and an increase of $29.5 million due to an amendment to the plan approved
by the GOC: previously, the growth in total (PAHO plus participant) after-service contribution percentages was shared propor-
tionately between PAHO and participants; now, this growth is borne entirely by PAHO.

The TAREP DBO changed from $19.4 million in 2019 to $23.9 million in 2020 due to changes in the discount rate from 2.8% to
1.9%, and an increase in the assumed utilization of termination indemnities.

12.8 Medical Sensitivity Analysis and Discount Rate Sensitivity Analysis - After-Service Health Insurance*

Three of the principal assumptions in the valuation of the After-Service Medical Plan are: 1) the rate at which medical costs are
expected to change in the future; 2) the return on the assets; and 3) the discount rate used to determine the present value of
benefits that will be paid from the plan in the future. Because the medical inflation rate and the discount rate have a very
significant impact on the determination of the Organization’s long-term valuation, it is helpful to conduct sensitivity analysis on
them. The sensitivity analysis identifies the impact that the medical inflation rate and the discount rate variables will have on
the total valuation. The independent actuary study determined the impact of increasing or decreasing assumptions on the valu-
ation.

Defined Benefit Defined Benefit

Obligation as of Obligation as of
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Medical Sensitivity Analysis

Current Medical Inflation Assumption Minus 1% 333 651 287 814
Current Medical Inflation Assumption 408 566 338 666
Current Medical Inflation Assumption Plus 1% 504 963 404 490

Discount Rate Sensitivity Analysis

Current Discount Rate Assumption Minus 1% 497 891 406 326
Current Discount Rate Assumption: 408 566 338 666
Current Discount Rate Assumption Plus 1% 341 287 287 194

*The Sensitivity Analyses above do not address the Termination and Repatriation Entitlements Fund because the benefits from this Fund are
distributed upon retirement or shortly thereafter.

12.9 United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund

PAHO is a member organization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (the “Fund”), which was established
by the United Nations General Assembly to provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to employees. The Fund is
a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan. As specified in Article 3(b) of the Regulations of the Fund, membership in the
Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other international, intergovernmental organization which participates
in the common system of salaries, allowances and other conditions of service of the United Nations and the specialized agencies.

The Fund exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of other or-
ganizations participating in the Fund, with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation,
plan assets and costs to individual organizations participating in the Fund. PAHO and the Fund, in line with the other participating
organizations in the Fund, are not in a position to identify PAHQO’s proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan
assets and the costs associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence, PAHO has treated this
plan as if it were a defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits. PAHO’s contributions
to the Fund during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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The Fund'’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuarial valuation made of the Fund at least once every three
years by the Consulting Actuary. The practice of the Pension Board has been to carry out an actuarial valuation every two years
using the Open Group Aggregate Method. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine whether the current
and estimated future assets of the Fund will be sufficient to meet its liabilities.

PAHQ'’s financial obligation to the Fund consists of its mandated contribution, at the rate established by the United Nations
General Assembly (currently at 7.9% for participants and 15.8% for member organizations) together with any share of any actu-
arial deficiency payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Pension Fund. Such deficiency payments are only payable if
and when the United Nations General Assembly has invoked the provision of Article 26, following determination that there is a
requirement for deficiency payments based on an assessment of the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund as of the valuation date.
Each member organization shall contribute to this deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions which each
paid during the three years preceding the valuation date.

The latest actuarial valuation for the Fund was completed as of 31 December 2019, and a roll forward of the participation data
as of 31 December 2019 to 31 December 2020 will be used by the Fund for its 2020 financial statements.

The actuarial valuation as of 31 December 2019 resulted in a funded ratio of actuarial assets to actuarial liabilities, assuming no
future pension adjustments, of 144.2% (139.2% in the 2017 valuation). The funded ratio was 107.1% (102.7% in the 2017 valua-
tion) when the current system of pension adjustments was taken into account.

After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary concluded that there was no requirement, as of 31
December 2019, for deficiency payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Fund as the actuarial value of assets exceeded
the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under the plan. In addition, the market value of assets also exceeded the actuarial
value of all accrued liabilities as of the valuation date. At the time of this report, the General Assembly has not invoked the
provision of Article 26.

Should Article 26 be invoked due to an actuarial deficiency, either during the ongoing operation or due to the termination of the
Fund, deficiency payments required from each member organization would be based upon the proportion of that member or-
ganization’s contributions to the total contributions paid to the Fund during the three years preceding the valuation date. Total
contributions paid to the Fund during the preceding three years (2017, 2018 and 2019) amounted to USD 24 472 741, USD 25
689 009, and USD 26 725 648, respectively, of which 67% was contributed by PAHO.

During 2020, contributions paid to the Fund by PAHO amounted to USD 17 531 103 (2019 USD 17 814 119). Expected contribu-
tions due in 2021 are approximately USD 18 057 000.

Membership of the Fund may be terminated by decision of the United Nations General Assembly, upon the affirmative recom-
mendation of the Pension Board. A proportionate share of the total assets of the Fund at the date of termination shall be paid
to the former member organization for the exclusive benefit of its staff who were participants in the Fund at that date, pursuant
to an arrangement mutually agreed between the organization and the Fund. The amount is determined by the United Nations
Joint Staff Pension Board based on an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Fund on the date of termination; no
part of the assets which are in excess of the liabilities are included in the amount.

The United Nations Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the Fund and reports to the Pension Board and to the United
Nations General Assembly on the audit every year. The Fund publishes quarterly reports on its investments and these can be
viewed by visiting the Fund at www.unjspf.org.
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13. Deferred Revenue

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Current

Voluntary Contributions
Voluntary Contributions - Emergency Preparedness

and Disaster Relief 33342 8277
Voluntary Contributions 94 479 69 720
Voluntary Contributions - National Voluntary Contributions 139 297 111 182

Procurement of Public Health Supplies

Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines 277 230 313 708
Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public
Health Supplies 121 125 59 018
Reimbursable Procurement 6 264 925
Income from Services 465 492
Total 672 202 563 322

Non-Current

Voluntary Contributions

Voluntary Contributions 48 439 61 588
Voluntary Contributions - National Voluntary Contributions 104 414 99 761
Total 152 853 161 349

14. Fund Balances and Reserves

Fund balances represent the unexpended portion of contributions that are intended to be utilized in future operational require-
ments of the programs or projects.

Reserves are established by the Governing Bodies as facilities for funding and/or financing the Organization’s programs and
projects. They currently are:

=  Working Capital Fund

=  Tax Equalization Fund

= Master Capital Investment Fund

= Special Fund for Program Support Costs

= Voluntary Contributions — Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief
= Special Fund for Health Promotion

= Budgetary Surplus Fund

=  Epidemic Emergency Fund

= PMIS Funding PAHO IPSAS Surplus Fund

= Revenue Surplus Fund
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Balance
Balance Actuarial as of
as of Valuation/ 31 December
31 December 2019  Revenue Expenses Transfers Revaluation 2020

Fund Balances:
Strategic Public Health Supplies-Capitalization 19944 185998 181 866 24.076
After-Service Health Insurance (270249) 48351 (12731) (330331)
Voluntary Contributions 37 45 898 45 898 37
Voluntary Contributions - National Voluntary

Contributions (14 387) 57 206 54042 (11223)
Income from Services 6393 3102 2308 600 2/ 1781
Provision for Staff Entitlements 3870 (2914) 6784
Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines 209 864 748 619 735471 223012
Reimbursable Procurement 1578 1578
PAHO Assessed Contributions and Miscellaneous

Revenue 95 444 89 822 91271 42 604 136 599
Provision for Termination and Repatriation Entitlements v 3672 9% 1406 (11905) 456
PAHO Post Occupancy Charge 8690 148 8542
Expanded Textbook and Instructional Materials Program 653 (222) 432
SHI Senvicing Costs 605 605
AMRO Regular Budget 46633 46 633
AMRO Voluntary Funds for Health Promotion 103 987 103 987
AMRO Special Account for Servicing Costs 3574 3574

Subtotal 63931 1286896 1314656 600 28 968 65739

Reserves:
Working Capital Fund 25000 3709 7 28709
Tax Equalization Fund 2128 8075 6992 3211
Master Capital Investment Fund 25393 251 (13 474) 4651 Y 43769
Special Fund for Program Support 108 107 16 843 9727 115223
Voluntary Contributions - Emergency

Preparedness and Disaster Relief 2756 28019 17796 12979
Special Fund for Health Promotion 802 9 811
Budgetary Surplus Fund 2587 (2455) U 132
Epidemic Emergency Fund 537 503 1000 7 1034
PMIS Funding PAHO IPSAS Surplus Fund 2102 2102
Revenue Surplus Fund 7505 (7505) Y

Subtotal 176 917 53197 21544 ( 600) 207970
Total 240 848 1340093 1336200 28 968 273709

/This Fund Balance is comprised by $-4 618 686 for the Terminal & Repatriation Entitlement Plan (see note 12.7); for the PAHO Provision for
Terminal Entitlements; and $2 617 303 for the Local Non-UN Terminal Benefits Fund (LNTBF).

2/ |t represents transfers from 2018-2019 Revenue Surplus Fund balance to Master Capital Investment Fund (MCIF), PAHO Emergency Epidemic
Fund, Income from Services Fund — Health in the Americas and Working Capital Fund according to Directing Council CD58.11 and CD58.12.
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14.1 Working Capital Fund and Internal Borrowing

The Working Capital Fund was established for the primary purpose of providing funds as required to finance the Program and
Budget pending receipt of contributions from Member and Participating States and Associate Members.

The 58th Directing Council, per Resolution CD58.R1 dated 28 September 2020, approved an increase in the authorized level from
$25 million to $50 million.

In accordance with Financial Regulation 4.5, any deficit of revenue over expenses of the Program and Budget appropriation at
the end of the current budgetary period shall be funded first by the Working Capital Fund to the extent possible, and then by
borrowing or by other authorized means. Non-budgetary items, such as depreciation, amortization and contributions in-kind,
do not constitute part of the Program and Budget and are therefore excluded from revenue and expense for the purposes of
calculating the Program and Budget Appropriation surplus or deficit.

Total as of
Total as of 31 December 2019
Reference 31 December 2020  (Biennium 2018-2019)

Balance as of 1 January - Biennium 25 000 21717
2018 Surplus / (Deficit) ( 830)
2019 Surplus / (Deficit) 16 506
Surplus / (Deficit) 15 676
2018 Non-budgetary Items * 2343
2019 Non-budgetary Items ! (4956)
Non-budgetary items ! (2613)
2020 Transfer from Budgetary Surplus Fund - CD 58/11 2 455
2020 Transfer from Revenue Surplus Fund - CD 58/12 1254
2019 Transfer from Closing of Funds 180
2019 Transfer to Revenue Surplus Fund (7 505)
2019 Transfer to Budgetary Surplus Fund (2455)
Total Transfers Note 14 3709 (9780)
Program and Budget Appropriation Surplus/(Deficit) 3283

Balance as of 31 December ’ 28 709 25 000

1 Non-budgetary Items are comprised, of but not limited to, depreciation, amortization and in-kind contributions.
22020 it is an Interim closure; therefore, Budgetary Surplus and Revenue Surplus will be recognized at the end of biennium 2020-2021.

Due to the delay in the receipt of Member States' Assessed Contributions, the Organization fully utilized the $28.7 million balance
of the Working Capital Fund, as well as an additional $17 million in funds from other unrestricted internal sources. Therefore,
the Organization began 2021 with a seriously reduced balance of resources to implement the 2020 - 2021 Program and Budget
until such time as Member States meet their financial commitments to the Organization.
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14.2  Tax Equalization Fund

The Tax Equalization Fund, as established by Resolution CD18.R7 of the 18th Directing Council (1968), is credited with the reve-
nue derived from the staff assessment plan. The credits to the Fund are recorded in the name of each Member State in propor-
tion to its assessment for the financial period concerned and reduced by the amount needed to reimburse income taxes levied
by the Member State on Organization staff. Adjustments are made in the next financial period to take account of the actual
charges in respect of amounts reimbursed to staff members who are subject to national taxes.

Member States participating in the Tax Equalization Fund had the following balances at the end of the reporting period.

Available
Balance Credits from the Apportionment to Cover Tax Taxes Balance
Member 1January Tax Equalization to Reimbursements Reimbursed 31 December
States 2020 Fund Member States to Staff to Staff 2020
Canada 20 1543 1503 40 42 18
Colombia 16 258 258 16
United States 2072 9 356 1356 8 000 6 945 3127
Venezuela 20 305 270 35 6 49
Other 4277 4277
Total 2128 15 739 7 664 8 075 6993 3210

There is no outstanding accounts receivable for the Tax Equalization Fund because the liabilities for the reimbursement of in-
come taxes are included in the accounts receivable for assessed contributions due from the relevant Member States.

143 Master Capital Investment Fund

The Organization’s Master Capital Investment Fund (MCIF) was established by Resolution CSP27. R19 of the 27th Pan American
Sanitary Conference, 59th Session of the Regional Committee, in October 2007. This fund was initially created with two
sub-funds, Real Estate and Equipment, and Information Technology, in lieu of the Organization’s Building Fund and the Capital
Equipment Fund, effective 1 January 2008. The purpose of the Fund is to finance the repairs of the Organization’s office buildings
and the systematic replacement of computer and telecommunications equipment software and systems to support the Organi-
zation’s information technology infrastructure.

In 2012, under Resolution CSP28.R17 of the 28th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 64th Session of the Regional Committee of
WHO for the Americas, the establishment of three additional sub-funds was authorized: Real Estate Maintenance and Improve-
ment, Revolving Strategic Real Estate and Vehicle Replacement. In 2020, the properties held in the MCIF were revalued. The
revaluation impact of $14.6 million along with a transfer of $4.6 million from the Revenue Surplus Fund is attributed to the $18.4
million increase in the fund balance. For more details on the status of the fund and its utilization, revenue, and investment plan
and operational expense in Headquarters please see document SPBA15/11 at https://www.paho.org/en/documents/spbal511-
update-master-capital-investment-fund

14.4 Special Fund for Program Support Costs

The Special Fund for Program Support Costs was established in 1976 by the Director under the authority of Financial Regulation
9.3 (originally 6.7) and subsequently reaffirmed by Resolution CSP20.R32 of the 20th Pan American Sanitary Conference (1978).

The fund is used to cover indirect costs associated with the management of voluntary contributions. Considering the strategic
needs of the Organization and at the discretion of the Director, part of the income credited during a biennium plus balances
available from previous periods are made available to finance the Program Budget. Remaining balances are reserved for any
contingencies.
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Reimbursable Procurement is charged a service charge based on the value of procurement, and this income is credited to this
fund.

14.5 Voluntary Contributions — Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Relief

In accordance with Resolution CD24.R10 of the 24th Directing Council (1976), the Special Fund for Natural Disaster Relief was
created to provide funds that can be used promptly by the Organization’s Health Emergencies Department (PHE). During periods
of an officially declared emergency, the Director of PHE, in coordination with the Department of Planning, Budget and Evaluation
(PBE), Financial Resource Management (FRM), and under the general supervision of the Director, authorizes the advance of
funds to be used temporarily while agreements are authorized and signed. These advances are totally recovered through trans-
fer of expenses done once the agreements are properly registered in the accounts.

14.6  Special Fund for Health Promotion

At its 13th Meeting in 1961, the Directing Council established the Special Fund for Health Promotion, with the objective of
strengthening the health program of the Americas.

14.7 Epidemic Emergency Fund

The Epidemic Emergency Fund was established by Resolution CSP28.R16 of the 28th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 64th
Session of the Regional Committee. This fund is used as a revolving fund to advance monies to affected countries in the event of
an epidemic outbreak or public health emergency. Advanced funds would be recovered from appeals and other forms of volun-
tary contributions received in response to the emergency.

In case the fund is depleted and with concurrence of PAHO Governing Bodies, the Director may allocate part of the Organization’s
revenue surplus (if any) to replenish the fund.

14.8 Pan American Sanitary Bureau Management Information System (PMIS) Fund

The Pan American Sanitary Bureau Management Information System (PMIS) Fund was established by Resolution CSP28.R16 of
the 28th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 64th Session of the Regional Committee. The PMIS fund was established for the
implementation of enterprise resource planning (ERP) software for the Organization.

14.9 Budgetary Surplus

The Financial Regulations, approved by Resolution CD49.R1 of the 49th Directing Council, 61st Session of the Regional Commit-
tee, stipulate that “Any balance of the Regular Budget appropriation not committed by the end of the current budgetary period,
shall be used to replenish the Working Capital Fund to its authorized level, after which any balance will be available for subse-
guent use in accordance with the resolutions adopted by the Conference or Directing Council.”

14.10 Revenue Surplus

The Financial Regulations approved by Resolution CD49.R1 of the 49th Directing Council, 61st Session of the Regional Committee,
stipulate that “Any excess of revenue over the Regular Budget appropriation at the end of a budgetary period shall be considered
a revenue surplus and shall be available for use in subsequent periods to cover the unfunded portion of the Strategic Plan, as
determined by the Director and with the concurrence of the Subcommittee on Program, Budget, and Administration”.
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15. Revenue

Total 1340 093 1194116

Y The Organization received considerable funding in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in these three revenue items.
2/ See Note 6.2
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16. Expenses

Total Total
2020 2019
Staff and Other Personnel Costs
International and National Staff ' 173 925 134 268
Temporary Staff 7577 9239
Subtotal 181 502 143 507
Supplies, Commodities, Materials
Vaccines / Syringes / Cold Chain 735 471 746 967
Medications and Medical Supplies 2 183 444 70 965
Other Goods and Supplies 48 541 33 837
Subtotal 967 456 851 769
Depreciation, Amortization, and Revaluation
Depreciation / Amortization 2 086 1990
Proper‘cylmpairment3 11169
Subtotal 13 255 1990
Contract Services
Contracts 85 440 99 487
Subtotal 85 440 99 487
Travel
Duty Travel * 9836 34 767
Subtotal 9 836 34 767
Transfers and Grants to Counterparts
Letters of Agreements 4 864 20077
Pandemic Medical Supplies to Member States ° 56 032
Subtotal 60 896 20 077
General Operating Costs and Other Direct Costs
Maintenance, Security and Insurance ¢ 17 815 23333
Increase in Provisions 14 387
Subtotal 17 815 37720
Total 1336 200 1189317

Y Includes: salary costs ($3.3 million decrease vs. 2019), ASHI actuarial impact ($42.2 million increase vs. 2019).

2 |ncreased due to the medical supplies and materials purchased through the Strategic Fund in response to the COVID-19 emergency.

3/ See Note 8.2

4 Travel expenses decreased by 71.8%, from $34.8 million in 2019 to $9.8 million in 2020 primarily as a result of travel bans and restrictions,
the cancellation or postponement of duty travel.

5/ The increase is attributed to $56.0 million of medical supplies and materials donated to Member Governments in support of pandemic relief.

6/ Reflects staff teleworking, impact on maintenance costs during the COVID-19 pandemic along with the elimination of office space leases due
to the 2019 purchase of the VA Avenue building.
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17. Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

In accordance with IPSAS 24, variances between budget and actual amounts must be reconciled. Explanations should be pro-
vided in accordance with the following categories:

Basis Differences: Occur when the budget and the financial statements are prepared in different basis (i.e. budget prepared in
cash basis and financial statements prepared in accrual basis). For the case of PAHO although the budget is prepared on accrual
basis some expenses are not included (e.g. depreciation, amortization and cost of goods sold).

Timing Differences: Occur when the budget period differs from the period reflected in the financial statements. PAHO's budget
is prepared on biennial basis although its financial statements are prepared on annual basis.

Presentation Differences: Occur from format and classification schemes used in the presentation of the cash flow and the com-
parison of budget and actual amounts (i.e. investing and financing activities shown in the Statement of Cash Flow but not budg-
eted).

Entity Differences include actual expenses for programs not reflected in the budget. These programs are classified as Non-
Program and Budget. Programs under the Non-Program and Budget classification include but are not limited to: National +Vol-
untary Contributions, Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines, PAHO After-Service Health Insurance Fund, Post Occupancy Charge
Fund and the Expanded Textbook and Instructional Materials Program.

17.1 Reconciliation between Cash Flow Activity and Actual Expenses Reported in the Statement of Budget
and Actual Amounts

The reconciliation between the actual amounts on a comparable basis in the Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts and the
actual amounts in the Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2020 is presented below:

Investing

Actual Amount on comparable basis from Statement
of Budget and Actual Amounts (306 427) ( 306 427)

Basis Differences 36 633 36 633

Timing Differences

Presentation Differences (5885) (5 885)
Entity Differences 444 098 444 098
TOTAL 174 305 (@-%:1:19] 168 420

17.2  Reconciliation between Total Expenses (net) Reported in the Statement of Financial Performance and
the Expenses reported in the Comparison Budget and Actual Amounts (Program and Budget).

Activity Total

Actual Amount on comparable basis from
Statement of Budget and Actual Amounts 306 427

Basis Differences 13 254
Timing Differences

Presentation Differences

Entity Differences 1016 519
TOTAL 1336 200
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17.3 2020 Expenses vs Funding

Outcome No
Base Programs
OUTCOME 1

OUTCOME 2
OUTCOME 3
OUTCOME 4

OUTCOME 5

OUTCOME 6

OUTCOME 7

OUTCOME 8

OUTCOME 9

OUTCOME 10
OUTCOME 11
OUTCOME 12
OUTCOME 13
OUTCOME 14
OUTCOME 15
OUTCOME 16
OUTCOME 17
OUTCOME 18
OUTCOME 19
OUTCOME 20
OUTCOME 21
OUTCOME 22

OUTCOME 23

OUTCOME 24
OUTCOME 25

OUTCOME 26

OUTCOME 27
OUTCOME 28

Outcome short title

Access to comprehensive and quality health
services

Health throughout the life course

Quality care for older people

Response capacity for communicable diseases
Access to services for NCDs and mental health
conditions

Response capacity forviolence and injuries
Health workforce

Access to health technologies

Strengthened stewardship and governance
Increased public financing for health
Strengthened financial protection

Risk factors for communicable diseases

Risk factors for NCDs

Malnutrition

Intersectoral response to violence and injuries
Intersectoral action on mental health
Elimination of communicable diseases

Social and environmental determinants
Health promotion and intersectoral action
Integrated information systems for health
Data, information, knowledge, and evidence
Research, ethics, and innovation for health
Health emergencies preparedness and risk
reduction

Epidemic and pandemic prevention and control
Health Emergencies Detection and Response
Cross-Cutting Themes: Equity, Ethnicity, Gender,
and Human Rights

Leadership and governance

Management and administration

Subtotal - Base Programs

Foot and mouth disease elimination program
Smart hospitals

Outbreak and crisis response

Polio eradication maintenance

Subtotal - Special programs

TOTAL - Program Budget

Funds Available as
of 31 Dec

[a] [b]

12 069
12176

1641
38 165

11013
957
6368
19 034
4828
2115
1477
10375
8 875
2587
1254
1812
12050
9434
2162
6573
9280
1993

13923
13233
26 081

3109
40 995
56 514

330093
5326
28 736
156 149
54

190 265

Expenditures

5896
6663
734
22447

6 004

3752
9858
1982

895

628
5716
3588
1378

711
1175
7 080
5163

968
3609
5808
1128

5215
5349
9284

2160
32578
33963

184 355
3348
9316

109 374

33

122 071

[c]

FY 2020 FY 2021

O OO0 OO0 O0OO0O0OO0OO0OOo0OOoOOoOOoO oo oo © O © o

o

o o

o O o o

Total 20-21
Expenditures

[d] = [b] +[c]

5896
6663
734
22 447

6 004

622
3752
9858
1982

895

628
5716
3588
1378

711
1175
7 080
5163

968
3609
5808
1128

5 2il5
5349
9284

2 160
32578
33963

184 355
3348
9316

109 374

B3

122 071

Total 20-21
Expenditures as

% of Funds
Available

[e]=[d]/[a]

49%
55%
45%
59%

55%
65%
59%
52%
41%
42%
42%
55%
40%
53%
57%
65%
59%
55%
45%
55%
63%
57%

37%
40%
36%

69%
79%
60%

56%
63%
32%
70%
62%

64%

s s0az 06 427

This Note serves as a supplement to the standardized information presented in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts.
Given that the approved PAHO budget is typically not fully funded, it is useful to compare expenses and accrued amounts vs funding ("Funds
Available") as shown in the table above, as well as compared to approved budget (envelopes or ceilings) as shown in the Statement of Com-
parison of Budget and Actual Amounts.

In addition to the assigned amounts shown in the table, as of the date of the report, there were $213.8 million available and not assigned to

workplans. Most of this amount is explained by undistributed flexible funds for salaries in 2021.

The implementation level for the PB in FY 2020 was mostly driven by Special Programs, due to the overwhelming focus of the Organization on
the COVID-19 response effort. Base programs show an implementation of only 30% due to: (i) cost containment measures taken as a conse-
quence of the financial situation regarding flexible funds, and (ii) further reductions in travel and other expenses due to the COVID-19 Pan-
demic in 2020. In contrast, expenses in special programs show high levels of implementation, driven by available resources for outbreak and
crisis response. Depending on the evolution of the COVID-19 crisis, it is expected that implementation in Base Programs will accelerate in

2021.
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18. Segment Reporting

18.1 Statement of Financial Position by Segments

Total Total Total
Total Core Partnership Enterprise Special
Activities Activities Activities Activities Intra-Party Total

7
©
3
)
E
E
»
©
3
o
3
E
»
]
3
o
=l
E
»
1]
3
o
=
E
N
(=)
=
©

TOTAL NET FUND BALANCES
and RESERVES 165 440 2 827 370 098 ( 264 656) 273 709 240 848

* Owed to/from Other Segments is due to PAHO holding pooled cash on behalf of other segments. This cannot be allocated directly to a cash
segment. These are eliminated on consolidation.
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18.2

Statement of Financial Performance by Segments

REVENUE

Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions
Assessed Contributions
Voluntary Contributions
WHO Allocations

Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Procurement of Public Health Supplies
Other Revenue
Miscellaneous Revenue

TOTAL REVENUE

EXPENSES
Staff and Other Personnel Costs
Supplies, Commodities, Materials
Depreciaton, Amortization, and
Revaluation
Contract Services
Travel
Transfers and Grants to Counterparts
General Operating Costs
Indirect Support Costs

TOTAL EXPENSES

NET SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT)

Total Core
Activities
Segment

97 200

46 633

(23 007)
15629
136 455

88 637
926

27051
9075
715
517
10983

137 904

(1449)

Total
Partnership
Activities
Segment

136 813
103 987

10192
3195
254 187

34302
45 468

69 381
8981
70 484
3803

8 885
241 304

12 883

Total
Enterprise
Activities

Segment

8 885
3574

964 998
(3059)
(3020)

971378

11476
931476

199
2822
161
87
620

946 841

24 537

Total
Special
Activities
Segment

8075

25457
95
33 627

71679
1450

(13 995)

4162

2 409

65 705

(32078)

Intra-Party
Segment

(83885)

(11022)

(35 647)

( 55 554)

(24 592)
(11 864)

(21)
(10 192)

(83885)
( 55 554)

105 275
136 813
154 194

953 976
(26 064)
15 899
1340 093

181 502
967 456

13 255
85 440

9 836
60 896
17 815

1336 200

3 893

112 047
122 782
84 396

849 929
6 480

18 482
1194 116

143 507
851 769

1990
99 487
34767
20 077
37720

1189317

4799
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19. Losses, Ex-Gratia Payments and Write-Offs
In 2020 the Organization recorded the following accounting entries:

= $221 291 were recorded as Inventory write-off for PALTEX program recipients. (2019: $76 582)
= $78 791 were recorded as write-off for receivables from former staff (2019: $0)

= $1484 were recorded as write-off for letters of agreement (2019: S0)

= $322 was recorded for small amount write-offs (2019: $714)

= No Ex-Gratia Payments were recorded (2019: $0)

20. Cases of Fraud and Presumptive Fraud

In 2020, six cases related to fraud, theft, damage, or loss of property valued at $2 083 were reported. PAHO recovered $250
from this amount, leaving a net loss of $1 833 to the Organization. Details are as follows:

Four cases had to do with the theft, damage, or loss of attractive property such as laptops and cell phones in country offices and
headquarters. The total net loss for the Organization amounted to $1 788.

Two types of fraudulent transactions were committed by people outside the Organization. The first type involved
cyberscammers who used stolen credit cards to test on the PAHO donation portal in order to verify that the cards
were active, and then presumably would continue using them fraudulently on other e-commerce sites. The Organization
has been proactive in establishing controls to review suspicious activity on the portal and reject the transactions before
incurring any liability. However, in three cases, the transactions were processed and the Organization incurred a refund fee of
$15 each. The second case involved a check fraudulently attributed to PAHO. The attempt to defraud was reported to the bank
and the check was not uncashed. There was no loss for the Organization.

There were no fraud reports that resulted in an investigation in 2020.
21. Related-Party and Other Senior Management Disclosure

As stated in Note 1, the Organization serves as the Regional Office for the Americas of the World Health Organization. The
relationship between both organizations is detailed in the Agreement between the World Health Organization and the Pan
American Health Organization duly signed on 24 May 1949. This agreement provides for the allocation of funds from the WHO
budget for implementation by PAHO. The financial management of the funding received by the Organization from WHO is
governed by Regulation IV, “Financing the Program and Budget” of PAHQO's Financial Regulations.

The Agreement between the World Health Organization and the Pan American Health Organization and the PAHO Financial
Regulations can be found in the Basic Documents of the Pan American Health Organization at the following link:
https://www.paho.org/ha/dmdocuments/2017/basic-documents-paho-2017.pdf

Details of the transactions with WHO are set out in Note 14, AMRO Regular Budget, AMRO Voluntary Funds for Health Promo-
tion, and AMRO Special Account for Servicing Costs.

Key management personnel are the Director, Deputy Director, Assistant Director, and Director of Administration, as they have
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Organization.

The aggregate remuneration paid to key management personnel, as established by the United Nations International Civil Service
Commission (ICSC), includes: gross salaries, post adjustment, entitlements such as representation allowance and other allow-
ances, assignment and other grants, rental subsidy, personal effects shipment costs, income tax reimbursement, and employer
pension and current health insurance contributions. These remunerations are provided in conformity with the standards estab-
lished by the ICSC and are applicable to all United Nations personnel.

Key management personnel are also qualified for post-employment benefits at the same level as other employees. These bene-
fits cannot be reliably quantified.
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Key management personnel are ordinary members of the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF).
21.1 Key Management Personnel

As of 31 December 2020, the number of key management personnel totaled 4 (2019: 4).

Key Management Personnel 2020 2019
Compensation and Post Adjustment 819 795
Entitlements 291 271
Pension and Health Plans 289 267
Total Remuneration 1399 1333

22, Events after Reporting Date

The Organization’s reporting date is 31 December of each year. On the date of signature of these accounts by the External
Auditor, no material events, favorable or unfavorable, have occurred between the date of the Statement of Financial Position
and the date when the financial statements have been authorized for issue that would have impacted these statements.

23. Provisions

As at 31 December 2020, the Organization recognized a provision for $11.2 million (2019: 14.4 million). The provision reflects
potential losses against revenues recognized in previous periods. The timing of any potential outflow of resources is uncertain.
The Organization will continue to seek the most advantageous outcome. The reduction in the Provision amount is due to the
year-end revaluation.

Increase /
31 December 2019 (Decrease) 31 December 2020
Provisions 14 387 (3164) 11223

24. Contingent Liability

In the normal course of business PAHO faces lawsuits which are at various stages of action. Having undertaken a review, we do
not consider these legal cases to have any significant impact on the financial statements, given the balance of probabilities. We
are unable to quantify the potential costs of defending these actions, but do not consider them to be significant or reliably
estimable.

25. In-Kind Contributions

Host governments and cooperating partners at the country level provide different in-kind contributions, which are utilized by
the Organization’s Country Offices for their general and daily operations. These contributions are not recognized in the Organi-
zation’s financial statements due to the complexity of standardizing a fair value throughout all the Organization’s Country Of-
fices. In-kind contributions received by the Organization include personnel, office premises, office services, and use of office
equipment.



Services Received In-Kind

Country Office or Office Office Office
Center Personnel Premises Services Equipment
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The aim of the audit is to provide independent assurance to
Member States; to add value to the PAHO's financial manage-

ment and governance; and to support your objectives through
the external audit process.

The Comptroller and Auditor General is the head of the National Audit Office (NAO), the United Kingdom's Su-
preme Audit Institution. The Comptroller and Auditor General and the NAO are independent of the United King-
dom Government and ensure the proper and efficient spending of public funds and accountability to the United
Kingdom's Parliament. The NAO provides external audit services to a number of international organizations,
working independently of its role as the Supreme Audit Institution of the United Kingdom.
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Executive summary

Background

1 The Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) is the specialized international health agency for the Ameri-
cas. It works with countries throughout the region of the Americas, to improve and protect people's health. PAHO
engages in technical cooperation with its member countries to fight communicable and noncommunicable dis-
eases and their causes, to strengthen health systems, and to respond to emergencies and disasters. PAHO is
committed to ensuring that all people have access to the health care they need, when they need it, with quality
and without fear of falling into poverty. Through its work, PAHO promotes and supports the right of everyone to
good health.

2  To advance these goals, PAHO promotes technical cooperation between countries and works in partnership
with ministries of health and other government agencies, civil society organizations, other international agencies,
universities, social security agencies, community groups, and other partners. PAHO promotes the inclusion of
health in all public policies and the engagement of all sectors in efforts to ensure that people live longer, healthier
lives, with good health as their most valuable resource.

3 In addition to our opinions on PAHQO's financial statements, this report presents the key findings and recom-
mendations arising from our work, including our observations on financial management and governance. We
have also considered PAHO's business continuity arrangements in light of the ongoing pandemic. Our main sub-
stantive focus was on the management of the procurement funds, the importance of these have been brought in
to focus over the past year. We have also followed up the progress made implementing our previous recommen-
dations.

4  Ourfindings have been discussed with management and the results of our financial audit were communi-
cated to the Audit Committee prior to finalising our work, in line with good practice.

5 The original drafting language of this report is English. The English version is the authoritative text.
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Key observations

Audit opinion on financial statements

6  Our audit comprised the examination of the 2020 financial statements and the associated transactions and
events for that year. It was conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and the Financial
Regulations. We provided an unqualified audit opinion, without modification, on the financial statements.

7 In the circumstances of 2020, with the full impact the Covid-19 Pandemic, a year of remote working, a con-
tinuation of the remote audit process and staffing pressures, the attainment of an unqualified audit opinion repre-
sents a significant achievement by all involved in ensuring the availability and access to information to enable the
audit to be finalised successfully.

Financial management

8 PAHO reported an overall surplus of $3.9 million (2019: surplus $4.8 million), with total revenues of $1,340
million (2019: $1,194 million) and expenses of $1,336 million (2019: $1,189 million). The increase in revenue and
expenses were primarily driven by the activities to procure and supply personal protection equipment and health
supplies in the response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Americas.

9  Overall, PAHO's net assets have increased to $273.7 million at 31 December 2020 (2019: $240.8 million).
Total assets included property, plant and equipment holdings with a net value of $140.1 million and cash and in-
vestments of $1,031.3 million (2019: $857.5 million). Total liabilities increased to $1,232.3 million (2019: $1,065.2
million) an increase of $167.1 million, including the total actuarial increase on the staff benefit liability in 2020 of
$57.4 million. Changes in property and staff benefits resulted from required professional valuations under the
requirements of IPSAS.

10 PAHO's Working Capital Fund, the primary purpose of which is finance the Program and Budget pending
receipt of contributions, was again completely exhausted throughout 2020. In September 2020, the Directing
Council increased the authorised level to $50 million and the funding was increased to $28.7 million in the year.
Despite this increase, PAHO continues to fully utilise the Fund and had borrowed an additional $17 million from
other sources at 31 December 2020 to meet the cash needs of the activities it expected to be funded by as-
sessed contributions. We continue to highlight that internal borrowing is not sustainable and that PAHO should
consider additional options to fund cash deficits. We have highlighted the potential to consider wider use of re-
tained reserves, highlighting that the program support funds have accumulated some $115.2 million and could be
deployed to reduce pressures or reduce down liabilities. However, timely remittance of contributions by Member
States will minimise these ongoing cashflow pressures.

11 Following the May 2020 Special Session of the Executive Committee, PAHO commenced a review to iden-
tify cost savings through modifications to human resources structures and administrative processes. Following
the resumption of Assessed Contributions payments by the United States, PAHO has now focused on reducing
administrative costs through the 2022-23 budget planning process. Our report emphasises the need for a clear
strategic direction and a fuller understanding of costs to support the systematic identification of cost savings in
response to the Member States requests. The wider consideration of cost savings should encompass considera-
tion of innovative ways to deliver services differently, while maintaining effective service provision. Other
measures should include realising the potential savings arising from changes to working practices which flow
from the experience of remote working; the outsourcing of elements of back office functions and, as we high-
lighted in our report on HR last year, to further develop workforce agility and skills to allow flexible deployment.

12 We have highlighted the continued growth in employee benefit liabilities, which are a significant long-term
financial risk for PAHO. During 2020, the overall liability for these staff benefits has increased to $432.4 million
(2019: $358.1 million), of which there is an unfunded liability of $334.9 million (2019: $277.5 million). Within the
changes to the liability, $29.5 million arose from changes made to scheme rules. Changes to these rules in-
crease the costs to PAHO Member States, but the authority for their change rests with the WHO Director



74 Executive summary

General, supported by the Global Oversight Committee. PAHO's Member States have limited influence to control
these costs, and it is important to regularly consider the risks and benefits associated with continued participation
in these arrangements.

13 The Director’s Report provides an overview of the financial position and performance of PAHO in 2020. Dur-
ing the past two years we highlighted that PAHO could enhance commentary and improve the accessibility of the
financial statements. Some progress has been made, but we believe more could be done to include a more com-
plete, balanced picture of the Organization's performance and key outcomes linked to the resources used. We
see opportunities for FRM and ourselves to work with PAHO's Audit Committee to help them provide objective
and expert advice to the Director enhance presentation of the financial statements for next year.

Governance and internal control

14 Effective governance and internal control are integral parts of the mechanisms the Organization uses to pro-
vide assurance over the use of resources to Member States. We continue to monitor PAHO's progress in key
aspects of internal control; risk management; ethics and investigation. We also considered the effectiveness of
PAHOQO's business continuity planning in the circumstances of the pandemic.

15 PAHO has largely operated on a remote basis since early 2020. The PMIS system has facilitated remote
access to core administrative systems, enabling staff to continue performing their functions. Its embedded work-
flow controls have ensured that transactions were properly processed, authorised and reviewed. Full read-only
access to the system has facilitated our work enabling us to report that we have not identified any significant con-
trol weaknesses or evidenced any noticeable deterioration in the control environment. Maintaining control in the
pandemic environment has been a notable achievement, highlighting a key benefit of the PMIS investment.

16 PAHO continues to produce a Statement on Internal Control, a key accountability document to provide
Member States a transparent report of the control environment and risks faced by organisations. The Director
highlighted some of the new developments in internal control, such as the assurance mapping exercise; the ef-
fectiveness of business continuity arrangements and the need for strengthened processes around project risk
management.

17 PAHO has developed a draft compliance strategy for the second line of defence. The strategy focuses
heavily on administration and while other aspects of the organisation have compliance functions, there remains
no holistic view of compliance activity. We welcome that PAHO has completed its assurance mapping exercise,
as we recommended, setting out internal controls established to meet the requirements of regulations and other
extant guidelines. The approach adopted should help identify gaps in the controls required to meet existing reg-
ulations, however, it will not necessarily address all risks to key controls. Monitoring and review activities should
be focused on the material reputational and financial risks to the Organization. It is important that this assurance
mapping process is subject to regular review by PAHO's Audit Committee.

18 PAHO's risk management system has been an important point of reference for tracking key risks during the
pandemic. Over the last two years we have highlighted that risk management processes at the local level are not
actively used for decision making. Risk management disciplines are important to drive good behaviour in setting
a transparent culture to identify, control and monitor risks. While these risks have been captured corporately,
PAHO needs to continue its efforts to promote the culture of effective risk management and the more regular re-
view of operational risks at the local level and for risk tools to be part of local management processes and deci-
sion making. We have advocated that the risk register should be used as a mechanism for determining the ef-
fectiveness of risk mitigations, and the extent to which planned actions have reduced risks. This will help provide
analysis of the cost benefits of mitigations. Risks with a high residual probability and impact, or outside of toler-
ance should be escalated to the governing bodies

19 We considered PAHO’s organisational preparedness for the pandemic. In line with many other organisa-
tions, while PAHO had business continuity plans in place at duty stations, it did not consistently identify and doc-
ument the risk of a disruptive event across its operations prior to the pandemic. Overall, we found many positive
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features in PAHO'’s response including: a single repository for critical information; regular surveys of personnel to
understand their circumstances to inform and refine its response; work to establish the criteria and approval pro-
cess for allowing personnel to return to offices; and the PMIS platform ability to smoothly facilitate remote work-
ing for PAHO’s critical business systems and processes at the outset of the pandemic.

20 We observed some areas where improvements to preparedness planning can be made, for example, some
PAHO representatives insisted on personnel being office-based despite the guidance on the requirement to work
from home. We also noted that the quality of critical data and information flows could have been improved. For
example, the Secretariat invested considerable time and effort identifying its critical personnel at the outset of the
crisis, information that should be routinely maintained as part of continuity plans. Similarly, at the time of our au-
dit in December 2020, the Secretariat had no central record of personnel on PAHO premises on any one day,
which we would see as fundamental to measuring the health and safety risk. There are undoubtedly lessons to
be learned both to inform future preparedness planning and the way in which it might leverage the benefits to
inform future working.

Procurement funds

21  Procurement Funds of PAHO (the Funds) have significantly increased over time to be PAHO's largest pro-
gramme of activity. In 2020, total revenue on these funds was $954.0 million, representing 72.4 per cent of over-
all revenues and 71.2 per cent of overall expenses. Funds are provided by Member States and these resources
are dedicated to specific activities relevant to the contributing state. Given the scale and importance of the pro-
gramme, the delivery of the Procurement Fund activity carries significant operational and reputational risk and
therefore needs appropriate governance, strategy, monitoring and administration. We considered the two key
procurement mechanisms: The Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines (RFV); and the Regional Revolving Fund
for Strategic Public Health Supplies (SF).

22 By procuring vaccines through the RFV, Member States leverage existing processes and legislation and
avoid having to engage directly with suppliers. The RFV is currently supporting countries in their participation in
the COVID-19 Vaccine Global Access (COVAX) facility - the GAVI-administered international platform to acceler-
ate the global development, manufacture and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines. The SF was origi-
nally established to procure medicines and supplies for HIV/AIDs, tuberculosis, malaria and other infectious dis-
eases. It provides a mechanism for pooled procurement to reduce prices for individual Member States and now
includes facilities to procure personal protective equipment.

23 While the Funds are continuing to deliver for Member States through the pandemic, we noted that there is
no overarching strategy. Since they were originally conceived and approved there have new international organi-
sations have begun providing vaccines and medical supplies and procurement practices have evolved. In our
view, it is important that PAHO clearly articulates the value it brings to the Funds' constituent countries. We have
recommended that a clear strategy, underpinned with overarching objectives aligned to PAHO's mandate, will
enhance accountability and enable Member States to measure performance more effectively.

24 Management oversight is provided by the Synergy and Integration Group, which is responsible for the over-
all procurement strategy, integration, resourcing, risk management, performance and review of biennial work-
plans for the funds. The Group has only met periodically, indicating that the arrangements for integrated over-
sight are not yet embedded. Strong governance is essential given the reputational and financial risks of this ma-
jor programme. The process for documenting and escalating risks in the Funds is only partially developed and
the corporate risk register did not include risks and mitigations related to the SF, despite the significant chal-
lenges linked to the pandemic. We have recommended that the Group meets more regularly with a standing
agenda covering amongst other issues strategy, developments, financial and operational performance, user en-
gagement and risk.
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25 Strong performance measurement and reporting is essential for fostering continuous improvement and
helping Member States and users to ensure accountability for the use of their resources. Recognising that the
Synergy and Integration Group's role is developing, we highlight that internal reporting could be improved to
highlight performance against more detailed targets relevant to the Fund's activities. PAHO is taking steps to im-
prove the breadth and quality of performance indicators as it invests in digital reforms but this should be within a
comprehensive performance framework to enable more systematic analysis and reporting of progress.

26 A key measure of the effectiveness of the Funds is their ability to deliver support for inventory management
capacity nationally, and through this to minimise the gap between planned and actual demand over time. Analy-
sis of RFV vaccine demand shows significant variation between planned and actual volumes purchased through
the Fund. We have recommended that PAHO considers engaging more deeply and consistently with Member
States on their stock management and demand forecasting capacity, reporting progress to Executive Manage-
ment and Member States to measure the additional impact of the Funds’ work.

27 A strategic procurement function invests in understanding and influencing the marketplace and working with
suppliers to improve supply routes and achieve more competitive pricing. For example, the Funds do work in this
regard, with the RFV engaging in the Developing Countries Vaccine Manufacturers Network and the SF’s partici-
pation in supplier forums, but engagement is relatively ad hoc. A Secretariat-commissioned review in 2019 found
that PAHO’s procurement function remained largely transaction-based, not sufficiently focused on developing
relationships with suppliers and partners. Both funds have since developed shorter-term plans and some addi-
tional posts are proposed in the 2022-23 plan.

28 A key reason for Member States to participate in the Funds is to secure supplies at lower cost. We reviewed
the various cost arrangements and considered that in light of the growing complexity of the global pricing models,
PAHO would benefit from reviewing its pricing strategy and policies for the Funds as whole to better assess PA-
HO's purchasing power and value proposition. PAHO informed us that the founding resolutions only required it to
achieve the best price offered to other buyers, with both funds embedding the principle that participating coun-
tries should pay the same price for vaccines and supplies. However, the approach to pricing raises practical is-
sues in respect of cost transparency that are important to consider in a changed environment.

29 The SF has been able to use new partnership working approaches through joint procurements and ‘piggy-
backing’ on existing commercial agreements with partners like the Global Fund, WHO, UNICEF and UNDP dur-
ing the Pandemic, enabling it to achieve better value. PAHO informed us that the SF resolution does not require
the lowest price clause, as the small volumes do not give PAHO the market leverage. In building future strate-
gies, it will be important for the Funds to set out clear parameters on how it best offers value for money to its
Members, and to be transparent where it is unable to offer lowest price.

30 The Funds have played a significant role in managing the region’s response to the pandemic. In relation to
the COVAX facility, the RFV has partnered with UNICEF’s Supply Division to manage the procurement of the
COVID-19 vaccine. By December 2020, 27 ‘self-financing’ PAHO Member States had signed commitment agree-
ments with GAVI while 10 others, classed as lower income, are eligible for donor-supported access through the
COVAX Advanced Market Commitment. One immediate observation is that the pandemic has caused the Sec-
retariat to broaden and deepen its partnership working with other international buyers and it should assess the
potential benefits of further pooling of technical resources and buying power in pursuit of strengthened supply
and reduced pricing within its wider activities.

31 Both Funds operate capital accounts which give Member States short-term credit meaning they can defer
payment for health supplies. External reviews have concluded that the RFV’s capital account has been underuti-
lised despite the value Member States place on it. While recognising that the situation may have been quite dif-
ferent during the pandemic, recommendations included a further categorisation to separate some of the balance
for short-term credit line use and some for longer-term loans for investments in, for example, supply chain devel-
opment with Member States. There is potential for PAHO to add value through a more strategic approach to
making better use of these resources to secure improved outcomes.
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32 Many of the Secretariat’s enabling functions and Country Offices contribute to the administration of the
Funds. As highlighted in our 2018 report, it is essential that voluntary funded programmes are transparent about
their costs, to ensure there is no cross subsidisation and that users are fully aware of how they are funding the
programmes in which they participate. During 2020, management initiated a review of the costs of the Fund. Fol-
lowing this analysis, it recommended to the Directing Council an increase in the service fee charged to Member
States for using the Funds from 1.25 per cent to 1.75 per cent from 1 January 2021. PAHO’s analysis for the
2018-19 biennium indicated that the existing rates were under-recovering the full costs of activities. With
changes in procurement fund transaction volumes, efficiencies and other investment projects key assumptions
and cost inputs will change. PAHO should regularly review its cost model to ensure that it remains appropriate.
PAHO should consider similar approaches in its wider project activity.

33 The different systems used to manage the Funds add to the complexity of reporting, making it difficult to
track through the procurement, delivery and performance outcomes to give a holistic view of performance. The
Secretariat is investing $3 million on digital projects intended to improve efficiency and effectiveness in the 2020-
2021 biennium. While recognising the potential, we are concerned that these investments were not subjected to
a proper business case analysis and their benefits in practice are not being adequately tracked.

Previous recommendations

34 As at 31 March 2021, of the 41 recommendations from 2018 and 2019 that remained open, 18 (44 per cent)
were in progress and three (7 per cent) were considered not implemented and remain open. In this year's report
we have superseded and closed six (15 per cent) prior recommendations and 14 (34 per cent) had been either
implemented or closed.

35 Many of the recommendations in progress relate to our review of Human Resource Management in 2019.
Given the nature of these recommendations and the proposed actions by management, we would not have ex-
pected them to have been fully implemented within the past year. Given the importance of HR management to
the Organization it is our intention to perform a substantive follow-up against these recommendations and review
the status of the PAHO people strategy and how this may have evolved as a result of the Covid pandemic during
our 2021 audit.
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Part One

Financial management

Overall audit results

1.1 Our audit of PAHO's financial statements revealed no weaknesses or errors which we considered material
to their accuracy, completeness or validity. The audit opinion confirms that these financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PAHO as at 31 December 2020 and of its financial perfor-
mance and cash flows for the year then ended. It also confirms their preparation in accordance with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards. The audits also confirmed that, in all material respects, the transactions un-
derlying the financial statements have been made in accordance with the Financial Regulations and applied to
the purposes intended by the governing bodies.

1.2 The audit included a general review of PAHO's accounting procedures, an assessment of internal controls
that impact on our audit opinions; and such tests of accounting records and other supporting evidence as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Our audit procedures were designed primarily for the purpose of
forming those opinions. The audit did not involve a detailed review of all aspects of the budgetary and financial
information systems, and the results should not be regarded as a comprehensive statement on them. Finally, an
examination was carried out to ensure that the financial statements accurately reflected the accounting records
and were fairly presented.

1.3 Due to the restrictions in place on international travel in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, we were unable to
travel to PAHO headquarters or any country offices as part of our audit this year. We are monitoring the situation
in the Americas and will consider when we may be able to return to physical visits as part of our 2021 audit. Our
intention is to ensure that we achieve the coverage of country offices as agreed at the start of our mandate over
the remainder of our tenure as External Auditors.

Financial commentary

1.4 Following audit adjustments, PAHO reported an overall surplus of $3.9 million (2019: surplus $4.8 million),
with total revenues of $1,340 million (2019: $1,194 million) and expenses of $1,336 million (2018: $1,189 million).
The increase in revenues and expenses compared to 2019 was primarily as a result of the additional activity to
support the response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This included increased WHO allocations and Member State
contributions for the procurement of public health supplies and corresponding increases in expenses on medical
supplies through the procurement funds and those delivered directly to Member States. Table 1 shows our anal-
ysis of the component elements of expenditure during 2020.

Table 1: Key revenue and expense streams: PAHO's activities remain increasingly dominated by the procurement services it provides
directly to individual national governments.

Key revenue streams 2020 Percentage of total revenue (2019 in
brackets)

Procurement activities on behalf of Member States $954.0m 71.2(71.2)

Voluntary (including National) contributions $136.8m 10.2 (10.3)

Assessed contributions $105.3m 7.9 (9.4)
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WHO revenue $154.2m 11.5(7.1)

Other revenue $-10.2m"" -0.8 (2.1)

Total revenue $1,340.1m

Expense streams 2020 Per cent of total expenses (2019)
Procurement activities on behalf of Member States $967.5m 72.4 (71.6)

Transfers and grants $60.9m 46(1.7)

Staff and other personnel costs $181.5m 13.6 (12.1)

Contract services $85.4m 6.4 (8.4)

Other expenditure $40.9m 3.1(6.3)

Total $1,336.2m

Source: NAO analysis of PAHO financial statements

1.5 The Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts shows final disbursements against the ap-
proved biennial budget, with actual expenditure in the first year of the current biennium of $306.4 million (2019:
$284.6 million), against a budget of $325.0 million. While overall PAHO is on track to consume it programme
budget during the 2020-2021 biennium, a significant variation resulted from the crisis response special pro-
gramme in 2020 which has impacted the level of delivery against each of the base programmes. PAHO and its
Member States should review the programme budget for the biennium in light of the impact of the unprecedented
pandemic response.

1.6 As we reported last year, PAHO manages its budget on a biennial basis and does not profile its expendi-
tures over the period of the budget in line with expenditure plans and expectations. We continue to stress the
importance of annual budgeting and monitoring, and this is especially important given the financial pressures
which PAHO has faced from delayed contribution receipts and the emerging health emergencies relating to the
pandemic.

1.7 Overall, as a result of a property revaluation net assets have increased from $240.8 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 to $273.7 million at 31 December 2020. Total assets included property, plant and equipment holdings
with a net value of $140.1 million (2019: $109.2 million) and cash and investments of $1,031.3 million (2019:
$857.5 million). Total liabilities increased from $1,065.2 to $1,232.3 million an increase of $167.1 million. This
liability includes the total actuarial valuation of the staff benefit liabilities in 2020 of $334.9 million (2019: $277.5
million) as shown in Note 12.6 to the financial statements.

1.8 Last year we recommended that PAHO obtain an expert revaluation of its property estate and land holdings.
Most assets were revalued downwards but the land value in Washington DC increased by $50.1 million and the
value of the building at 2121 Virginia Avenue increased by $13.5 million. The net increase in the asset value was
$30.9 million. Within the valuation, the expert concluded the market and neighbourhood analysis suggested the
highest market value would be obtained through further development by an investor. As a consequence, the HQ
building was reduced to nil value, resulting in a reduction of $28.1 million in its valuation. The same judgement
was taken in respect of PAHO's property in Peru. While market uncertainty due to Covid continues, we consider
that the impact of this uncertainty would not be material to the financial statements. Details and the results of the
revaluation are set out in Note 8.2 to the financial statements.

1.9 PAHO's overall financial health has stayed broadly consistent over the past five years, but activities funded
through core have greater cash pressures than the voluntary funded activities. We use ratio analysis of an organ-
isation's financial health on all our international audits to show how financial positions change over time. They
express the relationship of one item of account against another. For example, there are $1.1 of current assets for
every $1 of current liabilities, demonstrating that current assets cover current liabilities by some 10 per cent. We

17 The negative revenue report here relates to PAHO's treatment of the impairment of accounts receivable (see Note 6.2).
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have undertaken a review of the indicators of PAHO's financial health, using key financial ratios (Table 2). Over-
all resources have remained broadly consistent over the last two biennia. Our analysis of overall and core activi-
ties shows that financial pressures have been more intense, with current assets relating to core activities match-
ing only 60% of current liabilities meaning that PAHO cannot meet its immediate obligations from core'® re-
sources alone. To mitigate this risk, PAHO does have the ability to liquidate non-current investments with short
notice periods if needed.

Table 2: Analysis of key financial health ratios for PAHO (core activities shown in brackets). The ratios show that core activities are
under greater pressure than those funded by voluntary funds and PAHO does not have sufficient liquid assets to meet its current liabilities

Ratio 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Current ratio
Current assets: Current liabili- 1.1 (0.6) 1.1 (0.6) 1.2 (0.6) 1.1 (0.6) 1.2 (0.6)
ties
Total assets: Total liabilities
Assets: Liabilities
1.2(1.2) 1.2(1.1) 1.4 (1.1) 1.2(1.1) 1.3(1.2)
Cash ratio:
Cash and short-term invest-
ments: Current liabilities 0.7 (0.00) 0.7 (-0.05) 0.8 (-0.02) 0.6 (-0.03) 0.6 (-0.02)

Investments ratio:
Cash and investments: Total
assets 0.7 (0.00) 0.7 (-0.04) 0.7 (-0.02) 0.6 (-0.02) 0.5 (-0.02)

Financial health pressures

1.10 In 2019 PAHO faced significant and unprecedented financial challenges arising from late payment of certain
Member States contributions. While the immediate issues which caused the uncertainty around financial health
have now been eased and PAHO's major donor has resumed making regular payments of its share of the As-
sessed Contributions, some underlying pressures remain. In last year's report, we highlighted three areas which
had a significant influence on PAHO's financial health. These were: the increase in the receivable assets; the
consequential impact on cashflows; and the increase in the long-term liabilities accrued in respect of employee
benefits. We provide an update on these issues below.

Receivable assets and cashflow

1.11 To have stable and predictable levels of resource it is important that Member States fulfil their obligations in
full, and on a timely basis. At 31 December 2020, outstanding assessed contributions were $84.6 million (2019:
$88.9 million), and $21.2 million (2019: $7.1 million) had been outstanding for more than 12 months. PAHO has a
policy to allocate cash received to the oldest debt, which obscures the reality that some debt may in substance
be older. At its 58th Session, the Directing Council approved a change to the Financial Regulations permitting
the Director to impair those assessed contribution receivables that are not expected to be settled within 12
months. This enhances the transparency of these financial statements and brings them in line with IPSAS re-
quirements. For 2020, this impairment amounted to $21.8 million as shown in Note 6.2 to the financial state-
ments. This is a significant amount for PAHO and results in core activities continuing to be funded using cash
from other sources.

18 Core activities are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements and predominantly comprise the Assessed Contributions
and the WHO Regular Budget Funds
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1.12 At its 58th Session, the Directing Council also approved an increase to the authorised level of the Working
Capital Fund from $25 million to $50 million and therefore transferred the 2020 Budgetary and Revenue sur-
pluses to the Fund bringing the funding level of the Working Capital Fund to $28.7 million.

1.13 Despite this increase, PAHO continues to fully utilise the Fund and had borrowed an additional $17 million
from other sources of funds at 31 December 2020 to meet the cash needs of the activities it expected to be
funded by assessed contributions.

1.14 As shown in Table 3, there has been a consistent utilisation of the Working Capital Fund for several years.
While PAHO has emphasised this in a footnote to Note 14.1 of the financial statements, we believe it is important
to further enhance the visibility of the utilisation of the working capital fund to enhance the transparency of the
financial statements.

Table 3 PAHO Working Capital Fund 2016-20: Over time the demands on the WCF have exceeded the resources available.

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Working Capital Fund at 31 Decem-  $28.7m $25.0m $21.7m $21.7m $20.7m
ber
Cash available / (required) for As- $(17m) $(43.8m) $(19.4m) $(22.6m) $(6.1m)

sessed Contributions and Miscella-
neous Revenue

NOTES
1. WCF balances have been consistently depleted by year end

Source: PAHO financial statements

1.15 We continue to highlight that utilising cash resources from other funds does not represent good practice and
doing this on a consistent basis is not a sustainable way to resource core activities. With the increase in the au-
thorised level of the Working Capital Fund, PAHO should look at other sources of cash within its control to fully
capitalise the Working Capital Fund, and this could include excess balances within the accumulated program
support funds.

1.16 PAHO's Financial Regulation 8.6 sets out the program support charges on extrabudgetary funds and certain
other sources of miscellaneous income. These charges should be used to meet the direct and indirect costs in-
curred by the Organization in respect of the generation and administration of its activities. As we have previously
reported, PAHO's retained reserve of program support funds has been growing and at $115.2 million it is signifi-
cant. Over the previous biennium, the net program support expense was $2.8 million with a gross expense of
$56.1 million offset by revenues of $53.3 million as set out in Table 4 below.

Table 4: PAHO Special Fund for Program Support 2016-2020 - while PSC revenues have declined in line with project activity, the
PSC balance relative to 2016 remains significantly higher.

$ 000s 2020 2019 2018 2017" 2016’

1 January 108,107 113,999 108,138 100,045 78,859
Revenue 16,483 18,813 34,535

Expenses (9,727) (27,430) (28,674)

Transfers 2,725"

31 December 115,223 108,107 113,999 108,138 100,045

1 Transfer of $2,725,000 from PALTEX on the closure of the Fund.
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NOTES
1.Detailed information on reserve movement were not disclosed prior to 2018.

Source: PAHO financial statements

1.17 In response to our previous recommendation in this area, PAHO informed us that its practice is to accumu-
late the income received during a biennium. When the biennium ends, the total balance is made available to fi-
nance the Program and Budget for the subsequent biennium with excess funds carried forward. As PAHO has
accumulated a significant level of carry forward and has maintained that balance for several years, there is scope
to use these funds for other purposes. All reserves should have a clear objective and target level, to ensure that
resources are not simply held without deriving any real benefit to PAHO. PAHO has reviewed the basis for pro-
gram support charge on its Procurement Funds activities and found it was under recovering the full costs of activ-
ities. We believe this good practice should be extended to all program support cost activities and we note in PA-
HO's response to our associated 2018 recommendation (#3), that this is being undertaken. This will provide
greater visibility of costs and minimise the risk of cross-subsidisation and we will comment on it as part of next
year's audit.

PAHO should:

R1: Establish and agree with Member States a methodology to establish a target level of retained pro-
gram support funds for financing subsequent biennium programme budget activities.

R2: Establish and agree with Member States a process to transfer any surplus over that agreed level to
fund other priority or strategic funding requirements, such as the full capitalisation of the Working Capi-
tal Fund, the Master Capital Investment Fund, or to reduce Member State liabilities for the After-Service
Health Insurance.

1.18 As we have highlighted in previous reports, PAHO has numerous reserves and fund balances serving differ-
ent purposes. We continue to believe there is scope for a strategic review of these balances and their purpose
which consider how the longer-term financing needs of PAHO. This is particularly relevant given the post-pan-
demic ways of working are likely to result in changed priorities. As highlighted in our response to our 2018 rec-
ommendation 7, we have made several specific recommendations related to fund and reserve balances. We will
revisit this area more holistically later in our mandate after PAHO has formed its views on post-pandemic work-

ing.

Structured cost reduction

1.19 Given PAHO’s recent financial pressures and the increased focus on cost reduction we would encourage
PAHO to establish a clear cost reduction strategy. PAHO can build on its responses to the May 2020 Special
Session of the Executive Committee which tasked management with a review of operating costs to identifying
additional cost savings through modifications to human resources structures and administrative processes. Pro-
gress has been limited as a result of the pandemic pressures and PAHO informed us that, after the resumption of
Assessed Contributions payments by the United States, the focus on cost reductions would be through the 2022-
23 budget planning process. It has adjusted downwards the available flexible funds for entities requiring manag-
ers, to reduce human resources in administration to fund technical cooperation activities.

1.20 Good cost reduction programmes require a clear strategic direction, full understanding of costs and innova-
tive ways to deliver services differently while maintaining effective service provision. PAHO has a high cost base
which results from the application of its employment benefit policies in common with other international organisa-
tions, so it is important to consider where outsourcing or other modalities may be beneficial in reducing these
costs. PAHO should also consider the potential changes to working practices which flow from the experience of
remote working and the opportunities for enhanced training and flexibility of staffing which could generate cost
reduction opportunities, as we highlighted in our report on HR last year.

1.21 In response to the decision of the Executive Council, towards the end of 2020 the Director established the
Organizational Development Initiatives (ODI). The ODI's include 20 individual initiatives, of which four directly
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relate to using available technology to reduce the costs of enabling functions. We have previously reported on
structured cost reduction and change management in various international organisations and public sector bod-
ies in the UK (Exhibit 1). From our reporting in this area, we have highlighted some of the features which under-
pin effective cost efficiency programmes. We will review the progress of the ODIs against these features, and
how they help achieve the objectives set by Member States, in our future audits.

Exhibit 1: Key features of effective cost reduction - PAHO should consider whether the key features of its cost reduction efforts are strate-

gically focused to ensure efficient outcomes.

Key feature

A data-driven approach to under-
standing, comparing and interro-
gating costs

A comprehensive risk assess-
ment

A robust evidence-based cost re-
duction strategy

A change in organisational cul-
ture

Effective governance and over-
sight of plans

Source: NAO

Relevance for PAHO

In 2018, we recommended that PAHO needed to have a better understanding of its costs. It should
understand the pattern of resources; including policy, administration and service delivery. This will
help identify opportunities for cost reduction but also help improve ongoing financial management.

Effective risk management will provide an efficient, streamlined and formulated plan to help PAHO
identify and respond to the likelihood of key risks to the project. We cover risk management later in
the report.

Achieving cost savings while implementing a significant change programme should follow the princi-
ples of the core management cycle for effective public service delivery, including clear objectives of
what the cost reduction strategy is expected to deliver and a clear plan to migrate from the current
state to the new operating.

The challenge of structured cost reduction requires organisations to question how they have always
done things, and to be bold in developing alternative ways of doing business. PAHO should look be-
yond traditional organisational boundaries and take a system view to maximise the opportunities to
ensure the delivery of its core mandate and those other priority areas for Member States.

The support of those charged with governance is critical in providing resources and guidance to man-
agement within a clear mandate and set of objectives. Effective monitoring to hold management to
account for the delivery of these enables those charged with governance to demonstrate appropriate
oversight.

PAHO should:

R3: develop a clear and time bound cost reduction strategy, which should reflect changes to ways of working, cultural
change and staff development and planning. It should consider opportunities for enhancing the use of shared service,
greater use of outsourcing and other changes to traditional delivery modalities.

Employee benefits

1.22 In 2020 total expenses on salaries, allowances and benefits was $181.5 million (2019: $143.5 million), as
shown in the statement of financial performance. PAHO's Staff Regulations set out the fundamental conditions of
service and the basic rights, duties, and obligations of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau staff. This includes the
salaries and related allowances and the social security benefits, including access to the UN Joint Staff Pension
Fund and After-Service Health Insurance for staff members.

Post-employment benefits

1.23 The most significant liability which PAHO has in its financial statements is the employee benefit liabilities.
These comprise the staff member's after-service health insurance and their termination and repatriation entitle-
ments liabilities. During 2020, the overall liability for these staff benefits has increased from $358.1 million to
$432.4 million, these liabilities are offset by plan assets of $97.5 million, that PAHO has earmarked to partially
meet those liabilities, leaving a net unfunded liability of $334.9 million (2019: $277.5 million).
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Table 5 Employee Benefit liabilities - these have increased by over $130 million since 2016 and need clear strategies to mitigate impacts
on PAHO's financial health

Composition of employee benefit liabilities ($'000)

After service health insurance Termination and repatriation Total liability

(ASHI) entitlements (TAREP)
1 January 2020 338,665 19,434 358,099
Increase in year 69,900 4,421 74,321
31 December 2020 408,565 23,855 432,420
Plan assets 78,236 19,237 97,473
Net liability 330,330 4,618 334,948

31 December 2020

Growth of unfunded net employee benefit liabilities ($'000)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ASHI 330,330 270,249 198,792 234,284 192,016
TAREP 4,618 7,292 4,435 4,323 5,475
Total 334,948 277,541 203,227 238,607 197,491

Source: PAHO financial statements

1.24 Liabilities are calculated by an independent actuary based on underlying data and assumptions. The in-
creases reported in 2020 relate predominantly to the after-service health insurance liability and arise from
changes in the discount rate applied in the valuation together with a plan amendment adopted by management.
The impacts of actuarial factors are designed to provide the best estimate of future liability costs in today's
money and have resulted in an overall increase of $57.4 million. This is equivalent to 54 per cent of the total As-
sessed Contributions due for the year and is highly significant to the Organization.

Discount rate

1.25 PAHO based its discount rate on the yield curve from United States high-grade corporate bonds (Aon AA
above median curve) as agreed with its actuary. The rate on these bonds reduced from 3.5 per cent to 2.9 per
cent, causing a significant increase ($35.1 million) in the overall liability. PAHO has adopted the rate approved
by the United Nations Task Force on Accounting Standards, believing that it is appropriate for PAHO's own cir-
cumstances.

1.26 As outlined last year the bond rate utilised by the Task Force - an above median rate - are typically used in
the United States but are less common in other territories. The rate reflects the fact that some bonds are ex-
cluded, the consequence of which is to move the rate above the median expectation. This leads to concerns that
such approaches do not meet the requirement for “unbiased” assumptions as set out in IPSAS 39. Our audit
work considered this but concluded that the impact led only to a 0.1 per cent difference to the comparative based
around median bonds (AA Only Universe). Based on the sensitivities provided for the liability - set out in Note
12.8 to the financial statements, adopting a discount rate that is 0.1 per cent lower would increase the liability by
circa $9million. While within a tolerable range we continue to believe that at the year end the overall liability is
reported at the lower end of expectations. However, Member States will want to continue to monitor the extent to
which these liabilities grow as future commitments which will need to be met from regular funding.

Plan amendments
1.27 During 2020, the plan was amended to fully absorb future increases in contribution rates whereas previ-

ously, it had been expected that any such future increases would be shared proportionately between PAHO and
the participants. This change has resulted in an increase in the liability of Member States' by $29.5 million.
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1.28 In our 2018 Report, we discussed the need for greater oversight of the funding model for PAHO's liability
and recommended that Member States agree and approve the funding plan being adopted by management. We
have superseded our recommendation to reflect that the SHI Fund is controlled by WHO, with PAHO being a mi-
nor participating Organization. Changes to scheme rules rest with the WHO Director General supported by the
Global Oversight Committee. Given this is PAHO's most significant financial liability and PAHO Member States
have limited influence to direct scheme rules and benefits, they may wish to regularly consider the risks and ben-
efits of ongoing participation in the scheme.

PAHO should:

R4: regularly consult with its Member States on the risks and benefits of continued participation in the
WHO Staff Health Insurance Fund given their limited control over these significant liabilities.

UN Joint Staff Pension Fund

1.29 PAHO is affiliated as a member organisation to the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF)
through its employees. However, as the pension scheme cannot accurately determine a reliable estimate of the
corresponding risk borne by each participating organisation no actuarial liabilities for the pension scheme appear
in PAHO’s financial statements.

1.30 The characteristics of the UN pension scheme are outlined in Notes 12.9 to the financial statements and
this disclosure is consistent across many participating organisations. At the latest actuarial date, 31 December
2019, UNJSPF has concluded that there was no requirement for deficiency payments to be made under Article
26 of the Fund's Regulations, in view of the UNJSPF's reported 107.1 per cent funding ratio at that date. Should
this situation change in the future, deficiency payments would be required from PAHO. This situation represents
a potential future financial risk to the organisation which needs to continue to be tracked.

Other employee benefits

1.31 PAHO's Staff Regulations and Rules also provide for certain other benefits where different funding options
are utilised. PAHO's fund balances include the provision for staff entittlements and the provision for termination
and repatriation entitlements. Some of these benefits represent short-term benefits such as home leave and ed-
ucation grants and others, particularly the termination and repatriation are long-term liabilities and the PAHO core
staff's element of this is actuarially assessed alongside the after-service health insurance. Overall, PAHO has
cash backed reserves of $7.2 million for these other liabilities.

1.32 To fund the short-term liabilities and any costs associated with any termination of agency staff employed
locally at country offices, PAHO applies various "payroll" employer on-costs with the surplus in any period being
carried forward. For the staff entitlements, PAHO applies a 20 per cent surcharge to base pay for professional
staff, for staff terminal allowances a five per cent levy on base pay plus post adjustment is applied for all staff.
For agency staff, an additional 10 per cent charge to cover termination indemnities is applied, this has been re-
duced to 2.5 per cent from May 2021 as the level of funds accumulated is sufficient to cover the expected ex-
penses. While assessments have been made for these personnel, PAHO has not recognised associated obliga-
tions on the basis of its legal interpretations.

1.33 At 31 December 2020, the assessed liability for termination benefits was $4.6 million as set out earlier in
Table 5. During the year, PAHO increased the plan assets in this scheme by $7.0 million through a transfer from
the accumulated surpluses from these accumulated levies.

1.34 In our view it is important that PAHO provides clear transparency over the movements in these funds, which
are not currently reflected in the financial statements. It should also consider the extent to which charges made
are appropriate against the future liabilities of contract staff. Where funds exceed costs there should be an
agreed process for the transfer of Funds to ensure they are best utilised, for example by addition to plan assets
held to offset ASHI liabilities. Surcharges to cover staff liabilities are an important way for PAHO to ensure it
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manages its liabilities. Together with contingent risks arising from potential future UNJSPF deficits these are the
most significant long-term financial issues facing PAHO. It is a key reason why it needs to ensure the costs it
passes on for voluntary funded activities are appropriate to avoid future costs falling on Member States as a
whole. In its response, PAHO informed us it does review these charges each year to ensure they are appropri-
ate.

Financial reporting

Director's report

1.35 The Director’s Report provides an overview of the financial position and performance of PAHO in 2020. Dur-
ing the past two years we highlighted that PAHO could enhance this commentary, utilising the IPSAS Board's
guideline on presenting financial statement discussion and analysis, enhancing the disclosure of the underlying
causes of variations. In our view a good annual report provides a fair balanced description on the Organization's
"corporate story" in a way that is compelling to the wide variety of stakeholders who have an interest in the Or-
ganization's activities.

1.36 In response to our previous recommendation to review the content of the Director's Report to ensure that it
presents a fair, balanced and rounded view of the performance of the organisation. PAHO cited the suite of pro-
grammatic and budgetary reports that are also presented and, taken as a whole, they consider provides full infor-
mation to Member States. While some positive enhancements to the Director's Report have been made, PAHO
felt that further use of the Report to communicate use of resources and the work of PAHO was unnecessary.

1.37 While recognising management's view we believe it is increasingly important for the report which accompa-
nies the financial statements to be accessible and comprehensive, covering performance and financial infor-
mation. Audited figures in the financial statements offer stakeholders a wealth of information and PAHO should
consider how it might better use the financial performance section to complement existing communications to
provide relevant insight and a more holistic view of what has been delivered through the resources reported
within them. Exhibit 2 sets out our views on best reporting practice which we would continue to highlight to
PAHO as a means of enhancing transparency and to Member States.

Exhibit 2: NAO's good-practice principles for Annual Reports - Clear transparent reporting enhances accountability and improves
the confidence of stakeholders
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The good-practice principles are grouped under the following headings:

Supporting Accountability

« telling the story of the organisation in a fair and

balanced way;
e Compliance with the relevant reporting requirements; and
e Clear action points to take forward.

ol
-

Transparency

frank and honest analysis;

consideration of the challenges an organisation is facing;
appropriate use of data; and

quantification of risks and performance measures.

4U

Accessibility
/I\ * highlights key trends in the financial statements;
> e concise summaries of key points; and

* consideration of how the organisation engages with key
stakeholders and meets their needs.

Understandable

@ Use of:

1 « plain language to explain difficult concepts;
* infographics and diagrams to communicate important messages; and
« clearly integrated structure to help users navigate it effectively.

Source: NAO

Financial statements

1.38 PAHO implemented IPSAS in 2010, since then the Organization has evolved, the focus of the non-core ac-
tivities has changed and reporting standards have been revised. PAHO has continued to provide and deliver ac-
counts which have been unqualified, and following audit adjustments, present fairly the Organization's financial
position. Since our appointment in 2018 we have encouraged the Secretariat to further enhance disclosures and
financial reporting. In our view PAHO has not fully invested in a detailed review against the IPSAS disclosure re-
quirements and to ensure that they remain relevant for users and stakeholders as time has passed.

1.39 In 2019 we reported on several enhancements which we felt would better align reporting with the IPSAS
standards. While PAHO considers that its accounts review has ensured it had met the disclosure requirements,
our audit continues to identify issues requiring amendment. We also highlight other areas, while not material,
that do not fully meet the reporting standards including those highlighted in our report last year that remain out-
standing. The main issue is that we consider the financial statements do not sufficiently describe and present the
underlying nature of PAHO's activities and there is scope for streamlining. We believe that it would benefit from
focusing on the key material aspects relating to financial performance and health. This would help readers better
navigate and focus on the key elements of financial performance and position and improve engagement with the
financial statements.

1.40 PAHO's audit committee has an important role to play in advising management on the content of the finan-
cial statements and the financial report. In this regard, we see an opportunity for the audit committee to perform
a detailed review on the presentation and disclosure at its next session and set out its advice to management, in
advance of the year-end. We have therefore reiterated our previous recommendations in this area and have
suggested to the audit committee that it may wish to engage with management on this issue in advance of the
preparation of the 2021 Director's report and financial statements.
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Governance and internal control

1.41 The Director is responsible for ensuring effective financial administration of the Organization in accordance
with the Financial Regulations. The Director has established and maintains systems of internal control and dele-
gation which are important in providing a framework of assurance for Member States to rely upon. In our financial
audit we have identified further areas for improvement to these controls, but in general we found no control
weaknesses which impacted our audit opinion.

1.42 As we have previously reported, effective governance and internal control are an integral part of the mecha-
nisms the Organization uses to provide assurance over the use of resources to Member States. We have there-
fore reviewed PAHO's progress in key areas namely: internal control; risk management; and ethics and investi-
gation. We have also reviewed the effectiveness of PAHO's business continuity planning in the circumstances of
the pandemic.

Internal control

1.43 PAHO's staff have predominantly been working remotely since early 2020. PAHO's PMIS system provides
many of its core administrative systems. As it is cloud based, it provides full remote access for staff to continue
performing their functions remotely and the embedded workflow controls ensure that transactions are properly
processed, authorised and reviewed. As External Auditor, we have appropriate full read-only access to the PMIS
system to facilitate our work and have been able to ensure that the transactions we examined have been
properly recorded.

1.44 Overall, the results of our audit have not identified any significant control weaknesses or evidenced any no-
ticeable deterioration in the control environment. No issues of this nature have been reported to us by manage-
ment or identified within the Statement on Internal Control or through the work of the Office of Internal Audit
(OIA). Maintaining control in the pandemic environment has been a notable achievement, highlighting a key ben-
efit of the PMIS investment. However, control environments can change, and it continues to be important that
PAHO has robust processes in place to provide assurance over management's review processes and the
sources of assurance which evidence their effectiveness.

1.45 The Statement on Internal Control is used as a key accountability document to provide a transparent report
of the control environment and risks faced by organisations. In this year's Statement, the Director highlights
some of the developments in internal control, such as the assurance mapping exercise we discuss below. The
Director has also highlighted that the business continuity arrangements have worked effectively during the pan-
demic. The Statement also acknowledges that developments are needed in the management of project risks.
This is an area of weakness previously highlighted by the Executive Committee and the subject of prior External
Audit recommendations.

Compliance

1.46 In the past two years, we reported on the developments in the compliance function in exploring the reporting
capabilities of the PMIS system in enhancing the second line of defence and the efficiency of management over-
sight. This work has resulted in a suite of dashboards covering many administrative business processes, provid-
ing snapshot management information to highlight compliance issues and to identify unexpected results. During
2020, the work of the compliance advisor has been targeted on improving asset management with little wider
consideration of areas of greater corporate risk, such as procurement and project management.

1.47 In response to our recommendation last year on the need for a compliance strategy, PAHO has developed
a draft for the relevant internal committee to approve. The strategy focuses heavily on administration but does
not sufficiently cover the wider partnership activities of PAHO's work such as the procurement funds, investment
decisions and project activity. We will formally review the compliance strategy when it is approved and look to
see how this evolves as PAHO looks to strengthen its project management processes. PAHO has informed us
that compliance does consider procurement activities and are actively review country office procurement and
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associated training. However, these activities were not reflected in the draft compliance strategy which would
enable a more holistic view of compliance activity across PAHO.

1.48 In 2020, PAHO has completed its assurance mapping exercise. This document sets out controls estab-
lished to meet the requirements of regulations and other extant guidelines. It has evaluated the first line
measures in operation and determined the current level of assurance that existing controls provide; documented
the management information available for the second line; and identified relevant third line activity such as inter-
nal audit coverage of the subject matter. While the approach adopted should identify gaps in the controls re-
quired to meet regulations, it will not necessarily address all risks to key controls. Both the second- and third-line
activity should be focused on key and material reputational and financial risks. It is important that this assurance
mapping process is subject to regular review by PAHO's Audit Committee.

Risk management

1.49 During the year PAHO's risk management system has been an important point of reference for tracking key
risks during the pandemic. During the period there has also been specific focus on training in some key areas
where improvements were needed, for example, in respect of risk reporting in Haiti as we noted last year. The
focus of risk management has inevitably been upon supporting continued operations and the support for Member
States to continue their health programmes. This has been underpinned by ensuring risks to business continuity
and the wellbeing and safety of staff have been managed.

1.50 Over the last two years we have highlighted that risk management processes at the local level are not ac-
tively used for decision making. Risk management disciplines are important to drive good behaviour in setting a
transparent culture to identify, control and monitor risks. The corporate risk register is the distillation of this pro-
cess. While these risks have been captured corporately, PAHO needs to continue its efforts to promote the cul-
ture of effective risk management and the more regular review of operational risks at the local level. On key risks
such as the wellbeing of staff it is also vital that the whole organisation can demonstrate that risks are managed
consistently in line with the best practices communicated from the centre. We identified that the approach to of-
fice closures and remote working differed across offices without this being articulated in individual registers.

1.51 In our discussions with PAHO's risk management team we support the use of the centralised risk manage-
ment system, but we believe that it should be used more regularly as a tool to manage and oversee local opera-
tions, rather than only to support periodic central risk collation. We therefore encourage PAHO to better embed

the culture of using the risk tool as part of local management processes and for it to inform Country Office deci-

sion making. We have superseded and reformulated our previous recommendations in this area to clarify that

current risk processes need to be utilised more effectively in local management processes.

PAHO should:

R5: make better operational use of its existing risk management systems at a cost centre level and con-
tinue to promote the use of the risk registers tools and reporting to inform local decision making and
oversight.

Risk mitigation

1.52 A key benefit of risk management to assess the quality and impact of the mitigating controls once risks have
been identified. Expenditure on risk mitigation which leaves the vulnerabilities to the risk unchanged may repre-
sent both poor value for money and provide the misleading impression that a risk is being managed.

1.53 PAHO currently does not assess the impact of the risk mitigation measures and it may be beneficial to con-
sider both a pre-mitigation and post-mitigation score against each key risk. Such an analysis will provide greater
visibility of the impact of risk mitigation and its cost benefit. Risks with a high residual risk, or outside of tolerance
can then be escalated to Member States. This will result in the risk register being a more effective tool to support
decision making and to better direct how resources are focused.
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PAHO should:

R6: a) consider the inclusion of a post mitigation score within the risk register to provide greater visibil-
ity of the effectiveness of mitigation actions; and b) consider escalating residual risks outside of ac-
cepted tolerance to Member States.

Project risk

1.54 During 2020, as requested by Member States PAHO undertook an external review of its approach to project
risk management as part of its governance reforms. PAHO subsequently developed a new approach to project
approvals which are considered to carry significant, reputational or financial risks which meet certain agreed cri-
teria. In our report last year, we highlighted the importance of enhancing project risk management and the re-
forms in this area are a positive step as it is essential to safeguard the Organization. The external review also
recommended enhanced independent evaluation of project performance and to ensure that voluntary funded ac-
tivities are mainstreamed with other PAHO reporting processes and the reporting functionalities of PMIS. This will
provide a better set of assurances for Member States that risks carried by the organisation through voluntary
funded activities are suitably assessed, controlled and reported.

Ethics and investigations

Code of Ethics

1.55 As part of its mission, PAHO identifies the need to instil and reinforce a culture of ethics and integrity in its
work. The promotion of ethical conduct can lead to improved results, a better work environment and a reduction
in conflict. Nonetheless, in any organisation conflicts will inevitably arise. To foster an environment of high ethical
business standards and provide a systematic approach to deal with conflict, PAHO has established a compre-
hensive system, called the Integrity and Conflict Management System (ICMS). Through this system, which inte-
grates the relevant functions and policies, personnel working for PAHO can obtain assistance to address work-
place-related concerns and grievances.

1.56 As part of its work in 2020, PAHO has developed a revised code of Ethics that it plans to issue later this
year. The theme of the revised code is “Health First, Integrity Always” and the proposed document has been de-
veloped to be more accessible to users. Once launched it is important that the revised Code has the clear sup-
port of senior management and that the importance of compliance with its requirements are clearly communi-
cated. We also understand that the ICMS has been developing policies covering important areas such as Sexual
Exploitation and Abuse, the Protection against Retaliation, and a policy on Prevention and Resolution of Harass-
ment in the Workplace. These are important policies, responding to findings which emerged from the UN wide
survey on these matters. Successful implementation of the policies will require clear commitment by senior man-
agement, supported by appropriate training to ensure the appropriate culture is developed alongside their com-
munication.

Anti-fraud measures

1.57 In 2020 PAHO reported six cases of fraud, theft, damage, or loss of property valued at $2,083, from which
$250 was recovered. Our audit has not identified any indicators of fraud in the transactions we have tested. We
have noted the wider work of the Chief Investigator who, in his reporting of 2020, identified 49 cases of wrongdo-
ing which have been brought to his attention. Only two of these related to fraud and a further two to conflicts of
interest. PAHO considered this to be the result of reduced travel and ASHI claims, each a consequence of
changed patterns of claims. We have previously reported that fraud across the wider UN system is under-re-
ported, given the operational risks and challenges that such international organisations face.

1.58 As highlighted in the follow-up to our prior recommendation, PAHO's revised anti-fraud policy has still not
been issued. We first raised this in our 2018 report where we suggested it should be as a matter of priority to fi-
nalise and operationalise the new policy. It is important for Member States to urge the Secretariat to now issue
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the policy together with a raise fraud awareness campaign to emphasise the obligations of staff members. Fraud
and corruption may be opportunistic attempts by individuals that can add up to significant losses if not tackled,
and if the perpetrators escape with light or insignificant punishments, it can create a culture in which wrongdoers
appear to act with impunity.

1.59 The large sums expended by PAHO mean that it may also be exposed to systematic, well-organised and
premeditated fraud. In response to a separate recommendation, PAHO has completed an organisational wide
fraud risk assessment and we will consider how the resulting Fraud Risk Assessment Map is being used and
maintained as part of our future programme of work, especially in Country Offices. Continued controls vigilance
and awareness of fraud frisks is especially important given the economic impacts of the Pandemic, which will
change the overall risk threat facing PAHO and other organisations.

1.60 During 2020 PAHO undertook staff awareness sessions to train staff and it is important the messages about
expected behaviour and the arrangements for reporting concern are regularly communicated to staff. Some 63
per cent of all allegations came through the PAHO Helpline.

Business continuity and the Pandemic Response

1.61 During 2020, the pandemic has had major consequences for all international organisations, changing work-
ing practices, placing new strains on financing and most significantly impacting on the nature and extent of oper-
ational delivery. As an organisation focusing on health the pressures on PAHO have been significant, with head-
quarter and field office closures and staff having to work remotely from their homes. The scale and impact and
scale of the disruption were unprecedented in modern times and few preparedness plans across the system had
been designed to meet this degree of challenge.

1.62 We considered PAHO'’s organisational preparedness for the Coronavirus (COVID 19) pandemic. Prepared-
ness planning for disruptive events captures the related disciplines of business continuity, contingency and crisis
management. Effective preparedness planning involves:

. Identifying organisational threats and scenarios that have the potential to seriously impact business as
usual operations.

. Developing detailed plans for how these threats or scenarios are handled so that their consequences are
mitigated, balanced alongside an assessment of their likelihood and a consideration of other risks confront-
ing an organisation.

. Devising crisis management plans which set out how an organisation will deal with the immediate aftermath
of an emergency.

. Learning lessons from exercises and real events to inform future planning.

1.63 The consequences of inadequate preparedness planning can be critical for the organisation and its people.
Effective plans need to be flexible enough to address the risks that are known to the organisation as well as pro-
vide a foundation for handling those events that cannot be foreseen. We have focused on PAHO’s corporate
planning arrangements and whether they adequately identified the risk of a disruptive event; the sufficiency of its
plans to mitigate the impacts; and the steps taken to embed learning to improve preparedness for disruptive
events.

Continuity planning and managing risk

1.64 In line with many other organisations, while PAHO had business continuity plans in place at duty stations, it
did not consistently identify and document the risk of a disruptive event across its operations prior to the pan-
demic. The Secretariat’s corporate risk register for the 2018-19 biennium showed that around half of PAHO’s
country and sub-regional offices identified the risk of “emergencies due to natural disasters, public health events,
civil unrest, and other social disruptions affecting PAHO operations”. A significant number of PAHO offices and
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departments have since identified risks in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in particular the reputational risk
of not responding rapidly (25 offices and departments in March 2021), suggesting that risks are being kept under
review. We note that despite the experience of the last year, some country offices have still not reflected this risk
in their own risk register processes. identified this risk given their crucial front-line role in supporting Member
States in the pandemic.

1.65 The Secretariat had sought to improve how it mitigated the risk of disruptive events through its business
continuity planning in recent years. In 2015, the Secretariat appointed a business continuity manager, reporting
to the Director of Administration. In 2016, the Secretariat established a Crisis Management Team, chaired by the
Director of Administration. During the 2018-19 biennium, the Secretariat implemented greater standardisation of
its approach to producing and documenting business continuity plans, supported by operating procedures.

1.66 The Secretariat has supplemented these developments with additional guidance and training to personnel.
A standard operating procedure setting out the business continuity plan for PAHO’s headquarters has been in
place since May 2018 and country and sub-regional offices now also have business continuity plans. The Secre-
tariat has drawn on good practice and guidance in other organisations, including the WHO and wider UN net-
work, to inform its approach to business continuity planning.

Enacting continuity plans

1.67 The pandemic has enabled PAHO to properly test its business continuity arrangements and implement its
crisis management plan, building on planning and process improvements made in the 2018-19 biennium. Follow-
ing the initial declaration of an emergency by the Director on 27 January 2020, a standard operating procedure
for emergency teleworking (homeworking) was implemented on 11 March 2020, the same day the WHO de-
clared a global pandemic. This was followed on 12 March by a guidance bulletin in which country offices were
asked to review and activate their business continuity plans, identify critical personnel and check membership of
local crisis management teams. Positive features of PAHO’s response include:

e  Work to develop a single repository for business continuity procedures, guidance and information to co-ordi-
nate and improve information flows between headquarters and country offices. This repository includes lat-
est plans, data on critical and quarantined personnel and the working status of offices.

. Regular surveys of personnel to understand their circumstances to inform and refine its response.
. Work to establish the criteria and approval process for allowing personnel to return to offices

e  The PMIS platform has proven itself a suitable platform to enable and facilitate remote working for PAHO’s
critical business systems and processes.

1.68 We did, however, observe some areas where improvements to preparedness planning can be made, we
noted that some PAHO representatives in country offices continued to insist on personnel being office-based de-
spite the Secretariat’'s guidance on the requirement to work from home. PAHO’s executive management has
sought to manage these individual behaviours but the Secretariat should nonetheless reflect on how it engages
with its country offices and the networks it uses to strengthen capacity and steer behaviour as part of future pre-
paredness planning and to ensure a duty of care to its staff. We also noted that the quality of critical data and
information flows could have been improved. For example, the Secretariat invested considerable time and effort
identifying its critical personnel at the outset of the crisis, information that should be routinely maintained as part
of continuity plans. Similarly, at the time of our audit in December 2020, the Secretariat had no central record of
personnel on PAHO premises on any one day, which we would see as fundamental to measuring the health and
safety risk.

Using the experience to inform future working

1.69 While the Secretariat has adjusted its response to the developing pandemic over time, it has not, at the time
of our audit, undertaken a comprehensive review of lessons learned from the experience to inform future
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preparedness planning and the way in which it might leverage the benefits of remote working. This partly reflects
the ongoing nature of the pandemic and the Secretariat told us it is planning to gather evidence on lessons
learned later in 2021.

1.70 Our experience of many organisations is that remote working has identified opportunities to create efficien-
cies and the help to provide staff with a better work life balance to improve productivity and to gain benefits in
reducing accommodation needs. It is important that PAHO seeks to secure the benefits of this challenging and
difficult experience to leverage efficiencies and to focus organisational culture around the outputs and outcomes.
We will continue to track how PAHO adapts over the next few years once the Pandemic situation has stabilised.

PAHO should:

R7: conduct a comprehensive and systematic assessment of the lessons learned from its deployment of
preparedness plans in response to the pandemic to inform the development of business continuity pro-
cedures.

R8: We would expect this to include a clear incorporation of continuity plan responses within the assess-
ment of local office risks, clear centrally enforced policies across all PAHO operations to enforce home
working where necessary; to gather critical data on key posts and to ensure there is control over any
staff working on site during crisis periods.
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Part Two

Management of PAHO's Procurement Funds

Introduction and scope

2.1 Over time the Procurement Funds of PAHO (the Funds) have significantly increased to be the PAHO's larg-
est programme of activity. In 2020, total revenue on these funds was $954.0 million, representing 72.4 per cent
of overall revenues and 71.2 per cent of overall expenses. Funds are provided by Member States which partici-
pate in them, and these resources are dedicated to specific activities relevant to that specific contributing state.

2.2 The Funds pool resources of the participating states to achieve timely access of essential health supplies,
reduced prices and better value for money. PAHO aims to help develop national capacity for handling and man-
aging the vaccine and other equipment supply chains to drive improved efficiency and efficacy. The current Pan-
demic has provided a heightened context to demonstrate the value of pooled resources with expertise in the sup-
ply chain and in participating states they are fulfilling an important role in supporting them in their response to the
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

2.3 Given the scale and importance of its programme, the delivery of the Procurement Fund activity carries sig-
nificant operational and reputational risk and therefore needs appropriate governance, strategy, monitoring and
administration. We have undertaken a review of the two key procurement mechanisms: The Revolving Fund for
Access to Vaccines (RFV) (2020 revenue: $954.3 million); and the Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public
Health Supplies (SF) (2020 revenue: $187.0 million). We have not included the reimbursable procurement on
behalf of Member States in our scope (2020: revenue $1.6 million).

2.4 Our approach has been informed by our experience of procurement in other bodies we audit and took ac-
count of work undertaken in Secretariat-commissioned external reviews. Our reporting covers:

. Governance, strategy and oversight

. Operational delivery, including the pandemic response
3 Engagement with suppliers and international partners
e  Administration of the Funds

2.5 We are particularly mindful that during our work the teams involved with the Funds were heavily engaged in
Pandemic response, and we recognise that they were working in difficult circumstances in supporting our audit
alongside their operational activities.

Background

Revolving Fund for Access to Vaccines

2.6 The RFV was established in 1977 to facilitate the timely availability of quality-assured vaccines at prices
lower than would otherwise be achieved if Member States acted unilaterally. It supports national immunisation
programmes by helping assess needs and vaccine demand and by procuring WHO pre-qualified vaccines and
syringes on behalf of Member States. Procured vaccines include those for immunisation against Hepatitis A,
Hepatitis B, Seasonal Influenza, Measles, Mumps and Rubella, and Rabies. The RFV also handles supply chain
logistics such as maintenance of the cold chain to ensure vaccines are kept at the correct temperature during
transportation.
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2.7 By procuring vaccines through the RFV, Member States leverage existing processes and legislation and
avoid having to engage directly with suppliers. The RFV is currently supporting countries in their participation in
the COVID-19 Vaccine Global Access (COVAX) facility - the GAVI-administered international platform to acceler-
ate the global development, manufacture and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines. The RFV’s work is
informed by a Technical Advisory Group which brings together regional vaccines expertise and PAHO program-
matic and procurement knowledge.

Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies

2.8 The SF was established in 1999 to procure medicines and supplies for HIV/AIDs, tuberculosis, malaria and
other infectious diseases. It provides a mechanism for pooled procurement to reduce prices for individual Mem-
ber States. Like the RFV, the Secretariat aims to work with Member States on assessing needs and demand and
by ensuring that products purchased meet minimum international quality standards.

2.9 Nearly 400 different products were purchased in 2019 through the SF, including medicines for the treatment
of communicable diseases like HIV/AIDS, Malaria, Tuberculosis and Zika; neglected tropical diseases and non-
communicable diseases such as cancer and transplantation; medical devices; health supplies (mosquito nets
etc.) and diagnostic kits. Further products including personal protective equipment, testing equipment and labora-
tory reagents were also procured in 2020 in response to the pandemic. The SF, which sits within the Secretar-
iat's Health Systems and Services Department, also aims to work with programmes such as the ‘HEARTS in the
Americas’ cardiovascular health programme.

Governance, strategy and oversight

2.10 Some 41 countries and territories participate in the RFV and 34 in the SF. The biggest users of the RFV
are Brazil ($176m), Peru ($90m), Argentina ($147m) and Colombia ($96m); while Brazil is by far the largest user
of the SF ($109m). PAHO's pharmaceutical procurement is significant, according to United Nations data it had
the second highest level among 40 UN agencies in 2019. It is important therefore that there is effective oversight
of the Procurement Funds and while responding to participating Member States, maintaining accountability for
the programme to all PAHO Member States.

Engagement with Member States

2.11 The Secretariat engages with Member States to understand their needs and gain feedback on performance,
but we have noted that this is ad hoc and lacks a clear systematic approach. There is no dedicated user forum
for the Funds and regular quantitative surveys have not been conducted to obtain feedback on overall perfor-
mance.

2.12 Member States were consulted to support plans for the RFV Fund, and they participated with feedback
through an external review in 2018. The Secretariat also engages in bilateral discussions with individual states
as part of the routine procurement operations and the work undertaken in identifying and supporting demand
plans. While there is a good level of engagement with participating Member States individually there is scope for
a more structured collective engagement of users and this could be linked to the development of the procure-
ment funds portal, which will generally help improve communication with individual States.

2.13 In terms of overall accountability, we consider that it is important to supplement bilateral reporting with a
more formal process for reporting and collating Member State feedback to better identify and inform strategy.
This would help inform strategy and provide an opportunity to provide better opportunities for reporting of overall
Fund performance.

PAHO should:
R9: consider establishing a Member State user forum for the Procurement Funds and instigate more regular customer
surveys so that the needs of Member States can be more clearly reflected in future development.
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Strategy for the procurement funds

2.14 The most effective procurement functions are those which have a clear strategic approach, drawing on an
understanding of the organisation’s priorities and those of its users to identify, categorise and satisfy procure-
ment needs. In the context of these funds this means:

3 understanding and responding to Member State needs and aligning with PAHO programme objectives;
. working with suppliers to strengthen the quantity and quality of supply; and

. working with international partners to maximise health impacts, develop the market, enhance national ca-
pacity and increase PAHO’s buying power.

2.15 PAHO does not have an overarching strategy for the Funds. In light of the recent external review there is
an opportunity to reflect on how to make optimum use of the Funds for the benefit of Member States. Since the
funds were originally approved there has been wider involvement of international organisations providing vac-
cines and medical supplies and procurement approaches have developed. It is therefore important that PAHO
can articulate clearly the value it brings to its constituent countries. A clear strategy underpinned with overarch-
ing objectives aligned to PAHO's mandate will also enhance accountability and enable Member States to meas-
ure performance more systematically.

PAHO should:

R10: in consultation with Member States, develop an overarching strategy for the Funds to demonstrate their value and
to facilitate systematic performance monitoring.

Management oversight

2.16 In reviewing the Funds, we concurred with the 2018 external review recommendation to strengthen man-
agement oversight of the Fund. In September 2020, PAHO changed the focus of its Synergy and Integration
Group, chaired by the Assistant Director. Its remit covers both RFV and SF and its oversight responsibilities in-
clude procurement strategy, integration, resourcing, risk management, performance and review of biennial work-
plans for each fund. However, the Group only met once in the six months to end February 2021, indicating that
the arrangements for integrated oversight are not yet embedded. We believe there is scope to use this forum to
manage the key areas of strategic focus and to monitor outcomes, and these processes will then feed into en-
hanced reporting processes for Member States. Strong governance is essential given the reputational and finan-
cial risks of this major programme.

Risk management of the Funds

2.17 The process for documenting and escalating risks in the Funds is only partially developed. While eight pro-
curement risks were included in the enterprise-wide corporate risk register, these all related to the RFV. The cor-
porate risk register did not include risks and mitigations which referred directly to the SF, despite the significant
challenges linked to the pandemic. As we have highlighted in wider reporting, it is important that the identification
of risks at the programme level is used as a process to support management oversight and decision making on a
regular basis and that the risk reporting procedures become embedded as a mechanism to track the effective-
ness of risk mitigations.

PAHO should:

R11: strengthen governance of the procurement funds by ensuring that the Synergy and Integration Group meets more
regularly with a standing agenda covering amongst other issues strategy, developments, financial and operational perfor-
mance, user engagement and risk.

Reporting performance

2.18 Strong performance measurement and reporting is essential for fostering organisational improvement and
helping Member States and users to ensure accountability for the use of their resources. Regular reporting of the
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Funds' performance to Member States and to senior management is currently limited, Member State reporting
largely consists of:

3 Performance described within the Director’s Annual Report.

. Reports to Member States which are prepared each biennium on a review of the service charge applied to
purchases made through the funds, also detailing how the revenue from the charge has been used by the
Secretariat.

. Reports to Member States are also prepared by exception, for example in 2020 on PAHO’s COVID-19 re-
sponse and on the need to agree a change to the lowest price clause for COVAX vaccines.

2.19 Recognising that the Synergy and Integration Group's role is developing, our review highlighted that internal
Fund reporting could be further developed to highlight performance against more detailed targets relevant to the
Fund's activities. We identified several approaches to existing reporting and monitoring performance:

. Monthly Finance Department reports are prepared for PAHO’s Director and Executive Management which
include key financial data on the procurement funds

e  Twice-yearly ‘performance monitoring and assessment’ meetings with Executive Management are held, un-
derpinned by review of a single indicator (the proportion of requested vaccines and supplies delivered to
Member States within the planned time frame).

e Ad hoc engagement with senior management to discuss plans, including digital investment for the procure-
ment funds. We also noted that there was no formal systematic governance mechanism to track and report
on progress against the actions arising from the external reviews conducted in relation to the Funds either
to Executive management or the Member States.

2.20 PAHO is taking steps to improve the breadth and quality of performance indicators as it invests in digital
reforms, but there are manual processes involved to cleanse data and not all data used for reporting is contained
within PMIS. PAHO now routinely measures spend by suppliers, timeliness of deliveries, and aspects of quality
(e.g. cold chain ruptures) and we saw evidence that it is developing scorecards to bring this information together,
although we have not seen how this will ultimately be reported.

2.21 The proposed online portal aims to give individual participant Member States more tailored performance
information. The external review in 2018 highlighted areas where procurement fund performance could be care-
fully monitored, including on processing costs and times which were considered high for the RFV, compared with
other similar organizations. Despite positive progress, the Secretariat is not yet operating a fully comprehensive
performance management framework for the funds in which:

. Objectives, benchmarks and targets are specified.

. Relevant financial and performance metrics covering strategic procurement (growth, supply, partnership
etc.) and operational procurement (cost, productivity, quality and speed) are identified, routinely measured
and analysed.

. Analysed performance data is consolidated and regularly reported to the Secretariat's senior management
and to Member States.

. Decisions are made in the light of performance data.

PAHO should:
R12: devise a comprehensive performance framework to enable more systematic analysis and reporting of progress
against the Funds' objectives to Member States and Executive Management.
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Operational delivery

Demand planning

2.22 PAHO works with Member States to assess their demand for vaccines, medicines and equipment, conduct-
ing ‘demand planning’. It then collates individual plans to produce an aggregate estimate to inform its Fund buy-
ing decisions. The Secretariat sees this exercise as an important part of its technical support strategy to enhance
management of national health supplies capacity. Accurate planning matters because it helps to avoid ‘stock-
outs’ and reduce waste, and supports better planning of purchase volumes, thereby enhancing the negotiating
position with suppliers.

2.23 A key measure of the effectiveness of the Funds is in its ability to deliver support for inventory management
capacity nationally, and through this to minimise the gap between planned and actual demand over time. Analy-
sis of RFV vaccine demand shows significant variation between planned and actual volumes purchased through
the fund. Actual demand for the RFV was overall 24 per cent higher than forecast in 2019 and 12 per cent lower
than forecast in 2020 but with significant variation at the Member State level. Across both years, this ranged from
an over-forecast of 63 per cent to an under-forecast of 286 per cent against actual volumes. While accepting
there is dislocation resulting from the pandemic, we consider that the variability between member states indicates
there is scope for improving the accuracy of demand planning and driving improved efficiency.

2.24 The process of demand planning for the SF is less developed, with formal arrangements piloted for the first
time in 2020. The Secretariat has undertaken a detailed evaluation of this pilot which has highlighted the need
to build capacity in PAHO Country Offices to support the Fund’s work, especially as a result of high turnover of
personnel, and in some Member States, poor inventory management and lack of integration in key healthcare
enablers. PAHO regularly works with its users to improve demand planning, using case studies of process im-
provement to illustrate the benefit of change. The Secretariat’s plan for a new digital demand planning tool in
2021 may help to save processing time and build analytical and assurance capability. However, PAHO's impact
is limited to providing advice and guidance. Member States are responsible for developing their supply chain
and inventory management capacity.

PAHO should:

R13: consider engaging more deeply and consistently with Member States on their stock management
and demand forecasting capacity, reporting progress to Executive Management and Member States to
measure the additional impact of the Funds’ work.

Working with suppliers and international partners

2.25 A strategic procurement function invests in understanding and influencing the marketplace and working with
suppliers to improve supply routes and achieve more competitive pricing. The procurement funds do some work
in this regard, for example, the RFV’s engagement in the Developing Countries Vaccine Manufacturers Network
and the SF’s participation in supplier forums, but this is relatively ad hoc. A Secretariat-commissioned review in
2019 found that PAHO’s procurement function remained largely transaction-based, not sufficiently focused on
developing relationships with suppliers and partners and lacking a clear strategy. Both funds have since devel-
oped shorter-term plans and it has some additional posts proposed in its 2022-23 plan targeting:

. improved market intelligence-gathering on prices and product category developments;
. strengthened performance management of suppliers; and

. increased work with partners like UNICEF aimed at sponsoring new suppliers and developments, leverag-
ing price reductions and learning from other group purchasing models.

2.26 A key reason for Member States to participate in the funds is to secure supplies at lower cost. For the RFV,
Member State principles require a lowest price clause in which the default position is that suppliers should match
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the best price they offer to other buyers. Both funds embed the principle that participating countries should pay
the same price for vaccines and supplies. However, the approach to pricing raises several practical issues in
respect of cost transparency:

e  The Secretariat cannot rely solely on suppliers to report on the deals they make with others, so it uses its
own intelligence-gathering work alongside information from UNICEF and the WHO to check that RFV prices
are the lowest; but comparable data is not always available.

. The RFV lowest price clause only applies to the cost of the vaccine and not the whole cost to the Member
State of obtaining that vaccine. For example, it was estimated that freight and insurance costs were, on
average, around a quarter (24 per cent) of the vaccine acquisition cost for Caribbean countries. PAHO has
told us that logistics is an area of focus it intends to look at more closely.

2.27 The Secretariat is exploring how it could invite bids from suppliers which include freight and insurance costs
(so-called Total Immunization Cost) but this raises practical challenges around fixing transportation costs over an
extended period and, more fundamentally, makes enforcement of the lowest price clause and the same price
principle more difficult because pricing will be tailored to individual country circumstances.

2.28 Without full visibility of suppliers prices with other buyers, PAHO has limited ability to ensure it obtains the
best price. It is also probable that a supplier’'s commitment to PAHO will influence its negotiations with other
buyers which may be to the detriment of those buyers and longer-term market efficiency. PAHO informed us that
the founding resolutions only required it to achieve the best price offered to other buyers.

2.29 The RFV lowest price clause does not apply to all the vaccines it purchases through this mechanism,
especially where demand is high, and supply is constrained. Following pressure from suppliers and other buyers
like the GAVI-Alliance (GAVI), exceptions to the RFV’s lowest price clause have been agreed with Member
States in recent years for PCV, Rotavirus and HPV vaccines. Data shows that seven per cent of RFV vaccines
(23 per cent of value) were purchased outside the lowest price clause in 2020. This meant, for example, that
most PAHO RFV participants paid more than three times the price GAVI paid on behalf of its recipient countries
for PCV in 2020.

2.30 We understand that RFV Member States who meet GAVI’s income-based eligibility criteria do receive these
particular vaccines at the price GAVI pays, but this creates an imbalance across PAHO’s Member States. Most
recently, the lowest price clause and same price principle have been further challenged by the tiered, income-
based, pricing model adopted by the COVAX facility. However, the approach is not consistent across funds and
PAHO did not establish a lowest price clause for the SF because purchase categories are broader and volumes
smaller providing less market leverage.

2.31 The SF has been able to use new partnership working approaches through joint procurements and ‘piggy-
backing’ on existing commercial agreements with partners like the Global Fund, WHO, UNICEF and UNDP
during the Pandemic which has enabled it to achieve better value. PAHO informed us that the SF resolution does
not require the lowest price clause as the small volumes do not give PAHO the market leverage. In building
future strategies, it will be important for the Funds to set out clear parameters on how it best offers value for
money to its Members, and to be transparent where it is unable to offer lowest price.

2.32 The changing marketplace and evolving strategic priorities of other buyers presents challenges and
opportunities for the procurement funds. The issues raised by PAHO’s approach to pricing and wider market
developments point to the need for the Secretariat to undertake a comprehensive review of its procurement
strategy for the Funds and to report to Member States on its findings. This should include consideration of pricing
policies and where best value can be achieved for Member States and in considering greater joint or partnership
procurement to maximise synergies.
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PAHO should:

R14: in light of the growing complexity of the global marketplace, review its pricing strategy and policies
for the Funds as whole to better enable Member States to assess PAHO's purchasing power and value
proposition and to consider international partnerships.

Supporting pandemic response

2.33 The Secretariat’'s procurement funds have played a significant role in managing the region’s response to the
pandemic. In relation to the COVAX facility, the RFV has partnered with UNICEF’s Supply Division to manage
the procurement of the COVID-19 vaccine. The RFV will use the terms negotiated through the COVAX facility to
purchase vaccines on behalf of PAHO'’s participating Member States. By December 2020, 27 ‘self-financing’
PAHO Member States had signed commitment agreements with GAVI while 10 others, classed as lower income,
are eligible for donor-supported access through the COVAX Advanced Market Commitment.

2.34 In 2021, the RFV will coordinate shipments of vaccines and support Member States in their immunization
programs. To this end, the RFV will need to manage the anticipated surge in supplies in the second half of 2021
on top of its normal activities - a significant logistical challenge that has significant associated operational and
reputational risks that will require oversight by Executive Management.

2.35 Meanwhile, Secretariat data shows that $110 million (67 purchase orders) of pandemic-related medical
products were procured using the SF in 2020, over half (59 per cent) of all spending through this mechanism.
The Secretariat’s wish to respond at pace meant that it did not use competitive tendering for these products.
Competitive tendering is preferable in normal circumstances because it helps drive down prices, increase value
and promote greater transparency. In the event, the Secretariat mitigated some of the risks of single tendering at
pace by working with UNICEF and other UN agencies to consolidate demand, agree quality thresholds and en-
gage suppliers collectively. This partnership approach led to global agreements which fixed price and quality
standards. Some 31 per cent ($34 million) of the Secretariat's SF COVID-19 spending in 2020 was through these
global long-term agreements. The remainder of SF spending was through suppliers appointed by single tender.

2.36 Given the additional value for money and transparency risks around single tendering we conducted addi-
tional testing of the individual SF COVID-19 procurements. We reviewed the governance surrounding this pro-
curement exercise as 11 purchase orders worth $76 million were procured through a single source contract. We
found appropriate due diligence and market comparison had been performed, and authorisation for the departure
from the competitive bidding process was obtained. In our wider experience, such tendering arrangements in the
circumstances are not unreasonable.

2.37 The importance of the role performed by the Funds in response to the COVID-19 pandemic warrants spe-
cial emphasis in reporting to Member States on performance across the 2020-2021 biennium. While we note that
the Secretariat has updated Member States through workshops and meetings, through reports to PAHO’s gov-
erning bodies and through the Director's Annual Report, we believe that the Secretariat’'s procurement funds re-
sponse should be the subject of a lessons learned exercise. The results of this exercise should be reported to
Member States.

2.38 One immediate observation is that the pandemic has caused the Secretariat to broaden and deepen its
partnership working with other international buyers and it should assess the potential benefits of further pooling
of technical resources and buying power in pursuit of strengthened supply and reduced pricing within its wider
activities.

PAHO should:

R15: analyse and evaluate the lessons learned through operating the Funds during the pandemic to: a)
explore the potential to leverage better value or supply through co-operation more widely with partners;
and b) to inform discussions on how PAHO might respond to future health emergencies. It should report
its findings to Member States to inform future decision making.
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Administration of the Funds
Managing capital accounts for the funds

2.39 Both Funds operate capital accounts which give Member States a short-term (60-days) line of interest-free
credit that means they can defer payment for health supplies. In 2020, 39 Member States used the credit line for
the RFV and 16 used the SF credit line. At 31 December 2020, the Fund balances for the RFV and SF were
$223.0 million (2019: $209.9 million) and $24.1 million (2019: $19.9 million) respectively.

2.40 External reviews have concluded that the RFV’s capital account has been underutilized despite the value
Member States place on it. While recognising that the situation may have been quite different during the pan-
demic, recommendations included a further categorisation to separate some of the balance for short-term credit
line use and some for longer-term loans for investments for which interest might be charged. Such longer-term
investments could, for example, include supply chain work with Member States on inventory management capac-
ity-building or support for programmatic priorities. There is potential for PAHO to add value through a more stra-
tegic approach to making better use of these resources to secure improved outcomes.

2.41 Our analysis shows that at December 2020, some 66 per cent of the capital accounts were sitting on de-
posit and not being used either to provide credit or investment in longer-term initiatives. Meanwhile, the $11.2
million interest earned from PAHQO’s investments, which include capital accounts, is treated by PAHO’s as flexi-
ble funds and used at the discretion of management and not for Funds' activities.

2.42 For those capital accounts that are used by Member States for credit, the Secretariat faces a problem of
late repayment with over half ($45.7 million or 52 per cent) of total debt overdue at December 2020. Following
our prior recommendation, the Secretariat has started to more actively consider impairment for debt unlikely to
be recovered in the near term and impaired $6.3 million in 2019 and $13.1 million in 2020. PAHO should review
its credit policy and consider whether the risks associated with it are tolerable. PAHO should also redouble its
efforts in encouraging Member States to pay their liabilities on time.

2.43 In the absence of a detailed working policy on lines of credit, the practice appears to default to granting ap-
proval, even where existing debt is overdue. Of 55 Member State credit requests between February 2019 and
early December 2020 requiring ‘exceptional approval’, all were approved, and of these 54 had existing overdue
debt at the time of the request. In response to this, PAHO has noted that certain requests are stopped at earlier
stages of the process. While the Secretariat has used payment plans as part its approval process for credit, it
does not have a standard recovery process or penalties for late payment. PAHO informed us this is not allowed
under the Funds' rules and agreements and Member States are not contractually obliged to meet their repay-
ments in practice.

PAHO should:

R16: a) consider the benefits and risks associated with using the capital accounts to provide Member States with both
short-term credit and longer-term investment options; b) share with Member States for approval of any changes pro-
posed.

R17: review the policies in place for granting access to credit and the remedies available to ensure prompt repayment and
to address overdue debt.
Administration service fee

2.44 In addition to the costs of RFV and SF special programs, many of the Secretariat’'s enabling functions and
Country Offices contribute to the administration of the funds. As highlighted in our 2018 report, it is essential that
voluntary funded programmes are transparent about their costs, to ensure there is no cross subsidisation and
that users are fully aware of how they are funding the programmes in which they participate.
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2.45 During 2020 management initiated a review of the service fee and the costs of the Fund, analysing how
staff time was spent. Following this analysis it recommended to the Directing Council an increase in the service
fee charged to Member States for using the Funds from 1.25 per cent to 1.75 per cent from 1 January 2021. At
the same time reducing the amount transferred to the capital accounts to 2.5 per cent, keeping an overall charge
rate of 4.25 per cent.

2.46 The Secretariat outlined its rationale and approach for its costing exercise in our discussions and provided
its analysis. For 2018/19, PAHO analysed the staff involved in administering the funds and other direct costs of
supporting activities. This analysis showed that total costs were $21.4 million and the recovery at 1.25 per cent
created program support revenue of $17.7 million. This indicates that for that biennium the existing rates were
under-recovering the full costs of activities. With changes in procurement fund transaction volumes, efficiencies
and other investment projects key assumptions and cost inputs will change, PAHO should regularly review its
cost model to ensure that it remains appropriate.

2.47 ltis important that PAHO allocate program support reserves to the cost centres on the same basis as the
costs have been determined to ensure that procurement funds transactions do not subsidise other Secretariat
activities, or vice versa. PAHO does not routinely track where staff time is allocated or spent using timecards
and therefore the allocation of staff to procurement funds activity was a broad estimate. PAHO should consider
using PMIS functionality to maintain an accurate record of staff utilisation, such information would enable the
Secretariat to maintain a more accurate measure of the costs of supporting the Funds and the appropriate ser-
vice fee level. Such disciplines would have wider benefit for the Organization as it would enable better visibility of
activities to enable more informed decision making on their value to the business. Such processes are increas-
ingly important as part of strategic efficiency programmes.

PAHO should:

R18: ensure that its Funds' cost recovery model is regularly reviewed to ensure that they only recover
directly attributable costs and that the program support balances do not accumulate.

R19: consider how it can utilise existing systems improve its cost information on the use of staff resources to better un-
derstand the full cost of programmes and processes.

Reporting systems

2.48 The different reporting systems used to manage the Funds add to the complexity of reporting, making it diffi-
cult to track through the procurement, delivery and performance outcomes to give a holistic view of performance.
The Secretariat is investing $3 million on digital projects intended to improve procurement funds efficiency and
effectiveness in the 2020-2021 biennium.

2.49 Key elements of the investment include plans for a digital portal to provide more information to Member
States and allow them to ‘self-serve’; a digital tool to support demand planning work with Member States; and
software that will enable automation of order requisitioning and shipping notification processes. Implementation
of digital plans by the end of 2021 is a risk given the pandemic and we note that a plan to automate order requisi-
tioning and shipping notification by October 2020 had already been delayed by six months. PAHO informed us
that this was implemented in May 2021.

2.50 While we recognise the potential for digital investment to improve procurement funds efficiency and effec-
tiveness, we are concerned that these investments were not subjected to a proper business case analysis and
their benefits in practice are not being adequately tracked. We have not seen an approved business case specifi-
cally for the Member State Portal. The draft did not include any quantified assessment of the costs and benefits
of the investment. Without a clear business case and a clear strategic framework of objectives it may be difficult
for PAHO to demonstrate whether there is good value in the investment before proceeding and a clear fame
against which to evaluate whether objectives are being met to provide full accountability for the resources used.
This should also include a systematic review of the portal post-implementation, incorporating the views of users.
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2.51 While the Secretariat has set out in discussions with us its objectives for its investment programme, these
are not comprehensively documented in a benefits realisation plan. Such a plan is an important accountability
tool since it demonstrates that the Secretariat has articulated the benefits (or savings) it might logically expect
from its digital investment and is actively monitoring and managing these. The investment must be seen within
the need for wider improvements and enhancements to strategy and governance over the Funds, which we have
identified within our report.

PAHO should:

R20: (a) ensure that all future digital investment decisions are underpinned by a robust and documented business case
which sets out the strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management case for change; (b) subject all such busi-
ness cases to proper scrutiny and approval; and (c) implement a comprehensive benefits realisation plan for its current
digital programme for the procurement funds; (d) seek user feedback on the value of a customer portal as part of a post-
implementation review.

R21: ensure that the implementation of the portal is aligned with clear strategic objectives, including PAHO's information
systems strategy.
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Part Three

Prior year recommendations

3.1 As at 31 March 2021, of the 41 recommendations from 2018 and 2019 that remained open, 18 (44 per cent)
were in progress and two (5 per cent) were considered not implemented and remain open. In this year's report
we have superseded and closed seven (17 per cent) prior recommendations and 14 (34 per cent) had been
either implemented or closed.

3.2 Many of the recommendations in progress relate to our review of Human Resource Management in 2019.
Given the nature of these recommendations and the proposed actions by management, we would not have
expected them to have been fully implemented within the past year. Given the importance of HR management to
the Organization it is our intention to perform a substantive follow-up against these recommendations and review
the status of the PAHO people strategy during our 2021 audit.

3.3 In our substantive report this year we have revisited several areas covered in our previous reports to adapt
our observations in light of changed circumstances and organisational developments. This is particularly the case
in respect of the management of reserves and programme support. We have additionally revised our
observations in respect of risk management and have again commented on the slow progress in issuing the
polices to prevent and detect fraud. We continue to see the PAHO Audit Committee as a source of assurance in
respect of the review and challenge on the pace and quality of implementation.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 1

Undertake an analysis of the
Working Capital Fund utilisa-
tion and consider the need to
review its capitalisation level.

PAHO monitors the Working Capital Fund on a monthly basis. The current
level of $25.0 million was established by Member States at the 53rd Di-
recting Council meeting in 2014 and is only funded at $21.7 million, which
has periodically proven to be insufficient to cover the delay in the receipt
of assessed contributions. PAHO will submit a proposal, including a plan
to fund the Working Capital Fund in a reasonable period of time, to be
included in the 2020 Governing Bodies schedule of topics.

Update March 2020

The Working Capital Fund was fully funded ($25 million) and fully used at
the end of 2019. A proposal to increase the Working Capital Fund to $50
million has been submitted to the Governing Bodies.

Update September 2020

An increase of the Working Capital Fund ceiling to $50 million was ap-
proved in September during the 58th Directing Council. No further actions
by PAHO.

We note the change to
the capitalisation level of
the Working Capital
Fund by the Directing
Council and consider this
recommendation closed.

Implemented
and Closed.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 2

Clarify the ability to borrow
cash between funds in the Fi-
nancial Regulations and Rules
and should introduce a process
for the Director to authorise
and report all borrowed funds.

PAHO will submit a proposal as part of the standard 2020 Governing Bod-
ies schedule of topics on Revisions to the Financial Regulations and Finan-
cial Rules.

Update March 2020

PAHO reported the level of internal borrowing to the Directing Council in
2019. A proposal to amend the Financial Rules will be presented to the
Governing Bodies.

Update September 2020

The 166th Executive Committee confirmed the amendments to the Finan-
cial Rules proposed by the Director, with immediate effect. The rules give
authority to the Director to determine which funds are available for bor-
rowing and also stipulates that internal borrowing should be reported to
the governing bodies through the Annual Financial Report of the Director.
Furthermore, the Director receives reports on the status of internal

We note the changes to
the Financial Rules and
consider this recommen-
dation closed.

Implemented
and Closed.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

borrowing monthly as well as forecasts of future potential requirements
based on the collection of assessed contributions to inform her decision-
making process.

No further actions by PAHO.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 3

Analyse costs to assess the ex-
tent to which full cost is recov-
ered on voluntary-funded ac-
tivity and develop an equita-
ble, consistent and transparent
cost recovery policy.

A UN-wide assessment in 2005-2006 established the 13% PSC rate, while
acknowledging it was not sufficient. PAHO tries to follow this, but many
donors including Member States do not accept it. Costing analysis will be
conducted as time allows, and any change to PSC policy will be submitted
to Member States for concurrence.

Update March 2020

No further comments.

Update September 2020

Please note that a PSC Policy is in place that PAHO considers to be "equi-
table, consistent and transparent" (see the most recent policy from De-
cember 2018: Chapter IV Resource Mobilization, Revenue and Awards,
Sub-Chapter IV.1 Mobilizing Resources from Donors, IV.1.2b PAHO Pro-
gram Support Costs (PSC) on Voluntary Contributions). An analysis of PSC
costs and full cost recovery is being conducted in the latter part of 2020.
Update March 2021

An analysis of PSC costs (direct and indirect) is being conducted. Given the
number and volume of Voluntary Contributions it was decided that a de-
tailed survey will have to take place to understand better the figures and
cost recovered. PBU will continue with the analysis, for consideration by
EXM later this year.

We note PAHO's pro-
posed action and ex-
pected completion date
of June 2021. We will ex-
amine the action against
this  recommendation
during next year's audit.

In progress.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 4

Review its accumulated pro-
gramme support reserves and
consider whether additional
funds should be utilised to
meet costs that have previ-
ously been borne by core re-
sources.

The practice for programme support funds (PSC) in PAHO is to accumulate
the income received during a biennium. When the biennium ends, the
total balance is made available to finance the Program and Budget (PB) for
the subsequent biennium. In cases where the Organization is not able to
implement 100% of the available balance, these funds are carried over to
finance the following PB biennium. PAHO will review the policy on the gov-
ernance and management of these funds in order to reflect the current
use of these funds.

Update March 2020

No further comments.

Update September 2020

We note that there have
been no further status
updates on this recom-
mendation during 2020.
We have therefore
closed this recommen-
dation as not imple-
mented and have refor-
mulated our recommen-
dations on reserves in
this year's report given

Recommen-
dation refor-
mulated in
the current
report.
Closed.
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Previous Summary of recommendation | Administration’s comments on status: March 2021 External Auditor’s view | Status
reference
No further actions by PAHO. the current circum-
stances.

2018 Long Underpin any long-term strat-| PAHO will produce a Resource Mobilization Strategy for the period 2020-| We welcome the devel-| Implemented
Form egy approved by Member| 2025 by 31 December 2019 and include the key components of it in the| opment and publication| and Closed.
Report States with supporting finan-| Strategic Plan. of the 2020-2025 Re-
Rec 5 cial detail, such as a compre-| Update March 2020 source Mobilization

hensive Resource Mobilisation| Following the approval the Strategic Plan 20-25 in September 2019, the| Strategy. This recom-

Strategy covering the period of
the Strategic Plan.

Organization embarked on the development of the new Resource Mobili-
zation (RM) Strategy to align with this long-term guiding document. Initial
steps included the assessment of the RM Strategy 16-19 to build upon les-
sons learned and an update of the SWOT analysis to accurately present the
current climate. In parallel, the development of the BWP 20-21 included
RM planning as a new component of institutional efforts, which allowed
all entities to clearly define targets for voluntary contribution mobilization.
A mandatory Product/Service was also incorporated to ensure these ef-
forts continue in subsequent operational planning. The first version of the
RM Strategy will be shared in focus groups, including internal stakeholders
from all functional levels. It is expected that the final version will be com-
pleted by the beginning of second semester 2020.

Update September 2020

Through its established monitoring systems, PBU monitors corporate per-
formance of voluntary contributions. In collaboration with ERP, resource
mobilization information has been included in PAHO's formal organization
wide planning and monitoring process. ERP is in charge of monitoring, con-
solidating and reporting on progress in this regard. Director in May 2020.
Two virtual meetings were held to receive her inputs. On June 9 a Focus
Group session was held with 25 participants representing different levels
and areas of the Organizations: Technical Regional Entities, Enabling Re-
gional Entities and Country Offices, including managers, technical and ad-
ministrative professionals to contribute to the strategy improvement and
gather buy-in from critical stakeholders. After many months of work and
collaboration from various colleagues within and outside ERP, the final ver-
sion of the strategy has been presented to the Deputy Director in August
for her final review and approval. The final step is the EXM review and

mendation is considered
closed.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

approval that is expected to take place in September. In addition, 20-21
RM plans have been monitored using the Organization's PMA process, that
takes place every six months.

Update March 2021

PAHQ's Resource Mobilization Strategy 2020-2025 (RMS 20-25) was final-
ized, approved by EXM and launched in December 2020 (document at-
tached in English and Spanish). This coupled with a communications cam-
paign in support for continued rollout in 2021. An Action Plan composed
on three phases has been established in the RMS 20-25 to guide imple-
mentation, along with measurable indicators which are aligned with the
principles of results-based management. The Resource Mobilization Strat-
egy 2020-2025 focuses on approaches that will prepare the Organization
as a whole to be well-equipped and well-positioned to raise critical re-
sources needed to support countries in reducing health inequities and en-
suring universal health for all peoples of the Americas, in alignment with
the Organization’s Strategic Plan 2020-2025 (SP20-25). PAHQ'’s Strategic
Plan 2020-2025 is firmly focused on reducing the growing health inequities
between and within countries and territories of the Americas Region. In
order to fulfill the expected commitments of SP20-25, the Organization’s
budget over the next six years is estimated at is $1.86B. The RMS 20-25
establishes the RM target at $675M for the 2020-2025 period, which is
equivalent to the sum of the estimated WHO VC target and the PAHO VC
target.

No further actions by PAHO.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 6

Develop a comprehensive
long-term capital investment
strategy that is reviewed annu-
ally and linked to detailed pro-
curement plans, and align the
financial reporting policies for
property, plant and equipment
and the use of capital funds to
ensure efficient, consistent
and harmonised reporting on

1) A comprehensive Organization-wide condition assessment survey of
PAHO owned real estate was conducted in 2014. The results were reported
in document CE156/24, Rev 1. Country Offices have been following up this
plan to request the use of funds from the MCIF. Ad-hoc projects (not in-
cluded in this plan) have also been funded as needed. The Condition as-
sessment will be updated during biennium 2020-2021. PBU will assist GSO
in preparing a funding strategy to accompany the investment plan.

2) GSO will require country offices to include capital investment plan in the
procurement plan and the budget.

3) GSO will work with FRM to align financial reporting policies with the
Master Capital Investment Plan.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and the revised
formulation of the Mas-
ter Capital Investment
Fund report to the gov-
erning bodies.

Given the continuing fi-
nancial pressures and
the changing underlying
assumptions on which
the existing real estate

This recom-
mendation
has been su-
perseded
and there-
fore is
closed.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

the use of funds to Member
States.

Update March 2020

In 2019, PAHO prioritized the acquisition of the 2121 Virginia Avenue An-
nex as a means of reducing the Organization's recurrent office rental costs
and accelerate the accumulation of resources in the Master Capital Invest-
ment Fund. The acquisition was completed on 30 December 2019 and
PAHO expects to complete transfer of staff and termination of all office
leases in Washington DC by June 2020. Update of the 2015 Condition As-
sessment is underway.

Update September 2020

GSO will modify the annual report on the Master Capital Investment Fund
for the 2020 SPBA to include an annex reporting the capital projects re-
quired for the newly acquired 2121 VA Avenue building, which were con-
tained in the disclosure documents associated with the purchase of the
building. GSO will also update the 2015 document detailing the capital
projects required for maintenance of the HQ building. With the acquisi-
tion of 2121 VA Avenue, the MCIF will no longer be used to record rental
income and expenses for 2121 VA Avenue, since the purchase eliminated
both the land lease (income) and office space rental (expense).

Update March 2021

AM and GSO prepared a new version of the MCIF Report to the SPBA with
an updated capital budget showing the cost of pending capital projects and
presenting data to clearly show revenue and expenses for each of the sub-
funds of the MCIF.

condition survey was
performed there is scope
for a more comprehen-
sive review of the prop-
erty strategy. We have
therefore reformulated
our recommendation in
this year's report.

See also 2019 Recom-
mendation 6.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 7

Review all its current fund and
reserve balances and consider
the scope for rationalisation
and simplification, reviewing
whether balances continue to
be relevant to the organisa-
tion's financial plans. This
should be in the context of an
overall strategy for the mainte-
nance of reserves and funds,
aligned to the development of

PAHO reviews the balances of these funds in accordance to the Financial
Regulations and Rules, and takes appropriate action as necessary. Regular
review of open funds will be conducted with the close of each biennium,
as per SOP Perform Biennium Closure.

Update March 2020

In accordance with the SOP, PBU advised FRM regarding the closure of five
funds, which have been inactivated in PMIS. See attached memo as back-
ground.

Update September 2020

PAHO reviews the balances of these funds in accordance to the Financial
Regulations and Rules, and takes appropriate action as necessary. Regular
review of open funds are conducted with each biennium closure, as per

We note PAHO's re-
sponse.

We have reformulated
our recommendations
on reserves in this year's
report given the current
circumstances.

Recommen-
dation refor-
mulated in
the current
report.
Closed.
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Previous Summary of recommendation | Administration’s comments on status: March 2021 External Auditor’s view | Status
reference
the longer-term strategic plans| SOP Perform Biennium Closure. For example, five funds were closed in
of PAHO. 2019. See attached memos as background (PBU 19-054 & PBU 19-067).
No further actions by PAHO.
2018 Long In consultation with Member| ASHI was included on the Governing Bodies agenda in 2017 (SPBA11/10,| In our view it is for the| Recommen-
Form States the funding plan being| Rev. 1) and the Member States took note of the plan to fund the liabilities| PAHO governing bodies| dation is su-
Report adopted by management| and decided to consider this matter in future years under the agendaitem| to determine and ap-| persededin
Rec 8 should be approved by the| for the annual Financial Report of the Director. AM and FRM will review| prove the appropriate| the current
Governing Body, to formalise| with LEG how to present the ASHI funding plan developed by the Global| funding strategy for PA-| report.
the funding approach for Staff| Oversight Committee. HO's after-service health| Closed.
Health Insurance benefits. Update March 2020 insurance liabilities.
FRM has included in the Notes to the Financial Report of the Director for| We have superseded this
2019 a reference to the funding plan approved by the GOC. PAHO Member| recommendation in
States review the Report during the Governing Body cycle and officially[ 2020.
approve it during the Directing Council.
Update September 2020
The 14th GOC meeting in Geneva 12-13 November 2019 decided to main-
tain the target of 100% funding of the ASHI IPSAS liability, but to also define
a second liability measure based on the liability associated with paying
benefits to all currently eligible staff as of the end of each financial Period.
Annual premium increases of 2% per Annum. Will continue until the latter
standard is met.
No further actions by PAHO.
2018 Long Review the basis on which it| PAHO will continue exploring the capabilities on the use of PMIS to im-| We note management's| Implemented
Form monitors its expenditures| prove the cycle of Budget monitoring, assessment and reporting. The Or-| response and the devel-| and closed.
Report against its available budget| ganization has clear procedures and tools developed to monitor, assesand| opments outlined in
Rec 10 and develop an improved basis| report both, off-line and within PMIS by cost centers. With the upcoming| their actions. We con-
to monitor funds against a| operational planning for 2020-2021, PBU will take advantage to automate| tinue to consider that
meaningful measure of ex-| Budget reports according to the user’s needs. The new programmatic| there is scope for closer
pected use of resources at cost| structure for the SP20-25 will facilitate a more efficient budgetary moni-| local monitoring of ex-
centre level. This should draw| toring at cost center level in PMIS. penditure against
upon the PMIS functionality as| Update March 2020 budget and plan to re-
far as possible and support a| No further comments. visit this area more sub-
process than can enforce real-| Update September 2020 stantively as part of our
time budget accountabilities| As part of its routine work, PBU is continuously seeking for improvements| review of budget and
on cost-centre managers. in reporting for entities. In the first semester of 2020, PBU has released: a)| field offices in 2021.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

PAHO EXM Dashboard, that summarizes monthly corporate budgetary and
financial information in a graphic manner; b) PAHO entity dashboard, that
provides monthly detailed graphic and tabular information by entity on an
monthly basis; c) PAHO award management database, updated daily on
the status of awards within the organization; d) PAHO WHO crosswalk, that
provides a tool where entities can easily identify the linkage between
PAHO and WHO Program Budgets for correct fund allocation; e) PAHO PB
portal, that is being currently updated with the new Programmatic results
chain and will be openly available online on a quarterly basis. As back-
ground, PBU has improved many issues identified in previous years that
prevented potential automatization of reporting; this includes inserting
and improving system validation controls to prevent user mistakes, and
considering lessons learned for improved operational planning. PBU is also
intensely working with ITS to improve some reports that will be instrumen-
tal to provide a higher level of granularity of information, and will eventu-
ally contribute to automatization. The reports created offline have been
developed with full automatization in mind, and they constitute a useful
model to convert to real-time PMIS or Power Bl platforms in due time.

No further actions by PAHO.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 12

Obtain and review independ-
ent assurance reports from the
third-party provider and un-
dertake a risk analysis to con-
sider ways in which it will over-
see the validation of its admin-
istrator's claims.

The Republic of the Philippines, Commission on Audit, has performed the
external audit of the Staff Health Insurance Fund sampling claims from the
Third Party Administrators. In addition, PAHO and WHO will develop con-
trols to address issues identified in the audit report.

Update March 2020

In March a PAHO / WHO team visited AETNA and reviewed the claim pro-
cesses and the report and monitoring issues. See attached report.
Update September 2020

SHI governance will discuss next steps on an external review of the third
party administrator in the US. Currently, there are not sufficient funds to
support a review by an external expert at PAHO. We are reviewing samples
of 2020 US claims. PAHO has requested SOC reports from third party ad-
ministrators.

Update March 2021

SOC reports have been received and reviewed.

No further actions by PAHO.

Our recommendation re-
lated solely to the inde-
pendent assurance re-
ports from the third-
party provider. As indi-
cated in the March 2021
status update, PAHO has
reviewed the Service Or-
ganization Control (SOC)
reports for the period
April 2019 to March
2020 and therefore this
recommendation can be
considered closed.

Implemented
and Closed.
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Previous
reference

Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

We would urge PAHO to
review the SOC reports
on an annual basis.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 13

Consider undertaking an open-
book audit of the accuracy of
reported costs and to confirm
they have complied with their
contractual obligations. Such
inspection rights should be ex-
ercised regularly in future.

PAHO will coordinate with Aetna to exercise periodically the audit rights
specified in the contract to confirm the accuracy of records.

Update March 2020

In March a PAHO team visited AETNA and reviewed the claim process and
the report and monitoring issues. See attached report.

Update September 2020

PAHO has regular meetings with the third party provider to review the sta-
tus of activity and compliance with SHI rules and contracts. OIA will con-
sider the possibility of a SHI audit in 2021.

No further actions by PAHO.

PAHO has completed a
review of claims for the
period January - August
2020 with limited obser-
vations and note that
OIA are considering this
area for future internal
audit activity. We there-
fore consider this recom-
mendation completed.
We would urge PAHO to
exercise regularly its in-
spection rights in this
area.

Implemented
and Closed.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 14

Review its current procedures
and processes against the ben-
efits of the services and capac-
ity that can be offered exter-
nally and consider the relative
cost differences.

PAHO will contract an external consultant to review the costs and benefits
of the third party administrator contract/s and continue the ongoing con-
sultations with WHO/SHI on the next TPA contract/s.

Update March 2020

Discussion of this topic is expected during the GOC cycle in 2021.

Update September 2020

The SHI Global Oversight Committee (GOC) has included in its roadmap for
2021 consideration of an RFP for third party administration of health
claims in the non-USA countries of the PAHO region. These services are
offered by the selected vendor for the USA TPA (Cigna), and PAHO will re-
quest a proposal from Cigna for non-USA TPA services.

Update March 2021

A proposal for non-USA TPA services has been received and is under re-
view.

We note the action taken
and that a proposal has
been received for the
third-party administra-
tion of non-USA claims.
We therefore consider
that the substance of the
recommendation has
been implemented.

Implemented
and Closed.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 15

Review the effectiveness of
risk management procedures
at the cost centre level; de-
velop an action plan to embed

PAHO ERM Adviser reviews the risk management procedures in the 2nd
year of each biennium with a view to developing an action plan for the
next biennium. During the 2019 review additional enhancements will be
reviewed to further embed risk awareness at all levels of management and

We note PAHO's re-
sponses on risk manage-
ment.

This recom-
mendation
has been su-
perseded
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Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

a culture of risk awareness
throughout the Organization
and promote the use of risk
registers at cost centre level to
inform decision making and
monitoring of risk mitigation.

an updated risk register procedure will be released in the 4th quarter of
2019.

Update March 2020

RM procedures were reviewed and enhanced for the 2020-2021 Risk Reg-
ister and released together with the launch of a new training process for
cost center managers and Risk Focal Points.

Update September 2020

No further actions by PAHO.

PAHO can make better
operational use of its ex-
isting risk management
systems at a local level,
while identifying those
key risks for escalation to
headquarters.  In this
year's reports we have
reformulated our recom-
mendation in this area.

and
therefore is
closed.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 16

Require cost centres to gener-
ate a full and complete list of
risks, emphasising the need to
capture all relevant risks from
the lower levels within cost
centres. Those of greatest sig-
nificance should be escalated
to the corporate risk register,
to keep the number of esca-
lated risks to a manageable
level.

Based on prior recommendations of PAHO's Audit Committee, ERM guid-
ance to cost centers identifies commonly cited risks from prior cycles and
requests that cost centers list the five or so most significant risks that are
specific to the cost center for management attention. During the 2019
review of the risk management program, this guidance will be reviewed in
the context of the risk approach embedded in the planning and program
monitoring process.

Update March 2020

Management does not contemplate requiring an exhaustive list of all risks
at the cost center level, due to the diminishing marginal value added from
listing risks beyond the top five and the common shared risks of all cost
centers. Most significant risks from cost centers are already escalated to
the corporate risk register.

Update September 2020

No further actions by PAHO.

We note PAHO's re-
sponses on risk manage-
ment.

PAHO can make better
operational use of its ex-
isting risk management
systems at a local level,
while identifying those
key risks for escalation to
headquarters. In this
year's reports we have
reformulated our recom-
mendation in this area.

This recom-
mendation
has been su-
perseded
and
therefore is
closed.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 17

Build a more systematic ap-
proach to risk management
into its project approval and
monitoring processes, so it be-
comes an integral part of pro-
ject due diligence. These risks
assessment should be scalable
to reflect the size and scope of
a project and draw upon good

As a part of PAHO's Project Management Framework the Organization ad-
dresses risk management across projects' phases. In this regard, the Or-
ganization provided guidance for risk identification and assessment during
the project design phase, included risk assessment within project review
checklist, and provided guidance regarding risk mitigation during the im-
plementation phase. With this in mind, the Organization considers that risk
management is already addressed in a systematic approach. To reinforce
these actions, ERP will:

a) continue to include risk management within project development/pro-
ject management capacity development;

We note PAHO's re-
sponses to our recom-
mendation on project
risk management.

We also note the associ-
ated work that the Sec-
retariat has been doing
in response to the Exec-
utive Committee's chal-
lenge on the

In progress
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Previous Summary of recommendation | Administration’s comments on status: March 2021 External Auditor’s view | Status
reference
practice examples within| b) continue to include risk assessment in the project review process; and Organization’s manage-
PAHO. c) develop criteria for determining those voluntary contribution proposals| ment of projects funded
that should undergo additional risk assessment. This criteria will include| by voluntary contribu-
scale and scope of the proposals. tions.
Update March 2020 In light of the conse-
PAHO has in place a corporate Project Management Framework (PMF) and| quential ongoing
complementary SOP for voluntary contributions that integrate the disci-| changes to PAHO's pro-
pline of risk management across the project life cycle (identification, as-| ject risk management
sessment, monitoring and mitigation). The inclusion of risks in project ap-| procedures and that new
provals is further reinforced through a corporate project review process,| procedures are beingim-
guided by a review checklist, to verify that risks were identified and incor-| plemented during 2021
porated into the project design and results framework to be adequately| we consider this recom-
addressed, particularly for complex projects (i.e. SMART Hospitals, EU| mendation remains
funded) (https://intra.paho.org/departments-offices/dd/erp/Pages/proj-| open. We will review
sup.aspx). The integration of risks into corporate project management ap-| progress during next
proaches and processes has been completed in close collaboration with| year's audit.
the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Program, with additional guidance
provided on the ERM intranet site (https://paho.share-
point.com/:p:/r/Tools/RM/_lay-
outs/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B404EFFB9-E2C3-4564-BBDS8-
9E8F616FB7AD%7D&file=Gestion%20de%20Proyectos.%20Presentac-
ion.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true).
2018 Long Operationalise its anti-fraud| The anti-fraud policy was reviewed and discussed at the Audit Committee| In our 2019 report we| Notimple-
Form policy as a matter of priority| meeting held in April 2019. The Committee endorsed the policy and of-| were critical that PAHO| mented.
Report and use the opportunity of the| fered a few comments and suggestions for the Bureau's consideration.| had made little progress
Rec 18 launch to raise awareness of| These comments were taken into account and, following the final internal| on improving counter-
the policy, responsibility of| review process, the policy will be issued in June 2019. The implementation| fraud measures. There
staff and to cite examples of| of this policy will be accompanied by an awareness campaign and focused| has been no further de-
zero tolerance of fraudulent| training activities. The policy is currently pending clearance by the E-Man-| velopments here.
behaviour. From this any iden-| ual Standing Committee.
tifying training needs should| Update March 2020
be considered. The new anti-fraud and corruption policy has yet to be issued and is still
pending approval by the E-Manual review committee. We expect that the
policy can be approved before the next meeting of the Audit Committee.
Update September 2020
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reference

The anti-fraud and corruption policy has yet to be issued. LEG had kept the
issuance of the policy in abeyance pending the approval of the terms of
reference for the Investigations Office. These terms of reference have just
been finalized and LEG will now take action to review the anti-fraud policy
to make sure that it is consistent with INV’s terms of reference. As such, it
appears that the policy will be issued in the E-Manual in the near future,
hopefully by next month. The Ethics and Ombudsman’s Offices have al-
ready developed a specialized training program on sexual harassment in
the workplace. This face-to-face training has already been provided to sev-
eral entities in HQ, and will be mandatory for all personnel. ETH will also
work with senior management to ensure that there is a consistent mes-
sage at all levels across the Organization that there is no tolerance for sex-
ual harassment in the workplace and to inform staff are of the available
resources to assist them. We will have an appropriate strategy in place by
the end of the year.

Update March 2021

The anti-fraud and corruption policy has still not been issued and remains
pending in the Legal Office.

2018 Long Perform a systematic analysis| AM as chair of the ERMC Standing Committee will request that the ERM| We note the actions| Implemented

Form of its exposure to fraud risks| advisor lead the preparation of a risk profile for exposure to fraud risks. taken. We will consider| and closed.
Report throughout the organisation| Update March 2020 how the Fraud Risk As-
Rec 19 and consider whether current| A draft policy to combat fraud and misconduct has been completed, in-| sessment Map is being
control sufficiently mitigate| cluding a listing of the most significant fraud risks facing PAHO. The ETH| used and maintained as
these risks. office is responsible for rolling out an awareness program to mitigate these| part of our future pro-
risks. gramme of work.
Update September 2020

AM/ERM has prepared a draft Fraud Risk Assessment and circulated it in
mid-October for validation to Business Owners responsible for managing
the relevant internal controls. AM expects the Assessment to be com-
pleted, including listing of existing mitigating controls, any residual risks,
and any needed actions to mitigate those residual risks.

Update March 2021

AM completed the Fraud Risk Assessment Map through a process of vali-
dation with all Business Owners. The Assessment will be presented peri-
odically to the ERMCSC for review.
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Summary of recommendation

Administration’s comments on status: March 2021

External Auditor’s view

Status

No further actions by PAHO.

2018 Long
Form
Report
Rec 22

Consider developing an over-
arching assurance map and a
formal process for the assur-
ance and compliance providers
to share Plans, findings and
risks to ensure assurance is co-
ordinated, themes are identi-
fied, and that intelligence in-
forms future more integrated
work plans.

The Compliance and Risk Management teams will continue development
of the compliance program toward a comprehensive assurance map.
Update March 2020

Preparation of assurance map remains in progress.

Update September 2020

AM will convene a workshop of assurance providers to review the assur-
ance processes and develop a draft mapping document linked to PMIS
business processes and compliance reports.

Update March 2021

An Assurance Map was completed through consultation with all Business
Owners and will be periodically reviewed by the ERMCSC.

No further actions by PAHO.

We note the actions
taken. We will consider
how the Assurance Map
is being used by the vari-
ous stakeholders as part
of our future programme
of work.

Implemented
and closed.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 1

Ensure that decisions on im-
pairment of receivable assets
for both Assessed and other
receivables are considered
against the objective criteria
and accounting judgements
should not be subject to the
decision or review processes of
Member States

Impairment of receivables other than assessed contributions have been
implemented by PAHO and reflected in 2019 Financial Statements.
Amendments to PAHO's Financial Regulations were approved in Septem-
ber 2020 by the Directing Council.

No further actions by PAHO.

Following the revisions
to the Financial Regula-
tions PAHO has devel-
oped and implemented
appropriate accounting
policies for the impair-
ment of receivables.

Implemented
and closed.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 2

Review the current composi-
tion of the Director's Report to
ensure that it presents a fair,
balanced and rounded view of
the performance of the organi-
sation, its financial health and
of the key trends and out-
comes arising from the use of
resources.

The Department of Program and Budget (PBU) leads the Organization’s
strategic and operational planning, as well as performance monitoring and
assessment, a scope that is much broader than financial or budgetary
management.

The PAHO Program Budget is the official document that sets out the cor-
porate results and targets for the Organization agreed by Member States
for a period of two years. It presents the budget that PASB will require in
order to support Member States in achieving the maximum impact in
health. It follows the programmatic framework agreed upon in the PAHO
Strategic Plan. The PAHO budget, whether assigned to the whole Organi-
zation or to programmatic or organizational elements, is unfunded fiscal
space that requires actual financing. The image of an empty bucket can be
useful in visualizing the concept: the bucket is only filled once actual funds

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and the separa-
tion of the financial re-
porting and the pro-
gramme budget docu-
ments. On this basis we
have closed the recom-
mendation as not imple-
mented.

Our view remains that
there is scope in the Di-
rector's Report to in-
clude a more rounded

Not imple-
mented.
Closed.
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External Auditor’s view

Status

are received and assigned to the budget bucket in order to be committed
(also known as obligated) and expensed. When developing the Program
Budget, PAHO balances between resource mobilization and financial real-
ities with public health priorities, as sometimes these aspects are not
aligned.

The PAHO Program Budget End of Biennium (EoB) Report represents the
main accountability document where PBU coordinates, summarizes and
reports on the programmatic and budgetary performance of the organiza-
tion, thus complementing the financial perspective led by the Finance De-
partment in their Financial Report of the Director. The EoB report is pre-
sented every two years to Governing Bodies, following the mandate of PA-
HO's Program Budget. The End of Biennium Report and the financial Re-
port of the Director are intrinsically different documents that yet comple-
ment each other, to conform the two main accountability instruments to
Member States.

The connecting link between the two reports is the statement V, which
summarizes the data from the Financial Report from the programmatic
perspective. Both FMR and PBU guarantee that the information provided
in both Financial Report and End of Biennium report is accurate and con-
sistent.

By having an entire biennial report dedicated to the performance on the
programmatic and budgetary perspectives and in line with the financial
report, PBU considers this recommendation completed

In regards to the current financial situation, PBU has developed a scenari-
os' model in collaboration with FRM that is updated on a regular basis and
assessed with EXM. Using this model, PBU has reported to Member States
accordingly, and will continue to do so until the financial situation stabilizes
again.

No further actions by PAHO.

view of the performance
of the organisation, fi-
nancial health and the
outcomes from the use
of resources.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 3

Review the financial statement
presentation against the dis-
closure requirements of the re-
porting standards and ensure
that they remain relevant for
users and stakeholders and

Every year the Financial Statements are reviewed against the disclosure's
requirements (IPSAS) and updated accordingly. All the suggestions of the
Audit Committee have been taken into consideration in the following year.
A specific task has been included in the Closure SOP. (See attachment)

No further actions by PAHO.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse, however none
of the points of detail ex-
plained in our 2019 re-
port have been ad-
dressed and we have not

Not imple-
mented.
Open.
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seek the views of the Audit
Committee on the proposed
changes.

seen evidence of the
completion of an IPSAS
disclosure guide.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 4

Develop a methodology to
monitor actual costs, savings
and revenues against the 2121
Virginia Avenue business case
and report as appropriate to
the governing body to demon-
strate the business case aims
have been met.

The PASB will prepare an additional annex for the annual report to the
SPBA on the MCIF comparing the actual HQ office space operating costs
for the prior year with those of 2019, prior to the purchase of 2121 Virginia
Avenue. This will provide an indicator of progress against the business
case, which estimated significant reduction of these operating costs.
Update March 2021

The referenced annex was included in the MCIF report prepared for the
2021 SPBA.

No further actions by PAHO.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and the revised
formulation of the Mas-
ter Capital Investment
Fund report to the gov-
erning bodies.

Implemented
and closed.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 5

Revisit its real estate condition
survey to assess risks and fu-
ture costs and establish a com-
prehensive property strategy
for consideration by the gov-
erning bodies which reflects
lessons learned from the ways
of working adopted following
the pandemic and the impact
this may have on the demand
for office space.

Prepare additional information for MCIF document adding estimated
VA2121 capital repair costs and update of the 2015 condition assessment
using an inflation index (document CE156/24, Rev 1). This recommenda-
tion overlaps recommendation no.6 of 2018.

Update March 2021

AM and GSO prepared a new version of the MCIF Report to the SPBA with
an updated capital budget showing the cost of pending capital projects and
presenting data to clearly show revenue and expenses for each of the sub-
funds of the MCIF.

No further actions by PAHO.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and the revised
formulation of the Mas-
ter Capital Investment
Fund report to the gov-
erning bodies.

Given the continuing fi-
nancial pressures and
the changing underlying
assumptions on which
the existing real estate
condition survey was
performed there is scope
for a more comprehen-
sive review of the prop-
erty strategy. We have
therefore reformulated
our recommendation in
this year's report.

See also 2018 Recom-
mendation 5.

This recom-
mendation
has been su-
perseded
and
therefore is
closed.
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2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 6

Engage professional valuers to
perform a comprehensive IP-
SAS compliant valuation of PA-
HO's land and buildings as at
31 December 2020 to ensure
that the financial statements
continue to report the fair
value of assets held.

GSO and FRM have coordinated the RFP for the comprehensive 2020 land
and building appraisal for all PAHO owned properties in Washington DC
and the Americas region. To be implemented by an independent valuer
compliant with international valuation standards. A vendor was selected.
No further actions by PAHO.

A full professional reval-
uation of PAHO's land
and buildings was com-
pleted at 31 December
2020 and reflected in the
financial statements as
appropriate.

Implemented
and closed.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 7

Establish a roadmap for the de-
velopment of prioritised com-
pliance reporting and provide
managers with the tools to
monitor internal controls and
business processes under their
responsibility.

The Compliance Officer will prepare a multi-year roadmap for compliance
reporting, to be reviewed by the ERMC Standing Committee on a regular
basis, and a PMIS dashboard for cost center managers to monitor compli-
ance with internal controls and business processes.

Update March 2021

The compliance road map will be shared and discussed at the ERMC Stand-
ing Committee, but the timing of the roadmap slipped due to priority being
placed to the assurance map. The road map will be in the agenda in the
Q2 2021 meeting.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and that action is
ongoing against this rec-
ommendation.

We have commented
further on compliance
matters in this year's re-
port.

In progress.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 8

Develop a strategy for moni-
toring and reporting compli-
ance with key internal controls
and business processes to sen-
ior management by cost centre
and budget managers, under-
pinned by a compliance sanc-
tions regime to hold managers
to account.

The ERMC Standing Committee will continue to review the effectiveness
of the monthly compliance system in PMIS and provide a report to EXM.
Update October 2020

AM has been tasked by EXM to prepare a proposal for measures to be
taken by management in cases where managers are found through the
compliance program to be consistently non-compliant with internal con-
trols.

Update March 2021

Discussions about appropriate measures are ongoing, in parallel with the
development of a "one-stop" dashboard for cost center managers to pre-
sent all relevant administrative information including compliance status.
Once the dashboard is ready, AM will submit a recommendation to EXM
on measures to be taken in cases of persistent non-compliance.

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and that action is
ongoing against this rec-
ommendation.

We have commented
further on compliance
matters in this year's re-
port.

In progress.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 9

Identify opportunities to fur-
ther re-align the workforce as
part of changes to business
processes and wider strategic
planning.

PAHQ's Strategic Plan 2020-2025 approved by the Governing Bodies, Pro-
gram Budget and Biennial Work Plans (BWP) are the basis for workforce
planning. Although the HR plans for 20-21 included staffing actions for re-
alignment, some of those actions were put on hold due to the financial
crisis. By mandate of the Director, an Internal Steering Committee (ISC)

We note PAHQO's ongoing
actions and their ex-
pected implementation
date of September 2021.
We will examine the

In progress.
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was established in June 2020 to examine PAHO's existing organizational
functions, structure, and budgets, with a view to adjusting these to accom-
modate the "worstcase" financial scenario. However, in view of the im-
proved cash-flow situation resulting from payments of owed Assessed
Contributions by Member States in July 2020, the ISC, composed of the
Deputy Director (Chair); Assistant Director, Director of Administration;
Head of CSC; Director HRM; Director PBU, and Chief Budget, switched its
focus to more strategic concerns, deliberating to develop a series of rec-
ommendations to prepare the Organization to enter the 22-23 biennium
on solid footing from the technical, administrative and financial perspec-
tives. The recommended actions aim to ensure that PAHO's staffing struc-
ture aligns with the Strategic Plan 20-25 priorities and fits within the cur-
rent and future financial landscape and the post COVID-19 demands for
technical cooperation. Some of the Organizational Development Initiatives
(ODIs) recommended by the ISC were assigned to HRM and will address
recommendation # 9.

Intended Actions:

1) conduct a Skills and Competencies Gap Analysis for the Strategic Plan
20-25 which will be used to develop a corporate learning plan.

2) strengthen the process for bottom-up costing and operational planning
for the next biennium with specific recommendations for cost center man-
agers on staffing structure; and

3) monitor on a quarterly basis the implementation of the HR Plan by Cost
Center to identify adjustments and/or corrective actions if necessary to
ensure alignment with the Strategic Plan.

Update March 2021

1) The bidding process to hire a company to conduct the Skills and Com-
petency Gap Analysis started end of 2020. HRM expects to have the se-
lected the vendor by end of March and begin work on the analysis. Based
on the project plan and timeline approved by the Steering Committee,
HRM is on track. The study is expected to end with recommendations and
a presentation to the Director and EXM members by August 2021. This ac-
tion is also explained under recommendation 12.

2) HR bottom up costing for 2022-2023 is being led by PBU and HRM. PBU
providing the planning and budget strategic direction and HRM providing

action against this rec-
ommendation during
next year's audit.
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the HR data for cost center managers to plan the work plan and expected
HR resources needed. The activity is scheduled to be launched the first
week of March 2021. A Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) Bottom-up
Planning and Costing for 2022-23 has been developed with instructions
and guidance for managers. The SOP describes the high-level process for
the development of the PAHO Program Budget (PB) 2022-23 through bot-
tom-up planning and costing, including costing of the scope of work and
human resources. This process should result in a high-level estimation of
the resources needed by the Pan American Sanitary Bureau (PASB) to de-
liver planned results for the biennium 2022-23. This process involves con-
sultations across all functional levels of the PASB and with national author-
ities to identify country needs and priorities in line with regional and global
mandates and context.

3) This action item has been completed. Following the schedule of the Per-
formance Monitoring and Assessment (PMA), HRM is monitoring the im-
plementation. HRM has developed and launched a dashboard in PMIS -
PAHO HR Plan Implementation PMAs 20-21, which provides each cost cen-
ter manager with a status of the implementation of their respective HR
plan. The dashboard contains 4 tabs or subreports, which shows the staff-
ing structure in each semester and the HR plan 20-21 approved so that
managers can review progress. The Dashboard has been socialized with all
entities and it has been used for PMA-1 (January to June 2021 2020) and
PMA-2 (July to December 2021 2020). All cost center managers and their
respective Administrator have access anytime to the dashboard for their
ongoing monitoring. The corporate performance monitoring and
assesement (PMA) is conducted every six months in the Organization and
this includes the monitoring and workplans and corresponding HR plan. It
is during these corporate established process that entity managers have
the opportunity to report on implementation of the plan and request or
proposed changes.

2019 Long Review the root causes of re-| PAHO uses WHO's recruitment platform -Stellis- not the Workday recruit-| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.

Form cruitment times through anal-| ment module. actions and their ex-
Report ysis of PMIS data to inform fu-| The root causes of recruitment times include: pected implementation
Rec 10 ture recruitment practice. 1) financial situation resulting in moratorium on recruitment processes; date of January 2022.

We will examine the
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2) initiation of recruitment processes without certainty that funds will be
available in a timely manner causing cancellation of advertised position or
a hold on selection or appointment until funding materializes;

3) delayed review of shortlist by Hiring Manager.

Intended Actions

1) initiate recruitment processes only if funding is available and certified
by PBU;

2) establish a concrete timeline for each phase of the recruitment process,
with defined responsibilities assigned to HRM (advertisement of position
and shortlisting of candidate), PBU (certification of funding) and hiring
manager (review of shortlist); and

3) implement the Workday Recruitment Module which will facilitate the
onboarding process of the selected candidates.

Update March 2021

1) This action item has been completed. There is a PMIS business process
for job requisition, which is the action that once approved triggers the is-
suing of a vacancy notice. The job requisition business process includes
approval of the cost center manager, PBU and Director's Office. Once this
is approved, HRM issues the corresponding vacancy notices.

2) This action item is completed and ongoing. HRM has developed a time-
line document describing the selection process and steps to be completed.
The document is shared with hiring managers once a vacancy notice is is-
sued.

3) The Workday recruiting module configuration is scheduled to begin in
May 2021 and to be launched in January 2022.

action against this rec-
ommendation during
next year's audit.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 11

Ensure that recruitment does
not commence unless agreed
cash resources for the post is
secure.

Currently, the recruitment process includes PBU approval of the job requi-
sition (request to advertise), however, PBU certification of funding is only
completed upon finalization of the selection process.

Intended Action:

1) initiate recruitment processes only if there is evidence (or high proba-
bility) that financing for the position is available. Funds must be certified
by PBU prior to issuance of vacancy notice.

Update March 2021

1) There is a business process in PMIS for job requisition which includes
PBU approval. However, with the ongoing financial situation of the

We note PAHO's re-
sponse and consider this
recommendation closed.

Implemented
and closed.
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Organization, there can be changes in funding for positions. As such, even
when a position has potential of funding, if priority or funding levels
change, this can impact the filling of the post.

No further actions by PAHO.

2019 Long Ensure that it invests in devel-| Investment in learning and development of PAHO personnel, including| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.
Form opment of all humanresources| contingent labour, will depend upon the availability of resources and allo-| actions and their ex-
Report across all the staffing modali-| cated budget. The Organization has a biennial Corporate Learning Plan de-| pected implementation
Rec 12 ties. This need should be un-| veloped in consultation with EXM and the PAHO Learning Board. The cor-| date of March 2022. We
derpinned by an updated 'skills| porate learning programs were defined according to the organizational| will examine the action
needs analysis' and a reliable| learning priorities and the financial resources available. against this recommen-
funding stream; and routinely| /Intended Actions: dation during next year's
monitored and evaluated to| 1)continue promoting the use of the existing Learning Platforms, available| audit.
assess take-up and impact. to all personnel, that offer the mandatory courses and extensive learning

material on leadership, managerial and technical topics;

2) carry out a Skills and Competencies Gap Analysis which is one of the
Organizational Development Initiatives approved by Executive Manage-
ment. In order to ensure that this initiative meets its purpose, the scope
of the analysis has been consulted with the Departments under the Office
of the Assistant Director and the PAHO Learning Board; and

3) Develop a corporate learning program that addresses the identified
gaps.

Update March 2021

1) This action item has been completed. Different types of virtual learning
have been put in place and offered to all personnel in an effort to support
their continuous learning and using the current learning platforms. HRM
continues promoting the use of these systems among business owners and
personnel, in order to deliver training, share materials and accrue learning
hours.

2) The bidding process to hire a company to conduct the Skills and Com-
petency Gap Analysis started end of 2020. HRM expects to have the se-
lected the vendor by end of March and begin work on the analysis. Based
on the project plan and timeline approved by the Steering Committee,
HRM is on track. The study is expected to end with recommendations and
a presentation to the Director and EXM members by August 2021.
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3) The development of a corporate learning program will be conducted af-
ter the Skills and Gap Analysis has concluded and recommendations have
been approved by EXM.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 13

Ensure that the delivery and
take up of training is appropri-
ately monitored and that man-
datory training is enforced and
appropriately reflected
through the performance
measurement system.

The Organization will establish an accountability framework to ensure that
good practices in human resources management are followed by all man-
agers and training of personnel is appropriately monitored.

Intended Actions:

1) train Administrators, HR Focal Points, managers and learning business
owners on generating reports available in PMIS;

2) improve monitoring / share reports on completion of training, on a reg-
ular basis;

3) develop and publish PPES compliance dashboard (Workday Talent mod-
ule); and

4) reflect completion status of mandatory training in revised PPES.
Update March 2021

1) This action item is partially completed. HRM offered a series of learning
webinars last year. One of the webinars showed participants how to select
their training preferences, online courses and create their own learning
path. Participants learned how to generate their own learning reports
from the learning platforms.

2) This action is partially completed. Last year, personnel received training
on how to generate their own learning reports from PMIS. This webinar
included a section for supervisors to learn how to generate training reports
for their own teams. These reports facilitate the supervisors' monitoring
and follow up actions to those under their supervision.

3) Updates to HRM intranet site are underway with the intention of pub-
lishing the PPES dashboard with the information on compliance for staff
and managers.

4) HRM is working with WorkDay consultants to enhance the Talent Mod-
ule including updates to the PPES.

We note PAHO's ongoing
actions and their ex-
pected implementation
date of December 2021.
We will examine the ac-
tion against this recom-
mendation during next
year's audit.

In progress.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 14

Undertake regular repeat sur-
veys of staff engagement to
mirror key elements of its de-
livery of the people strategy

The implementation of the staff engagement surveys is currently under
the responsibility of the Advisor on Staff Engagement in the Communica-
tions Department. In the event that this initiative is transferred to HRM,
and subject to the approval of EXM and resource allocation, the surveys of
staff engagement will be carried out every other year.

We note PAHO's in-
tended actions and ex-
pected implementation
date of December 2021.
We will examine the

In progress.
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and to provide a focus to ad-| Update March 2021 action against this rec-
dress areas of staff concern. PAHQ’s experience demonstrates that successful staff engagement actions| ommendation during
involve important functions beyond the implementation of a survey, re-| next year's audit.
quiring cross-functional collaboration. HRM and CMU will jointly prepare
a presentation with recommendations for the consideration of EXM in
2021.
2019 Long | Strengthen the overall perfor-| Permanent support and training is provided to staff and managers on the| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.
Form mance management regime| use of the Performance Review Module of Workday. Periodic reports are| and intended actions
Report for personnel in ways that in-| sent to Cost Center Managers and EXM Directors with information regard-[ and their expected im-
Rec 15 crease its value to individuals| ing the status of the performance assessments of the staff within their en-| plementation date of

and managers, permit accurate
and fair differentiation of per-
formance and potential, and
help to address under-perfor-
mance. Completing an ap-
praisal process should be man-
datory for line managers, com-
pliance should be monitored,
and action taken as necessary.

tities.

Intended Actions:

1) continue monitoring and reporting to Cost Center Managers and EXM
Directors, compliance with performance evaluations by staff members in
their respective entities;

2) differentiate levels of performance by evaluating achievement of objec-
tives, values, core and managerial competencies to inform staff learning
and development plans;

3) assess the feasibility of incorporating the "anytime feedback" into the
performance review process;

4) link the Within Grade Increase to compliance with the performance re-
view process, and

5) engage senior leadership to enforce compliance with performance ap-
praisals.

Update March 2021

1) This action is partially completed: During 2020, four compliance reports
were shared with entity managers in HQ and HR focal points in Country
Offices and Centers for their respective follow up on any pending PPES in-
cluding 2019. Also, during the third quarter of 2020, HRM included in these
reports information about the 2020 Mid-Year Reviews for completion and
follow up.

The first compliance report of this year (2021) will be sent to all entity
managers in HQ and HR focal points in the country offices and centers at
the end of March. This report will include information about the finaliza-
tion

March 2022. We will ex-
amine the action against
this  recommendation
during next year's audit.
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of the 2020 performance evaluation cycle of the staff in each entity and
any pending actions. Some country offices have had changes of
PAHO/WHO representatives and as part of the administrative transfer, a
report on compliance with the performance evaluations of the staff of the
entity is included. In addition, a monthly review in the system of finaliza-
tion of the evaluation is conducted by the HR Specialist in order to expedite
the pending processes.

2) The achievement of objectives, values and managerial competencies
continue to be evaluated during the PPES cycles both in 2019 and 2020.
Individual learning plans are yet to be developed, this action is depending
on the results of the gap analysis.

3) The recommendation of adding the "anytime feedback" as part of the
performance cycle will be considered during the review of the Talent Mod-
ule enhancements.

4) Not yet completed.

5) Not yet completed.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 16

Ensure its response to system
wide issues relating to sexual
harassment form a clear part
of mandatory training and staff
awareness sessions and that
the Organization should en-
sure that a culture of zero tol-
erance is clearly communi-
cated by senior management.

The Ethics and Ombudsman’s Offices have already developed a specialized
training program on sexual harassment in the workplace. This face-to-face
training has already been provided to several entities in HQ, and will be
mandatory for all personnel. ETH will also work with senior management
to ensure that there is a consistent message at all levels across the Organ-
ization that there is no tolerance for sexual harassment in the workplace
and to inform staff are of the available resources to assist them. We will
have an appropriate strategy in place by the end of the year.

Update March 2021

ETH’s focus during the latter part of 2020 and early 2021 was to develop a
policy against the sexual exploration and abuse of people in vulnerable sit-
uations. A policy has been prepared and is also pending review by LEG. In
light of feedback recently received, it is expected that this policy will be
issued shortly.

ETH continues to provide training to prevent sexual harassment in the
workplace and recently held a training session with two departments at
HQ. As part of this training, ETH solicited information from participants, on
an anonymous basis, regarding their perception about sexual harassment
in the workplace and what can be done to address/prevent it. Apart from

We note PAHO's ongoing
and intended actions
and expectation that the
policy against the sexual
exploration and abuse of
people in vulnerable sit-
uations will be issued
shortly.

We will examine the im-
plementation of the pol-
icy during next year's au-
dit.

In progress.
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raising awareness during these training sessions, ETH will use the feedback

it receives to develop an appropriate strategy on the prevention of sexual

harassment in the Organization.
2019 Long Formulate a structured, simple| Currently the HR planning process provides an opportunity to initiate re-| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.
Form and transparent approach to| cruitment in advance to enable succession planning. The HR planning ex-| and intended actions
Report succession planning across the| ercise requires the Cost Center Managers to analyze the upcoming retire-| and their expected im-
Rec 17 organization, recognising the| ments, scheduled rotation for the internationally recruited staff in country| plementation date of

current age profile of profes-
sional staff and specific needs
of the Organization. This is im-
portant and relevant across all
the different staffing modali-
ties.

offices and expiration of staff contracts. The information provided by the
Headcount Planning module of Workday allows entities to anticipate re-
cruitment or reassignment actions to ensure business continuity and
knowledge transfer.

Intended actions:

1) carry out training sessions for Cost Center Managers to

a) brief them on the new HR Planning reports available, and

b) emphazise the relevance of a systematic and periodic monitoring of the
implementation of HR plans to ensure timely staffing actions that are
aligned with the programmatic priorities of the Organization;

2) develop a Career Development / Reskilling Framework; and

3) utilize Skills and Competencies Gap Analysis to identify the interventions
required to build the right experience and skills that enable internal staff
to assume roles as they become vacant.

Update March 2021

1a) The corporate HR planning for 2022-2023 will start in October 2021 at
which time, HRM will include in the corporate planning SOP guidance to
managers on planning for positions that will become vacant due to retire-
ment during the biennium and advise managers to use those opportunities
to redefine and update profiles require for the new areas of work aligned
to the Organization's Strategic Plan.

1b) This action item has been completed. The report created by HRM en-
ables managers to monitor the implementation of the HR Plans and take
corrective measures to ensure timely staffing actions.

2) and 3) HRM will be able to work on a reskilling framework, as well as an
skills inventory once the Skills and Competency Gap Analysis has been fi-
nalized, recommendations have been presented to the Director of PAHO
and EXM members for their consideration and approval.

March 2022. We will ex-
amine the action against
this  recommendation
during next year's audit.
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2019 Long | Consider more granular perfor-| Entities' performance is regularly monitored in PMA every six months, i.e.| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.
Form mance measures in its output| outputindicators (products and services) are linked to strategic objectives.| and intended actions
Report indicators which provide more| Intended Actions: and their expected im-
Rec 18 measurable indicators linked| 1) Update the People Strategy in consultation with the Advisory Commit-| plementation date of
to the key organisation and| tee for the Implementation of the People Strategy (ACIPS) established by | July 2021. We will exam-
people strategy objectives. the Director in 2019; ine the action against
2) Develop an implementation Roadmap for the period 2021-2023; this  recommendation
3) Develop a comprehensive budget for the allocation of resources to fund| during next year's audit.
the initiatives of the Roadmap; and
4) implement managerial accountability scorecards in PMIS, to measure
performance at the managerial and department level.
Update March 2021
1) This action item has been partially completed. HRM discussed a new
strategy with ACIPS members in August 2020. People Strategy 2.0 was fur-
ther refined with AM and submitted to Director in March 2021 for ap-
proval.
2) This action item has been partially completed. Roadmap initially devel-
oped for 2021 - 2023, and later expanded to 2021 - 2025 to align to Stra-
tegic Plan as per Director's request. Implementation plan submitted to Di-
rector in March 2021 for approval.
3) This action item has been partially completed. A comprehensive budget
associated with each People Strategy 2.0 initiative was developed and sub-
mitted to Director in March 2021 for approval.
4) The implementation of managerial accountability dashboards in PMIS
remains pending.
2019 Long Strengthen the governance| HR managementinformation iscurrently availablein PMIS dashboardsand| We note the actions| In progress.
Form around HR by: reports: taken in response to the
Report edevise more comprehensive| 1)PAHO Staff Demographic Dashboard recommendation. In our
Rec 19 and clear reporting to Member| a) PAHO staff by position type, b) PAHO staff by location, c) PAHO staff by| view, there remains a
States on HR and the HRM| cost center and position type, d) PAHO staff by nationality, e) PAHO staff| need to develop a wider
function, providing a broader| by age group, f) PAHO staff average age range reporting on HR
range of financial, perfor-| 2) PAHO HRM Trends in Recruitment and Selection Dashboard performance as set out
mance and data and using| a) Position by Category, b) Positions by Grade, c) Nationality, d) Positions| in our 2019 report.
benchmarking techniques; and| by Cost Center, e) Candidate Source, f) Gender Distribution
Intended Actions:
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edevelop a systematic suite of| 1) propose changing the reporting period of staff statistics as of 15 Decem-
HR management information| ber of each year, to allow for the validation of data and wider range of
and cost data for reporting to| information;
all Executive Management| 2) establish targets to enable benchmarking of HR data of interest and
meetings using PMIS function-| comparison with WHO and other UN Organizations; and
ality. 3) partner with PBU to provide trend analysis on staffing costs.
Update March 2021
1) This action item has been completed. Decision memo was sent to the
Director of Administration providing rationale and recommendation.
HRM'’s request was approved. The annual report on human resources
management reflects staff statistics as of 15 December.
2) Not yet completed.
3) HRM discussed staffing costs with PBU as related to ODI on voluntary
separation packages. HRM data specialist when hired, will work with PBU
to ascertain if a cost analysis can be included in a corporate reporting
mechanism and reports to Governing Bodies.
2019 Long Consider whether optimum| HRM contributes to organizational re-design by supporting reprofiling ex-| We note the actions| In progress.
Form use is being made of the HR| ercises and actively participating in major corporate planning activities,| taken in response to the
Report function to contribute system-| such as BWP and HR planning, PMAs, strategic meetings with EXM for HR,[ recommendation. This
Rec 20 atically to change manage-| and funding discussions. HR consultation mechanisms are established to| past year has been diffi-

ment and organizational re-de-
sign in PAHO.

ensure that HR policies and organizational development proposals are
aligned with the PAHO People Strategy, the Staff Rules and Regulations,
and promote good human resources management practices.

Intended Actions:

1) Regularly present EXM with business cases for change that promote op-
timization, innovation and agility;

2) Provide guidance and promote partnership with managers to ensure
that organizational re-design decisions are appropriate and do not create
legal liabilities for the Organization;

3) Maintain regular communication and coordination with the PAHO/WHO
Staff Association.

Update March 2021

1) This action item has been completed and is ongoing. HRM has presented
various policy amendments to advisory committees and EXM in support of

cult and PAHO need to
ensure that the new HR
strategy reflects a post-
Covid operating model
for PAHO.
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change management initiatives, e.g. enhancements to maternity leave,
telework policy, review of internships and volunteers.

2) This action item has been partially completed and is ongoing. HRM pro-
vides guidance to all cost center managers during the HR Planning process
and prior to managers advertising vacant positions. HRM advises manag-
ers on financial liabilities when new positions are created.

3) This action item has been completed and is ongoing. HRM regularly con-
sults with the Staff Association on any item related to conditions of service,
e.g. telework outside the duty station, proposed amendments to Staff
Rules and policy concerns.

2019 Long
Form
Report
Rec 21

Review HRM's resourcing and
skills capacity to fully utilise
PMIS to ensure greater focus
online management compli-
ance with HR rules and investi-
gate a suite of reports which
could be used to hold manag-
ers to account for their HR ac-
tivity. Data analytics should
also be utilised to identify root
causes of regular non-compli-
ance to inform policy and con-
trols.

Policy compliance: Workday is configured to reflect Staff Rules and HR pol-
icies, e.g. updated amounts of allowances, accrual and utilization of annual
leave. The annual verification, which is one of the most relevant process
to ensure proper administration of the staff compensation package, has
been enhanced achieving a compliance of 100%.

Intended Actions:

1) implement managerial accountability scorecards;

2) further enhance control and monitoring of contingent workers contract
duration, extension and insurance enrollment;

3) develop HR metrics and a suite of executive reports/dashboards to en-
able effective management of entity staffing structure, promote account-
ability and compliance.

Update March 2021

1) The implementation of managerial accountability dashboards in PMIS
remains pending.

2) This action item has been completed and is ongoing. A potential gap in
insurance coverage for interns, volunteers, and temporary advisors was
eliminated by registering their insurance directly in the provider’s online
portal at the time of hiring rather than sending a monthly list to WHO for
processing.

3) Dashboards are available in PMIS for manager review of entity metrics.
Updates to HRM intranet site are underway with the intention of facilitat-
ing access to available dashboards. HRM is working with the Compliance
Advisor in AM to advance this project.

We note PAHO's ongo-
ing and intended actions
and their expected im-
plementation date of
December 2021. We will
examine the action
against this recommen-
dation during next year's
audit.

In progress.
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2019 Long Undertake a wider review of| Due to the anticipated resource-constrained environment in the coming| We note PAHO's ongo-| In progress.
Form the use of non-staff contracts| years, maintaining or increasing the number of staff positions will be diffi-| ing and intended actions

Report to consider the scope for re-| cult and as a result the Organization may continue relying on a combina-| and their expected im-

Rec 22 viewing the cost-effectiveness| tion of staff and non-staff contracts. In order to develop a revised Consult-| plementation date of

of the contracting mechanism
and to more carefully consider
the need for renewal of consul-
tancy contracts, considering
the balance between longer-
term business need and
shorter-term demands.

ant Policy that addresses the Organization's needs, HRM consulted all cost
center managers, the Joint Advisory Committee (JAC) and the Advisory
Committee for the Implementation of the People Strategy (ACIPS). Addi-
tionally, a benchmarking analysis with other UN Organizations was carried
out.

Intended Actions:

1) Implement the revised Consultant Policy which regulates the use of that
contractual mechanism.

2) Re-assess the use of consultants vis a vis the programmatic implemen-
tation and the financial situation of the Organization; and

3) Review contractual arrangements, including Project-based staffing mo-
dalities.

Update March 2021

1. The revised consultant policy is still under consideration.

2. This action item has been partially completed. HRM has reported ra-
tionale for continued use of consultants (Ref report to Member States).
The number of consultants is increasing in response to the COVID-19
emergency and following improved financial situation of the organization
(the cost-containment measures have been slightly relaxed).

3. This action item has been partially completed. HRM has reviewed the
use of UN Volunteers and Junior Professional Officers sponsored by Mem-
ber States, and greater use of specialists seconded from collaborating cen-
ters. An increase in the use of consultant contract mechanism is expected
as the easiest way to get the much needed technical support compared to
the cost of hiring fixed term and short term positions. The contracts of
consultants financed with "flexible" funds can be only until 31 Dec 2021 at
the latest.

December 2021. We will
examine the action
against this recommen-
dation during next year's
audit.
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icies which emerge following
the April 2020 IES review.
These should include more fre-
quent reporting on key metrics
and compliance aspects to sen-
ior management.

required to upload in Workday. HRM created a report, “Find out if the per-
son | want to hire already exists in Workday” to avoid duplicating profiles
when hiring. Annex A of the SOP was updated to include enrollment in the
pandemic insurance of those consultants working on the response to a
WHO declared pandemic.

Intended actions:

1) Revise the Monthly Compliance Report submitted by Cost Center Man-
agers to include confirmation of compliance with any new policy and pro-
cedure regarding contingent workers;

2) Streamline the competitive selection process for the hiring of consult-
ants to ensure that candidates considered meet the minimum require-
ments indicated in advertisement;

3) Assess the possibility to create "condition rules" in Workday for the hir-
ing (create position) and termination process for consultants.

Update March 2021

1) The monthly Compliance Report will be revised upon issuance of a re-
vised consultant policy.

2) The implementation of the Recuitment module will help with the
streamlining of the consultant selection process. Implementation is pro-
jected to start in May 2021 and will last till the end of December 2021.

3) This action item has been partially completed. Some requests have been
submitted for IT assistance to implement some changes in the business
process related to consultants.

examine the action
against this recommen-
dation during next year's
audit.

Previous Summary of recommendation | Administration’s comments on status: March 2021 External Auditor’s view | Status
reference
2019 Long | Establish clear mechanisms to| HRM continues to create preventive and validation measures to facilitate| We note PAHO's ongoing| In progress.
Form Re- centrally monitor and review| policy compliance for the hiring of contingent workers. Comprehensive| and intended actions
port the use of contracting arrange-| Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) are available and provide instruc-| and their expected im-
Rec 23 ments to ensure compliance of | tions to the HR Partners within hiring entities and personnel in general.| plementation date of

cost centres with any new pol-| Annex B of the SOP also contains a list of all documents HR Partners are| January 2022. We will
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